## ผลของสารสกัดจากบัวบกต่อการลดไขมันและน้ำตาลในเลือด ของหนูขาวเพศผู้พันธุ์วิสตาร์



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาชีววิทยาสิ่งแวดล้อม มหาวิทยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรนารี ปีการศึกษา 2555

## HYPOLIPIDEMIC AND HYPOGLYCEMIC EFFECTS OF CENTELLA ASIATICA EXTRACT IN MALE WISTAR

#### RATS

Nattapon Supkamonseni



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

**Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Environmental Biology** 

**Suranaree University of Technology** 

Academic Year 2012

## HYPOLIPIDEMIC AND HYPOGLYCEMIC EFFECTS OF CENTELLA ASIATICA EXTRACT IN MALE WISTAR RATS

Suranaree University of Technology has approved this thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Thesis Examining Committee

(Dr. Pongrit Krubprachaya)

Chairperson

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Rungrudee Srisawat)

Member (Thesis Advisor)

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Duangdeun Meksuriyen)

Member

้ห<sub>าวอักยาลัยเท</sub>

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Benjamart Chitsomboon)

Member

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Griangsak Eumkeb)

Member

(Prof. Dr. Sukit Limpijumnong)

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Prapun Manyum)

Vice Rector for Academic Affairs

Dean of Institute of Science

ณัฏฐพล ศุภกมลเสนีย์ : ผลของสารสกัดจากบัวบกต่อการลดไขมันและน้ำตาลในเลือดของ หนูขาวเพศผู้พันธุ์วิสตาร์ (HYPOLIPIDEMIC AND HYPOGLYCEMIC EFFECTS OF *CENTELLA ASIATICA* EXTRACT IN MALE WISTAR RATS). อาจารย์ที่ปรึกษา : ผู้ช่วยศาสตราจารย์ คร.รุ่งฤดี ศรีสวัสดิ์, 202 หน้า.

การทคลองในครั้งนี้มีจุดประสงค์เพื่อศึกษาผลของสารสกัดบัวบกและรูตินที่มีต่อการลด ใขมันและการลดน้ำตาลในเลือด ภายในหลอดทคลอง และในสัตว์ทคลอง ซึ่งประกอบด้วย 4 การ ทคลอง ดังนี้

ผลของสารสกัดบัวบกจากเอทานอลและรูตินที่มีต่อการทำงานของเอนไซม์ไลเปสจากตับ อ่อนในหลอดทดลอง พบว่าบัวบกที่สกัดด้วยร้อยละ 80 ของเอทานอล ให้ผลผลิตเท่ากับร้อยละ 11.81 มีสารประกอบฟีนอลิกทั้งหมดเท่ากับ 97.75 ± 0.01 มิลลิกรัมของกรดแกลิกต่อกรัมของสาร สกัดแห้งและมีปริมาณรูตินทั้งหมดเท่ากับ 1.27 ± 5.5 กรัมต่อกิโลกรัมของบัวบกแห้ง การศึกษาใน หลอดทดลองพบว่าความเข้มข้นยาออริสแตท (9.52 มิลลิกรัมต่อมิลลิลิตร) มีเปอร์เซ็นต์การยับยั้ง เอนไซม์ไลเปสจากตับอ่อนร้อยละ 75.47 สารสกัดบัวบกและรูตินมีก่าความเข้มข้นที่สามารถยับยั้ง การทำงานของเอนไซม์ไลเปสร้อยละ 50 (IC<sub>50</sub>) เท่ากับ 25.03 ± 0.05 และ 48.05 ± 0.08 มิลลิกรัมต่อ มิลลิลิตรตามลำดับ

ผลของสารสกัดบัวบกจากเอทานอลและรูตินที่มีต่อการทำงานของเอนไซม์อัลฟาอะไมเลส และเอนไซม์อัลฟากลูโคซิเคสในหลอคทคลอง พบว่าสารสกัดบัวบก รูตินและยาอะคาโบส ซึ่งเป็น ยาลคระดับน้ำตาลในเลือค ยาอะคาโบส (0.77 มิลลิกรัมต่อมิลลิลิตร) ยับยั้งเอนไซม์อัลฟาอะไมเลส ร้อยละ 96.76 และยาอะคาโบส (0.30 มิลลิกรัมต่อมิลลิลิตร) ยับยั้งเอนไซม์อัลฟากลูโคซิเคสร้อยละ 82.59 สารสกัดบัวบกและรูตินมีค่าความเข้มข้นที่สามารถยับยั้งการทำงานของเอนไซม์อัลฟาอะ ใมเลสร้อยละ 50 (IC<sub>so</sub>) เท่ากับ 2.14 ± 0.04 และ 1.53 ± 0.05 มิลลิกรัมต่อมิลลิลิตรตามลำคับ และ สารสกัดบัวบกและรูตินมีค่าความเข้มข้นที่สามารถยับยั้งการทำงานของเอนไซม์อัลฟากลูโคซิเคส ร้อยละ 50 (IC<sub>so</sub>) เท่ากับ 2.009 และ 0.081 ± 0.004 มิลลิกรัมต่อมิลลิลิตรตามลำคับ

ผลของสารสกัดบัวบกจากเอทานอลและรูตินที่มีต่อก่าทางชีวเกมีต่างๆ ของพลาสมาในหนู ขาวที่ถูกชักนำให้เกิดภาวะเลือดมีสาร ใขมันมากด้วย lipid emulsion พบว่าสารสกัดบัวบก (1000 และ 2000 มิลลิกรัมต่อ 4 มิลลิลิตรต่อกิโลกรัม) รูติน (1000 มิลลิกรัมต่อ 4 มิลลิลิตรต่อ กิโลกรัม) และยาออริสแตท (45 มิลลิกรัมต่อ 4 มิลลิลิตรต่อกิโลกรัม) ที่ให้ทางปากสามารถยับยั้ง การเพิ่มขึ้นของระดับ ไตรกลีเซอ ไรค์และกลอเรสเตอรอลรวม ในพลาสมาที่ถูกเหนี่ยวนำด้วย lipid emulsion ได้อย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสลิติ นอกจากนี้สารสกัดบัวบก (1000 และ 2000 มิลลิกรัมต่อ 4 มิลลิลิตรต่อกิโลกรัม) รูตินและยาออริสแตทสามารถลดระดับกลูโคสในพลาสมา ผลของสารสกัดบัวบกจากเอทานอลและรูตินที่มีต่อการแสดงออกของโปรตีนฟอสใน สมองส่วนควบคุมสมดุลพลังงานในหนูขาว พบว่าสารสกัดบัวบก (1000 มิลลิกรัมต่อมิลลิลิตรต่อ กิโลกรัม) ชักนำให้เกิดการแสดงออกของโปรตีนฟอสใน ARC และ PVN ในขณะที่สารสกัดบัวบก (1000 มิลลิกรัมต่อมิลลิลิตรต่อกิโลกรัม) และรูติน (1500 มิลลิกรัมต่อมิลลิลิตรต่อกิโลกรัม) ชักนำ ให้เกิดการแสดงออกของโปรตีนฟอสในส่วน ARC เท่านั้น ผลของการศึกษานี้ชี้ให้เห็นว่าสารสกัด บัวบกและรูตินอาจมีส่วนเกี่ยวข้องในการควบคุมการกินอาหารโดยไปกระตุ้นการทำงานของเซลล์ ประสาทในสมองบริเวณ ARC และ PVN ในไฮโปทามัส

โดยสรุปการศึกษาในครั้งนี้ชี้ให้เห็นถึงสารสกัดบัวบกและรูตินมีฤทธิ์ในการต้านโรคอ้วน ฤทธิ์ในการลดระดับไขมัน ฤทธิ์ในการลดระดับน้ำตาลและการกระตุ้นการทำงานของเซลล์ ประสาทในสมองส่วนที่ทำหน้าที่ควบคุมการกินและสมดุลของพลังงาน



สาขาวิชาชีววิทยา ปีการศึกษา 2555

ลายมือชื่อนักศึกษา	
ลายมือชื่ออาจารย์ที่ปรึกษา	

NATTAPON SUPKAMONSENI : HYPOLIDEMIC AND HYPOGLYCEMIC EFFECTS OF *CENTELLA ASIATICA* EXTRACT IN MALE WISTAR RATS. THESIS ADVISOR : ASST. PROF. RUNGRUDEE SRISAWAT, Ph.D. 202 PP.

## CENTELLA ASIATICA/OBESITY/LIPASE ENZYME/ALPHA-AMYLASE ENZYME/ALPHA-GLUCOSIDASE ENZYME/BIOCHEMICAL PARAMETERS/ FOS/ARCUATE NUCLEUS/PARAVENTRICULAR NUCLEUS

The aims of the present study were to investigate the effects of *Centella asiatica* (*C. asiatica*) extract and rutin on hypolipidemic and hypoglycemic effects *in vitro* and *in vivo*. This study consisted of 4 main experiments.

The effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin on pancreatic lipase activity *in vitro* were performed. The results showed that *C. asiatica* extracted by 80% ethanol had a yield of 11.81%. *C. asiatica* extract contained total phenolic content of  $97.75 \pm 0.01$  mg gallic acid/g dry weight and rutin of  $1.27 \pm 5.5$  g/kg dry plant. In this study, orlistat (9.52 mg/ml) had 75.47% inhibition of pancreatic lipase activity. The concentrations of *C. asiatica* extract and rutin required to inhibit 50% of pancreatic lipase activity (IC<sub>50</sub>) were  $25.03 \pm 0.05$  and  $48.05 \pm 0.08$  mg/ml, respectively.

The effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin on alphaamylase and alpha-glucosidase activities *in vitro* were performed. Acarbose (0.77 mg/ml) had 96.76% inhibition of alpha-amylase activity and inhibitory alphaglucosidase activity of acarbose (0.30 mg/ml) was 82.59%. The concentrations of *C. asiatica* extract and rutin required to inhibit 50% of alpha-amylase activities (IC<sub>50</sub>) were 2.14  $\pm$  0.04 and 1.53  $\pm$  0.05 mg/ml, respectively. The IC<sub>50</sub> for inhibition of alpha-glucosidase activities by *C. asiatica* extract and rutin were 0.02  $\pm$  0.009 and 0.081  $\pm$  0.004 mg/ml, respectively.

The effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin on plasma biochemical parameters in lipid emulsion-induced hyperlipidemic rats were investigated. *C. asiatica* extract (1000 and 2000 mg/4 ml/kg), rutin (1000 mg/4 ml/kg), and orlistat (45 mg/4 ml/kg) significantly inhibited the plasma levels of triglyceride (TG) and total cholesterol (TC) induced by lipid emulsion. Moreover, orlistat, rutin, and *C. asiatica* extract (1000 and 2000 mg/4 ml/kg) could reduce the levels of plasma glucose.

The effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin on Fos expression in the brain areas regulating homeostasis of energy balance in male Wistar rats were investigated. *C. asiatica* extract (1000 mg/ml/kg) induced Fos expression in the ARC and PVN, while *C. asiatica* extract (2000 mg/ml/kg) and rutin (1500 mg/ml/kg) induced Fos expression only in the ARC. The results of this study suggested *C. asiatica* extract and rutin may involve in the regulation of food intake by activating the ARC and PVN in the hypothalamus.

In conclusion, *C. asiatica* extract and its bioactive compound rutin exhibited anti-obesity, hypolipidemic, and hypoglycemic effects, and induced neuronal activation in the brain areas involving in regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis.

School of Biology	Student's Signature
Academic Year 2012	Advisor's Signature

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to my advisor, Asst. Prof. Dr. Rungrudee Srisawat, for her supervisions, guidance, much more suggestion, kindness, and patience which enable me to carry out this thesis successfully.

I am very grateful to my thesis committees, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Duangdeun Meksuriyen, Dr. Pongrit Krubphachaya, Asst. Prof. Dr. Benjamart Chitsomboon, and Asst. Prof. Dr. Griangsak Eumkeb, for giving the valuable comments and suggestions to make my thesis complete.

Special thanks are given to the staff members of the Center for Scientific and Technological Equipment, Suranaree University of Technology (SUT) for providing facilities and for helpful suggestions during the investigation.

I would like to specially thank all members in Dr. Rungrudee Srisawat's laboratory and my friends, who give me such great helping hands during my study.

I am extremely grateful for the SUT High Potential Student Scholarship and SUT thesis support grants for providing the financial support and giving me the opportunity to conduct and complete my thesis.

Finally, I owe unending gratitude to my family for their warm love, care, understanding, encouragement, and support throughout my life.

## CONTENTS

ABS	STRACT IN THAI	I
ABS	STRACT IN ENGLISH	III
AC	KNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
CON	NTENTS	VI
LIST	T OF TABLES	XII
LIST	T OF FIGURES	XIV
CHA	APTER	
I	INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1 The global epidemic of obesity	1
	1.2 Etiology and impact of obesity	3
	1.3 The management of obesity	4
	1.4 Research objectives	5
	1.5 Research hypothesis	6
	1.6 Expected results	6
	1.7 References	7
II	LITERATURE REVIEW	11
	2.1 Centella asiatica Linn. (Asiatic Pennywort)	11
	2.1.1Chemical constituent of <i>C. asiatica</i>	11
	2.2 Mechanisms of actions based on preclinical studies	12
	2.3 Phenolic compounds possess anti-obesity activity	19

		Page
2.4	4 Disorders associated with obesity	27
2.5	5 The physiology of obesity	36
2.6	6 Digestion and absorption lipids	
	2.6.1 Activities of lipase enzymes	
	2.6.2 Dietary fat digestion and absorption	40
	2.6.3 Drug that interfere with lipid absorption	43
	2.6.4 Lipase inhibitors from plants	46
2.7	7 Digestion and absorption of carbohydrates	
	2.7.1 Activity of alpha-amylase enzyme	52
	2.7.2 Activity of alpha-glucosidase enzyme	52
	2.7.3 Carbohydrate digestion and absorption	53
	2.7.4 Drug the interfere with carbohydrate absorption	55
	2.7.5 Alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitors from plants	s58
2.8	8 Adipose tissue	62
	2.8.1 Lipogenesis	62
	2.8.2 Lipolysis	63
2.9	9 Hypothalamic control of food intake and body weight	65
	2.9.1 Overview of hypothalamic organization	65
2.1	10 Fos protein	71
2.1	11 References	73

#### Page

III	EFFECTS OF THE AQUEOUS ETHANOLIC EXTRACT
	OF CENTELLA ASIATICA ON PANCREATIC
	LIPASE ACTIVITY IN VITRO
	3.1 Abstract
	3.2 Introduction
	3.3 Materials and methods106
	3.3.1 Plant material106
	3.3.2 Preparation of plant extract106
	3.3.3 Determination of plant extract yield107
	3.3.4 Determination of total phenolic contents
	3.3.5 Analysis of rutin by high performance liquid
	chromtrography (HPLC)107
	3.3.6 Chemicals
	3.3.6.1 Materials of porcine pancreatic lipase activity108
	3.3.7 In vitro assay for measuring the inhibition of porcine
	pancreatic lipase enzyme110
	3.4 Statistical analysis
	3.5 Results
	3.6 Discussion and conclusion
	3.7 References

#### IV EFFECTS OF THE AQUEOUS ETHANOLIC EXTRACT

#### OF CENTELLA ASIATICA ON PANCREATIC

#### ALPHA-AMYLASE AND ALPHA-GLUCOSIDASE

ACT	TVITIES IN VITRO
4.1	Abstract
4.2 I	Introduction
4.3 1	Materials and methods126
2	4.3.1 Plant material126
2	4.3.2 Chemicals
2	4.3.3 Materials for determination of pancreatic
	alpha-amylase enzyme activity126
2	4.3.4 Assay for pancreatic alpha-amylase inhibitory activity
2	4.3.5 Materials for determination of
	alpha-glucosidase enzyme activity129
2	4.3.6 Assay for alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activity
4.4 \$	Statistical analysis
4.5 I	Results
4.6 ]	Discussion and conclusion
4.7 I	References

### V EFFECTS OF THE AQUEOUS ETHANOLIC EXTRACT

#### OF CENTELLA ASIATICA ON PLASMA BIOCHEMICAL

#### PARAMETERS IN LIPID EMULSION-INDUCED

IN I	MALE WISTAR RATS
5.1	Abstract
5.2	Introduction
5.3	Materials and methods149
	5.3.1 Plant material
	5.3.2 Animals
	5.3.3 Measurement of plasma triglyceride, total cholesterol,
	glucose, alanine aminotransferase,
	and aspartate aminotransferase levels after oral
	administration of lipid emulsion to rats149
5.4	Statistical analysis
5.5	Results
5.6	Discussion and conclusion
5.7	References

VI	EFFECTS OF THE AQUEOUS ETHANOLIC EXTRACT	
	OF CENTELLA ASIATICA ON FOS EXPRESSION	
	IN THE BRAIN AREAS REGULATING HOMEOSTASIS	
	OF ENERGY BALANCE IN MALE WISTAR RATS	168
	6.1 Abstract	168
	6.2 Introduction	169
	6.3 Materials and methods	172
	6.3.1 Plant material	172
	6.3.2 Animals	172
	6.3.3 Chemicals	172
	6.3.4 Methods	177
	6.3.4.1 Fos immunohistochemistry	184
	6.3.4.2 Quantitative analysis	185
	6.4 Statistical analysis	185
	6.5 Results	185
	6.6 Discussion and conclusion	191
	6.7 References	193
VII	CONCLUSION	197
CUR	RRICULUM VITAE	202

Page

## LIST OF TABLES

Tabl	Table   Page	
2.1	Antioxidant activities of C. asiatica extract determined	
	by 2, 2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl scavenging activity (DPPH),	
	ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP), and inhibition of	
	lipid peroxidation methods17	
2.2	Yield, total phenolic, total flavonoids, and rutin contents in	
	C. asiatica extract	
2.3	Classification of health risk in adults according to the BMI	
	by the World Health Organization (WHO)	
2.4	Obesity related comorbid condition	
2.5	Effective doses and lipase enzyme inhibitory activities of plant extracts	
	<i>in vitro</i> 47	
2.6	Effective doses and lipase enzyme inhibitory activities of plant extracts	
	<i>in vivo</i> 49	
2.7	Effective doses and alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase enzyme	
	inhibitory activities of plant extracts <i>in vitro</i>	
2.8	Effective doses and alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase	
	enzyme inhibitory activities of plant extracts in vivo61	
3.1	The percent yield, total phenolic content, and rutin	
	levels of the aqueous ethanolic extract of <i>C. asiatica</i> 111	

## LIST OF TABLES (Continued)

Tab	Table   Pag	
3.2	The $IC_{50}$ values for rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of	
	C. asiatica on pancreatic lipase enzyme activities	114
4.1	The $IC_{50}$ values for rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of	
	C. asiatica on alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase enzyme activities	136
6.1	Abbreviations of the hypothalamic brain regions	
	involving energy balance	179



## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure     Page	
1.1	Prevalence of overweight males and females (aged 20 years or over) in
	selected countries in 2010
1.2	Prevalence of obese males and females (aged 20 years or over) in
	selected countries in 20102
1.3	Schematic of factors contributing to obesity
2.1	Effect of increased lipolysis on glucose use and gluconeogenesis
2.2	Obesity induced type 2 diabetes mellitus
2.3	Summary of mechanisms and hormonal systems involved in
	obesity-associated hypertension
2.4	Circulating signals related to the size of the fat mass (adiposity signals)
	are integrated with signals from the gastrointestinal system
	(satiety signals) to control energy homeostasis
2.5	Physiological role of pancreatic lipase in lipid absorption43
2.6	Schematic diagram of lipase enzymatic hydrolysis of
	triglyceride (TG) and mechanism of orlistat (anti-obesity drug)
	in lipase enzyme inhibition45
2.7	Schematic diagram of enzyme degradation of poly- and oligosaccharides
	and sucrose by interstinal alpha-glucosidases

## LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figu	Figure     Page		
2.8	Schematic diagrams of enzymatic hydrolysis of oligosaccharides		
	and competitive inhibition of intestinal brush-border		
	alpha-glucosidase by acarbose		
2.9	Lipogenesis and lipolysis mechanisms65		
2.10	A schematic representation of the chief brain		
	pathways involved in the regulation of eating behavior70		
2.11	Schematic diagram showing intracellular pathways leading to c-fos		
	and c-jun expression, and the role of their protein products Fos and Jun,		
	respectively, in regulating the expression of other genes		
	(so-called "late-response" genes)		
3.1	Inhibitory effects of rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract		
	of <i>C. asiatica</i> on porcine pancreatic lipase activity <i>in vitro</i>		
4.1	Inhibitory effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of <i>C. asiatica</i>		
	and rutin on alpha-amylase activity in vitro		
4.2	Inhibitory effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract		
	of <i>C. asiatica</i> and rutin on alpha-glucosidase activity <i>in vitro</i> 135		
5.1	Plasma levels of TG after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone,		
	lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or the aqueous ethanolic		
	extract of <i>C. asiatica</i>		

## LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figure     Page		
	5.2	Plasma levels of TC after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone,
		lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or the aqueous ethanolic
		extract of <i>C. asiatica</i>
	5.3	Plasma levels of glucose after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone,
		lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or the aqueous ethanolic extract
		of <i>C. asiatica</i>
	5.4	Plasma levels of AST after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone,
		lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or the aqueous ethanolic
		extract of <i>C. asiatica</i>
	5.5	Plasma levels of ALT after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone,
		lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or the aqueous ethanolic
		extract of <i>C. asiatica</i>
	6.1	Schematic diagrams of coronal sections illustrating the brains regions
		of the hypothalamus
	6.2	Effects of oral administration of the aqueous ethanolic extract of
		C. asiatica and rutin on Fos expression in the ARC
	6.3	Effect of the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin
		on the number of Fos-positive neurons per section in the area
		of the ARC ranging from -1.80 to -4.36 mm from bregma

## LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figure		
6.4	Effect of oral administration of the aqueous ethanolic of C. asiatica	
	and rutin on Fos expression in the PVN189	
6.5	Effect of the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin	
	on the number of Fos-positive neurons per area of the PVN	
	ranging from -1.08 to -1.92 mm from bregma190	
7.1	Mechanisms of hypolipidemic and hypoglycemic actions of the aqueous	
	ethanolic extract from <i>C. asiatica</i> and rutin <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i> 198	
7.2	Central effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin	
	in male Wistar rats	
	รัฐมีสายเกลโนโลยีสุรบาร	

#### **CHAPTER I**

#### INTRODUCTION

#### **1.1 The global epidemic of obesity**

Obesity became a public health problem in developed countries. Worldwide, 2.8 million people die each year as a result of being overweight (including obesity) and an estimated 35.8 million (2.3%) of global populations are caused by overweight or obesity (World Health Organization, 2011). In 2030, about 2.16 billion adults will be overweight and 1.12 billion will be obese (Kelly *et al.*, 2008). Historical records from developed countries indicated that height and weight in the population increase during the 19<sup>th</sup> century. In the 20<sup>th</sup> century, populations from developed countries began to approach their genetic potential for longitudinal growth. They began to gain proportionally more weight than height, resulting in an increase in average body mass index (BMI) (Caballero, 2007). The prevalence of overweight and obesity in population worldwide (aged 20 years old or over) obtained from the World Health Organization (WHO) in 2010 are shown in Figures 1.1 and 1.2, respectively.



Figure 1.1 Prevalence of overweight males and females (aged 20 years or over) in

selected countries in 2010 (WHO, 2011).



Figure 1.2 Prevalence of obese males and females (aged 20 years or over) in selected countries in 2010 (WHO, 2011).

#### **1.2 Etiology and impact of obesity**

Obesity is characterized by excessive generalized deposition of fat in the body (Seidell, 1998). Fat cannot be determined directly, indirect measures are used such as BMI, waist circumference, waist/hip ratio, and skinfold thickness (Knecht, Ellger, and Levine, 2008). Obesity is the prototypical model of a complex genetic condition interacting with lifestyle choices (Flegal, Troiano, and Ballard-Barbash, 2001). The factors contributing to obesity were determined by physiology, environment, and behavior which these factors regulated the balanced of energy expenditure and energy intake that are shown in Figure 1.3 (Knecht *et al.*, 2008). Obesity is associated with an increased risk in all cause mortality (Pi-Sunyer, 2002). All adult individuals who are overweight or obese are at risk of morbidity from atherosclerotic diseases associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, hypertension, coronary heart disease, and gallbladder disease (Must *et al.*, 1999; Pi-Sunyer, 2002).



Figure 1.3 Schematic of factors contributing to obesity (Knecht et al., 2008).

#### **1.3 The management of obesity**

Treatment of obesity will be the most successful if incorporating the use of diet, exercise, and behavior modification with or without pharmacological therapy and/or surgery. Nowadays, many attempts have been made to connect the metabolic disparity of the obesity condition, producing a number of reagents including orlistat (fat absorption inhibitor), sibutramine (appetite suppressant), and rimonabant (cannabiniod CB<sub>1</sub> receptor block) (Padwal and Majumdar, 2007). Some anti-obesity drugs have severe or life-threatening side effects such as hypertension, headaches, insomnia, dry mouth, nausea, vomiting, dizziness, and palpitations (Akbas *et al.*, 2009). There was a new alternative for prevention of obesity from medicinal plants such as *Taraxacum officinale* (Zhang *et al.*, 2008), *Nelumbo nucifera* (Ono *et al.*, 2006), and tea (Han *et al.*, 2001; He *et al.*, 2007). These medicinal plants could be used for anti-obesity since they inhibited pancreatic lipase activity and suppressed plasma triglyceride.

Fruits and vegetables were particularly rich sources of antioxidant components, including polyphenols (Bagchi *et al.*, 2007; Kubola and Siriamornpun, 2008). Polyphenols found in fruits (e.g. apple, raspberry, orange, and grape seed) and vegetables (e.g. *Aesculus turbinata*, Nomame Herba, tea, bean, *Capparis spinosa*, *Chamaemelum nobile*, *and Nelumbo nucifera*) had anti-obesity (Han *et al.*, 1999; Hu *et al.*, 2008; Lemhadri *et al.*, 2007; Morimoto *et al.*, 2005; Park, Park, and Cha, 2008; Tanaka *et al.*, 2009; Titta *et al.*, 2009; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2000). Thus, consumption of fruits and vegetables containing high amount of polyphenols may contribute to the prevention of obesity.

Rutin is a flavanol type of flavonoids. Rutin is found in many typical plants and has several pharmacological properties such as anticholesterolaemic (Ziaee *et al.*, 2009) and antiglycemic effects (Rauter *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, the addition of rutin or *0*-coumaric acid to the diet could decrease body weight gain, liver weight, adipose tissue weight, triglyceride (TG), phospholipid, total cholesterol (TC), insulin, and leptin in high fat diet-induced obese rats (Hsu *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, rutin was reported to inhibit activities of porcine pancreatic lipase activity *in vitro* (Zheng *et al.*, 2010).

*Centella asiatica* (L.) Urban is one of medicinal plants in tropical and subtropical countries, contains a large variety of substances possessing antioxidant activity such as phenolics, tannins, triterpenoids, and numerous flavonoids (catechin, rutin, and quercetin) (Zheng and Qin, 2007). These active compounds have been reported to have anti-obesity effect. Thus, *C. asiatica* could be candidate for treating obesity. Therefore, the effects of aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin on obesity were investigated. Rutin was selected in anti-obesity study since it might be responsible for anti-obesity effects of *C. asiatica*.

#### **1.4 Research objectives**

The experiments were designed to clarify the following:

1. To study the effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* on pancreatic lipase, pancreatic alpha-amylase, and alpha-glucosidase activities *in vitro*.

2. To study the effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* on plasma biochemical parameters levels in postprandial hypertriglyceridemic rats.

3. To study the acute effect of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* on Fos expression in the hypothalamus and the nucleus of the solitary tract in rats.

#### **1.5 Research hypothesis**

The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* has anti-obesity effects in rats through the inhibition of fat metabolizing enzyme (pancreatic lipase), carbohydrate hydrolyzing enzymes (alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase), and the neuronal activation in the brain areas involved in the regulation of food intake and body energy balance.

#### **1.6 Expected results**

The findings will provide the new evidence of the beneficial effects of aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* on anti-obesity as it may inhibit pancreatic lipase, alpha-amylase, and alpha-glucosidase activities, decrease triglyceride, total cholesterol, and glucose levels, stimulate neuronal activity in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus and stimulate neuronal activity in the nucleus of the solitary tract, inhibit neuronal activity in the lateral hypothalamic area and the perifornical area of the hypothalamus, and stimulate neuronal activities in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus.

#### **1.7 References**

- Akbas, F., Gasteyger, C., Sjodin, A., Astrup, A., and Larsen, T. M. (2009). A critical review of the cannabinoid receptor as a drug target for obesity management.**Obes Rev.** 10(1): 58-67.
- Caballero, B. (2007). The global epidemic of obesity: an overview. **Epidemiol Rev**. 29: 1-5.
- Flegal, K. M., Troiano, R. P., and Ballard-Barbash, R. (2001). Aim for a healthy weight: what is the target? **J Nutr**. 131(2S-1): 440-450.
- Han, L. K., Kimura, Y., Kawashima, M., Takaku, T., Taniyama, T., Hayashi, T., Zheng, Y. N. and Okuda, H. (2001). Anti-obesity effects in rodents of dietary teasaponin, a lipase inhibitor. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 25(10): 1459-1464.
- He, Q., Lv, Y., and Yao, K. (2007). Effects of tea polyphenols on the activities of αamylase, pepsin, trypsin and lipase. Food Chem. 101(3): 1178-1182.
- Heymfield, S. B., Allison, D. B., Vasselli, J. R., Pietrobelli, A., Greenfield, D., and Nunez, C. (1998). Garcinia cambogia (Hydroxycitric acid) as a potential antiobesity agent: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 280(18): 1596-2000.
- Hsu, C. L., Wu, C. H., Huang, S. L., and Yen, G. C. (2009). Phenolic compounds rutin and o-coumaric acid ameliorate obesity induced by high-fat diet in rats. J Agric Food Chem. 57(2): 425-431.
- Kelly, T., Yang, W., Chen, C. S., Reynolds, K., and He, J. (2008). Global burden of obesity in 2005 and projections to 2030. [Review]. Int J Obes. 32(9): 1431-1437.

- Knecht, S., Ellger, T., and Levine, J. A. (2008). Obesity in neurobiology. **Prog** Neurobiol. 84(1): 85-103.
- Lemhadri, A., Eddouks, M., Sulpice, T., and Burcelin, R. (2007). Antihyperglycaemic and anti-obesity effects of *Capparis spinosa* and *Chamaemelum nobile* aqueous extracts in HFD mice. Am J Pharmacol Toxicol. 2(3): 106-110.
- Morimoto, C., Satoh, Y., Hara, M., Inoue, S., Tsujita, T., and Okuda, H. (2005). Antiobese action of raspberry ketone. Life Sci. 77(2): 194-204.
- Must, A., Spadano, J., Coakley, E. H., Field, A. E., Colditz, G., and Dietz, W. H. (1999). The disease burden associated with overweight and obesity. **JAMA**. 282(16): 1523-1529.
- Ono, Y., Hattori, E., Fukaya, Y., Imai, S., and Ohizumi, Y. (2006). Anti-obesity effect of *Nelumbo nucifera* leaves extract in mice and rats. J Ethnopharmacol. 106(2): 238-244.
- Padwal, R. S., and Majumdar, S. R. (2007). Drug treatments for obesity: orlistat, sibutramine, and rimonabant. Lancet. 369: 71-77.
- Park, S. H., Park, T. S., and Cha, Y. S. (2008). Grape seed extract (*Vitis vinifera*) partially reverses high fat diet-induced obesity in C57BL/6J mice. Nutr Res Pract. 2(4): 227-233.
- Park, T., and Kim, Y. (2011). Phytochemicals as potential agents for prevention and treatment of obesity and metabolic diseases. Anti Obes Drug Discovery
   Develop. 1: 1-48.
- Pi-Sunyer, F. X. (2002). The obesity epidemic: pathophysiology and consequences of obesity. Obes Res. 10(2): 97-104.

- Rauter, A. P., Martins, A., Borges, C., Mota-Filipe, H., Pinto, R., Sepodes, B., and Justino, J. (2010). Antihyperglycaemic and protective effects of flavonoids on streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. **Phytother Res**. 24(2): 133-138.
- Seidell, J. C. (1998). Dietary fat and obesity: an epidemiologic perspective. [Review].Am J Clin Nutr. 67(3). 546-550.
- Tanaka, T., Nishizono, S., Tamaru, S., Kondo, M., Shimoda, H., Tanaka, J., and Okada, T. (2009). Anti-obesity and hypotriglyceridemic properties of coffee bean extract in SD rats. Food Sci Technol Int. 15(2): 147-152.
- Titta, L., Trinei, M. Sterdardo, M., Berniakovich, I., Petroni, K., Tonelli, C., Riso, P., Porrini, M., Minucci, S., Pelicci, P. G., Rapisarda, P., Recupero, G. R., and Giorgio, M. (2009). Blood orange juice inhibits fat accumulation in mice. Int J Obes. 34(3): 578-588.
- World Health Organization. (2011). **Obesity and overweight** [On-line]. Available: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/index.html.
- Yamamoto, M., Shimura, S., Itoh, Y., Ohsaka, T., Egawa, M., and Inoue, S. (2000).
  Anti-obesity effects of lipase inhibitor CT-II, an extract from edible herbs,
  Nomame Herba, on rats fed a high-fat diet. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.
  24(6): 758-764.
- Zhang, J., Kang, M. J., Kim, M. J., Kim, M. E., Song, J. H., Lee, Y. M., and Kim, J. I. (2008). Pancreatic lipase inhibitory activity of *Taraxacum officinale in vitro* and *in vivo*. Nutr Res Pract. 2(4): 200-203.
- Zheng, C. D., Duan, Y. Q., Gao, J. M., and Ruan, Z. G. (2010). Screening for antilipase properties of 37 traditional Chinese medicinal herbs. J Chin Med Assoc. 73(6): 319-324.

- Zheng, C. J., and Qin, L. P. (2007). Chemical components of *Centella asiatica* and their bioactivities. **J Chin Integr Med**. 5(3): 348-351.
- Ziaee, A., Zamansoltani, F., Nassiri-Asl, M., and Abbasi, E. (2009). Effects of rutin on lipid profile in hypercholesterolaemic rats. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 104(3): 253-258.



#### **CHAPTER II**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Centella asiatica (AsiatiC0020Pennywort Linn.)

*Centella asiatica* (*C. asiatica*) is a genus of the plant family Apiaceae (Umbelliferae). *C. asiatica* is a perennial creeper plant that flowers between August and September. Its flowers are of a light violet color. The leaves have long petioles arising rosette like from a common base (the nodes), and the individual "leaf rosettes" (the nodes) are connected by slender aerial stolons or runners (Brinkhaus *et al.*, 2000). The form and shape of the *C. asiatica* plant can differ greatly depend on environmental conditions (James and Dubery, 2009). The leaves of *C. asiatica* has about 1.3-6.3 cm diameter, leaf stalk 2-5 cm long and have a mildly bitter taste which is widely distributed in wet place and warmer regions (Jamil, Nizami, and Salam, 2007).

#### 2.1.1 Chemical constituent of C. asiatica

*C. asiatica* is reported to contain following types of compounds:

#### **Triterpenoids**

Triterpene is a major and the most important component of *C. asiatica*. The triterpenes in *C. asiatica* are mainly pentacyclic triterpenic acids and their respective glycosides, belonging to ursane- or oleanane-type, including asiatic acid, asiaticoside, madecassic acid, madecassoside, brahmoside, brahmic acid, brahminoside, thankuniside, isothankuniside, centelloside, madasiatic acid, centic acid, cenellic acid, betulinic acid, and indocentic acid (Zheng and Qin, 2007). There are some triterpenes such as olean-13-ene triterpene, centellasapogenol A, and its oligoglycoside, ursane-derived saponin (23-O-acetylmadecassoside) and a new oleanane-derived saponin (23-O-acetylasiaticoside B) was found in the leaves of *C. asiatica* (Matsuda *et al.*, 2001; Rumalla *et al.*, 2010).

#### **Flavonoids**

*C. asiatica* contained numerous flavonoids (quercetin, rutin, catechin, and naringin). Flavonoids are group of the total phenolic compound (Ariffin *et al*, 2011; Hussin *et al.*, 2009; Zainol *et al.*, 2003). Orhan (2012) showed that *C. asiatica* consisted of kaempferol, patuletin, apigenin, castilliferol, castillicetin and myricetin.

#### Other components

*C. asiatica* has also been revealed the presence of polysaccharide, polyene-alkene, amino acids, fatty acids, alkaloids, sterols, carotenoids, tannin, chlorophyll, pectin, and inorganic salts (Brinkhaus *et al.*, 2000).

#### 2.2 Mechanisms of actions based on preclinical studies

#### Wound healing

C. asiatica extract has a potent of wound healing. Sunilkumar et al. (1998) reported that the aqueous extract of C. asiatica applied to open wounds in rats (3 times daily for 24 days) resulted in the increase of cellular proliferation and

collagen synthesis at the wound site, as shown by an increase in collagen content and tensile strength. Total triterpenoid fraction extracted from *C. asiatica* (TTFCA) increased the percentage of collagen in cell layer fibronectin and thus could help in promoting wound healing (Tenni *et al.*, 1998). Moreover, asiaticoside fascilitated wound healing through an increase in peptidic hydroxyproline content, tensile strength, collagen synthesis, angiogenesis, and epithelialization (Bonte *et al.*, 1994; Shukla *et al.*, 1999).

#### Treatment for venous insufficiency

*C. asiatica* acted on the connective tissues of the vascular wall, being effective in hypertensive microangiopathy, venous insufficiency, and decreasing capillary filtration rate by improving microcirculatory parameters (Cesarone *et al.*, 1992). TTFCA could improve venous wall alterations in chronic venous hypertension and protect the venous endothelium. TTFCA was active on connective tissue modulation, improved the synthesis of collagen, and other tissue proteins by modulating the action of fibroblasts in the vein wall. TTFCA could stimulate collagen remodeling in the venous wall (Incandela *et al.*, 2001).

#### Gastric ulcer healing

*C. asiatica* could prevent ethanol-induced gastric mucosal barrier and reduce the damaging effects of free radicals (Cheng and Koo, 2000). The study of Cheng *et al.* (2004) revealed that *C. asiatica* and asiaticoside orally administered to rats with gastric ulcers caused a reduction in the size of the ulcers at day 3 and 7 in a dose-dependent manner, with a concomitant attenuation of myeloperoxidase activity at the ulcer tissues, and an increase in epithelial cell proliferation and angiogenesis. The expression of basic fibroblast growth factor, an important angiogenic factor, was also upregulated in the ulcer tissues in rats treated with C. asiatica and asiaticoside.

#### **Antidepressant properties**

The antidepressant effect of total triterpenes from C. asiatica has been demonstrated in forced swimming mice (Chen et al., 2003). Total tritepenes from C. asiatica which reduced the immobility time in forced swimming test and ameliorated the imbalance of amino acid levels in mice brains. Moreover, Chen et al. (2005) demonstrated a reduction of the corticosterone level and an increase of the content of norepinephrine and dopamine in rat brain (cortex, hippocampus, and thalamus) following administration of total triterpenes of C. asiatica. Total triterpenes of C. asiatica play a role in ameliorating the function of hypothalamic pituitary adrenal (HPA) axis and increasing the contents of monoamine neurotransmitter for its ้<sup>3</sup> ว<sub>ี</sub>วักยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุร antidepressant effects.

#### Cytotoxic and antitumour activities

Oral administration of C. asiatica extract and its partially purified fractions could retard the development of solid and ascites tumours and increased the life span of these tumour bearing mice. Cytotoxic and antitumour effects involved direct action on DNA synthesis (Babu, Kuttan, and Padikkala, 1995). The aquoues extract of C. asiatica could inhibit intestinal tumorigenesis. C. asiatica extract stimulated modification of cell proliferation and induction of apoptosis in colonic crypts and hence had a chemopreventive effect on colon tumorigenesis (Bunpo et al., 2004).

Moreover, the study of Punturee *et al.* (2004) revealed that *C. asiatica* extract could modulate nitric oxide and tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) in mouse macrophages.

#### **Memory improvement**

The aqueous extract of *C. asiatica* exhibited significant effect on learning and memory improvement and significant decrease in the levels of norepinepherine, dopamine, and serotonin in the brain (Nalini *et al.*, 1992). Moreover, *C. asiatica* extract had the antioxidant property by decreasing the lipid peroxidation and augmenting the antioxidant enzyme activitivity (catalase) in brains which could reduce oxidative stress (Veerendra Kumar, and Gupta, 2002). In addition, aqueous extract of *C. asiatica* could decrease the pentylenetetrazole-kindled seizures and showed improvement in the learning deficit induced by pentylenetetrazole kindling suggesting its potential to be developed as an antiepileptic drug with an added advantage of preventing cognitive impairment (Gupta *et al.*, 2000).

# Neuroprotection

Asiatic acid derivatives from *C. asiatica* exerted significant neuroprotective effects on cultured cortical cells by potentiating of the cellular oxidative defense mechanism since they could protect neuron from the oxidative damage caused by exposure to excess glutamate (Lee *et al.*, 2000).

#### Antioxidant and scavenging activities

In *in vivo* studies, the crude methanolic extract of *C. asiatica* significantly increased the activities of anti-oxidant enzymes, like superoxide dismutase (SOD),

catalase and glutathione peroxidase (GSHP), and significantly decreased the levels of anti-oxidants like glutathione (GSH) and ascorbic acid in lymphoma-bearing mice (Jayashree *et al.*, 2003). Simultaneous supplementation of *C. asiatica* significantly protects rats from arsenic-induced oxidative stress (Gupta and Flora, 2006). There were many studies *in vitro* demonstrated that *C. asiatica* extract possessed antioxidant activities (Table 2.1).


Extraction	Solvent	An				
method		DPPH-scavening activity FRAP-reducing antioxidant power		Lipid peroxidation	- Kelerences	
Maceration	Ethanol	$717.68 \pm 46.46$	$26.58 \pm 1.10$	-	Lee et al., 2011	
		(mg ascorbic acid/100 g)	(mg ascorbic acid/ g)			
Maceration	Water	$IC_{50} = 31.25 \ \mu g/ml$	<u> </u>	-	Pitella et al., 2009	
No fermentation	Water	32.6 ± 1.4	$42.8 \pm 4.1^{a}$		Ariffin et al., 2011	
		(µmol trolox/l/g)		-		
Maceration	Methanol	$IC_{50} = 200 \ \mu g/ml$	- 19	$IC_{50} = 90 \ \mu g/ml$	Subhasree et al., 2009	
Maceration	Methanol	$IC_{50} = 40.5 \pm 10 \ \mu g/ml$	คโนโลยีสุรุง	-	Mustafa et al., 2010	

(DPPH), ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP), and inhibition of lipid peroxidation methods.

Table 2.1 Antioxidant activities of *C. asiatica* extract determined by 2, 2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl scavenging activity

DPPH = 1, 1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl, FRAP = Ferric reducing antioxidant power, GAE = gallic acid equivalent,

DW = dry weight, a = mg GAE/g DW

Extraction	Solvent	A				
method		DPPH-scavening activity	FRAP-reducing antioxidant power	Lipid peroxidation	Kelerences	
Maceration	Methanol	$IC_{50} = 20 \ \mu g/ml$		-	Pongsathorn et al., 2012	
Maceration	Methanol	$IC_{50} = 19.89 \text{ mg/ml}$	<i>∎</i> , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	-	Gupta et al., 2009	
Maceration	Acetone	$4.0 \pm 1.3^{a}$	$6.3 \pm 0.5^{a}$	-	Sulaiman et al., 2011	
	Ethanol	5.1 ± 2.1 <sup>a</sup>	$12.7 \pm 0.1^{a}$	-		
	Methanol	$8.1 \pm 0.2^{\mathrm{a}}$	$0.8\pm0.1$ <sup>a</sup>	-		
Maceration	Water	5	19	$IC_{50} = 9.19 \ \mu mol$	Mai et al., 2007	
	Methanol	<sup>2</sup> วั <sub>กยาลัย</sub>	ทคโนโลยีส <sup>ุรง</sup>	$IC_{50} = 7.43 \ \mu mol$		

(DPPH), ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP), and inhibition of lipid peroxidation methods (Continued).

Table 2.1 Antioxidant activities of *C. asiatica* extract determined by 2, 2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl scavenging activity

DPPH = 1, 1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl, FRAP = Ferric reducing antioxidant power, GAE = gallic acid equivalent,

DW = dry weight, a = mg GAE/g DW

#### 2.3 Phenolic compounds possess anti-obesity activity

Phenolic compounds are secondary metabolites that are derivatives of the pentose phosphate and phenylpropanoid pathways in plants. These compounds, one of the most widely occurring groups of phytochemicals, are of considerable physiological and morphological importance in plants (Balasundram, Sundram, and Samman, 2006). The two main types of polyphenols are flavonoids and phenolic acids. Flavonoids are themselves distributed among several classes such as flavonols, flavones, isoflavones, flavanones, proanthocyanidins, and anthocyanidins (Scalbert et al., 2005). The most common phenolic acids are hydroxycinnamic acid (caffeic acid, ferulic acid, and p-coumaric acid) and hydroxybenzoic acid (Bagchi and Preuss, 2007). Phenolic compounds exhibited a wide range of physiological properties such as anti-inflammatory, anti-microbial, anti-allergenic, and antioxidant activities (Balasundram et al., 2006). Besides, polyphenols could prevent cardiovascular diseases, cancers, and diabetes mellitus (Scalbert et al., 2005). Zainol et al. (2003) demonstrated that the antioxidative activity of the different parts of C. asiatica containing high phenolic contents was as good as that of  $\alpha$ -tocopherol. Total phenolic, total flavonoids, and rutin contents in C. asiatica extract were demonstrated in many studies as shown in Table 2.2.

Extraction method	Solvent	%Yield	Total phenolic content	Total flavonoids content	Rutin	References
Maceration	Ethanol	2.48%	$0.32\pm0.03^a$		-	Lee et al., 2011
Maceration	Water	-	2.86 <sup>b</sup>	0.361 (g /100 g)	-	Pitella et al., 2009
Maceration	Water	-	$7.3\pm0.6^{\mathrm{a}}$	$6.4 \pm 1.4^{c}$	1196 (µg/g DW)	Ariffin et al., 2011
Maceration	Methanol	-	3.23-11.7 (g/100 g DW)	L K	-	Zainol et al., 2003
Maceration	Methanol	-	>9 (mg/g wet weight)	> 5 (mg/g)	-	Subhasree et al., 2010
Maceration	Methanol	-	193.3 (g cafferic/kg DW)		1138.6 (mg/kg)	Hussin et al., 2009
Maceration	Methanol	-	$183.24 \pm 0.68^{a}$	- 19	-	Mustafa et al., 2010
Maceration	Water	-	24.3ª 24.3ª	เทคโนโลยี <sup>สุรร</sup> ั	-	Mai et al., 2007
	Methanol	-	31.5 <sup>d</sup>	-	-	

**Table 2.2** Yields, total phenolic, total flavonoids, and rutin contents in *C. asiatica* extract.

 $\overline{\text{GAE} = \text{gallic acid equivalent, DW} = \text{dry weight, a} = \text{mg GAE/g DW, b} = \text{mg tannic acid/100 g, c} = \text{mg quercetin/g DW, b}$ 

d = mg catechin/g DW, e = g/10 g DW

Extraction method	Solvent	%Yield	Total phenolic content	Total flavonoids content	Rutin	References
Maceration	Acetone	-	$22.4\pm2.1^{a}$	$3.5\pm0.4^{c}$	-	Sulaiman et al., 2011
	Ethanol	-	$52.5\pm0.7^{\rm a}$	$1.2\pm0.3^{c}$	-	
	Methanol	-	$1.4 \pm 0.7^{a}$	$1.8\pm0.5^{c}$	-	
	Water	-	$0.3\pm0.1^{a}$	$1.2\pm0.1^{\circ}$	-	
Maceration	Methanol	-	$7.8 \pm 1.9^{a}$	<u> </u>	-	Nanasombat et al., 2009
Maceration	Ethanol	$2.83\pm0.33^{e}$		20 a	-	Hamid <i>et al.</i> , 2002
	Petrolium	$1.13 \pm 0.18^{e}$			-	
	Water	$2.02\pm0.11^{e}$	5-4	- 19	-	
Maceration	Water	-	้ <i>ไว้ทย</i> าลัยเทค	$0.52\pm0.2\%$	-	Krishnaiah et al., 2009

Table 2.2 Yields, total phenolic, total flavonoids, and rutin contents in *C. asiatica* extract (Continued).

 $\overline{\text{GAE} = \text{gallic acid equivalent, DW} = \text{dry weight, a} = \text{mg GAE/g DW, b} = \text{mg tannic acid/100 g, c} = \text{mg quercetin/g DW, b}$ 

d = mg catechin/g DW, e = g/10 g DW

Extraction	Solvent	%Yield	Total phenolic content	Total flavonoids	Rutin	References
method				content		
Maceration	Methanol	164.4 (mg/g)	>15 <sup>a</sup>	-	-	Pongsathorn et al., 2012
Maceration	Methanol	0.71%	7.79 <sup>b</sup>	· ·	-	Huda-Faujan et al., 2009
Maceration	Methanol	-	150 <sup>b</sup>		-	Gupta et al., 2009
Maceration	Hexane	-	$17.25 \pm 2.06^{a}$		>1000 (µg/g)	Loh et al., 2011
	Dichrolo methane	-	$1.04 \pm 2.06^{a}$	<b>D</b>	>1000 (µg/g)	
GAE = gallic acid equivalent, DW = dry weight, a = mg GAE/g DW, b = mg tannic acid/100 g, c = mg quercetin/g DW,						
$d = mg \operatorname{catechin/g} DW, e = g/10 g DW$						

**Table 2.2** Yields, total phenolic, total flavonoids, and rutin contents in *C. asiatica* extract (Continued).

*C. asiatica* contains numerous active compounds such as triterpenoid saponins including asiaticoside, madecassic acid, centelloside, madecassoside, asiatic acid, volatile oils, flavonoids, tannins, phytosterols, amino acids, and sugars (Thorne Research Incoperation, 2007). Hussin *et al.* (2009) declared that rats treated with either *C. asiatica* powder or extract in normal diet with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treated water could reduce food intake and triacylglycerol (TAG) level and low density lipoprotein (LDL), and increase total cholesterol (TC) and high density lipoprotein (HDL) levels. Several potential mechanisms underlying the reduction of TAG have been suggested; the phenolic compounds may bind protein, decrease the activity of digestive enzymes, and reduce the digestibility and/or absorption of glucose and lipid.

Anti-obesity effect of phenolic compounds has been demonstrated by many studies. Polyphenols found in acacia (Ikarashi *et al.*, 2010), tea (Khan and Mukhtar, 2007), grape seed (Park *et al.*, 2008), and apple (Nagasako-Akozome *et al.*, 2005) could reduce body weight, fat tissue weight, triglyceride (TG), and TC. Apple polyphenols and tea catechins improved lipid metabolism through different manner of action. Apple polyphenols widely inhibited the expression of genes involved in fatty acid synthase (FASN). The regulation of FASN contributed to the reduction of triglycerides and adipose tissue weights in rats fed high-fat diet (Ohta *et al.*, 2008). The anti-obesity effect of *Nelumbo nucifera* leaves extract (NNE) containing several flavonoids and alkaloids has been demonstrated. NNE inhibited the expression of uncoupling protein 3 (UCP3) mRNA in mouse C2C12 myoblasts. In addition, NNE impaired digestion, inhibited absorption of lipids and carbohydrates, accelerated lipid metabolism, and up-regulated energy expenditure (Ono *et al.*, 2006). The acacia

polyphenol (AP) that was rich in unique catechin-like flavan-3-ols could increase the expression of energy expenditure-related genes in skeletal muscle and liver which was associated with decreased fatty acid synthesis and fat intake in the liver of obese diabetic mice fed high-fat diet (Ikarashi et al., 2010). Moreover, Park et al. (2008) demonstrated that polyphenols in grape seed extract (GSE) were the monomeric compounds catechin, epicatechin, gallate, and gallic acid. GSE decreased body weight gain, food intake, TG, and TC in high fat diet (HFD)-induced obese mice. Hibiscus sabdariffa extract contained anthocyanins which were one of the major groups of compounds apart from  $\beta$ -carotene, riboflavin, niacin, ascorbic, and hibicic acids. Systemic administration of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* significantly reduced body weight gain and glycemia in monosodium glutamate-induced obese mice. The potential mechanism by which Hibiscus sabdariffa causes a reduction of body weight gain include anti-hyperglycemic effect, reduction in plasma cholesterol level, and stimulation of thermogenesis (Alarcon-Aguilar et al., 2007). In addition, anthocyanins and ursolic acid were the most abundant bioactive compounds found in Cornelian cherries (Cornus mas). Administration of anthocyanin purified from Cornelian cherries could decrease weight gain, lipid accumulation in the liver, and reduce liver triacylglycerol concentration in HFD-induced obese mice (Jayaprakasam et al., 2006).

The triterpene saponins are commom secondary plant metabolites containing a hydrophobic triterpenoid structure (aglycone) and sugar chain (glycone) (James and Dubery, 2009). Total triterpenic fraction of *C. asiatica* (TTFCA) was effective in improving venous wall alterations in chronic venous hypertension. TTFCA modulated connective tissue, improved the synthesis of collagen and other tissue proteins by modulating the action of fibroblasts in the vein wall, and stimulated collagen synthesis

around the venous wall (Incandela et al., 2001). Crude saponin from Platycodi Radix reduced the increase in plasma TAG after oral administration of lipid emulsion in rats. Furthermore, feeding a HFD containing 3.5, 10 or 30 g/kg crude saponins prevented increases in body and adipose tissue weights associated with decreased hepatic TAG and TC concentrations compared with feeding a HFD alone. The anti-obesity action by crude saponin of Platycodi Radix may be due to the inhibition of pancreatic lipase activity (Han et al., 2002). Hu et al. (2008) revealed that the extract from the seeds of Aesculus turbinata Blume had an inhibitory effect on pancreatic lipase in vitro and suppressed the increase in the body weight, adipose tissue weight, and TC levels in rat liver. Plasma TG contents were also reduced at 1, 2, and 3 hour after oral administration of the lipid emulsion with escins. The consumption of HFD containing 2% escins elevated the TG level in mouse feces compared to the HFD consumption alone. The reason for this appears to be due in part to inhibition of the absorption of dietary fat by inhibiting pancreatic lipase in the intestinal mucosa. Another reason was that total escins increased gastrointestinal motility, resulting in a reduction of the absorption of dietary fat in the gastrointestinal tract. Teasaponin inhibited pancreatic lipase activity and decreased plasma TAG level. Teasaponin suppressed the increases in body weight, parametrial adipose tissue weights and diameter in adipose cell size induced by HFD. The anti-obesity effects of teasaponin in high-fat diet treated mice may be partly mediated through delaying the intestinal absorption of dietary fat by inhibiting pancreatic lipase activity (Han et al., 2001).

Catechin is one the flavan type of flavonoids which found in red wine, green tea, chocolate and many fruits (Donovan *et al.*, 1999). A recent report showed that catechin has anti-obesity effects. Cho *et al.* (2007) revealed that catechin could

stimulate adiponectin protein expression and secretion in adipocytes. Catechin increased insulin-dependent glucose uptake in differentiated adipocytes and augmented the expression of adipogenic marker genes. Green tea catechins could inhibit cholesterol oxidation in LDL which suppressed the generation of hydroxyl radical and superoxide anion (Osada *et al.*, 2001). Green tea catechin could promote thermogenic properties and increase fat oxidation (Dulloo *et al.*, 1999). Tea catechin had potent inhibitory pancreatic lipase activities *in vitro* and decreased the triacylglyceride levels of after intragastric administration of fat emulsion-induced hypertriacylglycerolemia rats (Ikeda *et al.*, 2005).

Kaempferol is natural flavonoids which found in tea, broccoli, strawberries, cranberries, grapefruit, and apple (Park and Kim, 2011). Kaempferol could suppress body weight gain, hepatic triglyceride, cholesterol content, and hepatic lipid accumulation in HFD-fed rats. Kaempferol could reduce the accumulation of visceral fat and improved hyperlipidemia in HFD-fed obese rats by increasing lipid metabolism (Chang *et al.*, 2011).

Quercetin (3, 3, 4, 5, 7- pentahydroxyflavone) is one of the most common dietary flavonols with a well characterized *in vitro* antioxidant activity. Quercetin is an integral part of the human diet that can be found in fruits, vegetables, tea, wine, nuts, and seeds (Ahn *et al.*, 2008). Yang *et al.* (2008) revealed that treatment with combination of resveratrol and quercetin appeared to significantly suppress lipid accumulation compared to resveratrol or quercetin alone. Moreover, the adipocytespecific transcription factors peroxisome proliferators-activated receptor gamma (PPAR $\gamma$ ) and CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein (C/EBP<sub>a</sub>), associated with decreased in viability and increased in apoptosis, were decreased by the combination of resveratrol and quercetin. A possible mechanism of apoptosis induced by resveratrol and quercetin might be mediated through mitochondria cytochrome C release to the cytosol. Quercetin exerted anti-adipogenesis activity by activating the monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) signaling pathway in 3T3-L1 preadipocyte cells (Ahn *et al.*, 2008).

Rutin (3, 3', 4', 5, 7-pentahydroxyflavone-3-rhamnoglucoside), is one the flavanol type of flavonoids. Rutin can be found in many typical plants such as buckwheat and apples (Ziaee *et al.*, 2009). Rutin was reported to have pharmacological properties including antioxidant, anticarcinogenic, and antiplatelet activities (Janbaz, Saeed, and Gilani, 2002; Sheu *et al.*, 2004). Ziaee *et al.* (2009) revealed that rutin alone or in combination with lovastatin could reduce plasma TC, LDL, and body weight in rats with a high cholesterol diet. Furthermore, the study of Hsu *et al.* (2009) showed that the addition of rutin or  $\theta$ -coumaric acid to the diet could decrease body weight gain, liver weight, adipose tissue weight, TG, phospholipid, TC, insulin, and leptin in HFD-induced obese rats. Rutin could inhibit adipogenic development in pre-adipocytes and hepatocytes by down regulating expressions of key adipogenic transcription factors such as PPAR and C/EBP which activated mature adipocytes in 3T3-L1 cells (Choi *et al.*, 2006).

## **2.4 Disorders associated with obesity**

Obesity is defined as an excessive fat accumulation in fat tissue due to imbalance of energy intake and expenditure (Suastika, 2006). It is characterized by enlarged fat mass and elevated lipid concentration in blood (Devlin, Yamovski, and Wilson, 2000; Fujioka, 2002). Excessive fat storage causes exogenous fat and to a more limited extent by non-fat substrates precursors transformed into body fat, mostly from carbohydrates, a process known as *de novo* lipogenesis (Schutz, 2004).

In human, the widely accepted means of assessing obesity is the body mass index (BMI). A very good correlation has been found between BMI and the percentage of body fat in a population. BMI can be calculated using the equation below.

Body Mass Index (BMI) = (Body weight in kg)/ 
$$\text{Height}^2$$
 in m<sup>2</sup>)

Table 2.3 Classification of health risk in adults according to the BMI by the World

Classification	BMI	Risk of co-morbidities
Underweight	< 18.50	Low
		(but risk of other clinical problems increased)
Normal range	18.50 - 24.99	Average
Overweight	25.00 - 29.99	Increased
Obese class I	30.00 - 34.99	Moderate
Obese class II	35.00 - 39.99	Severe
Obese class III	$\geq$ 40.00	Very severe

Health Organization (WHO) (Bagchi et al., 2007).

From Table 2.3, the current value settings are as follows: a BMI lower than 18.5 suggests the person is underweight and may indicate malnutrition, an eating disorder, or other health problems, a BMI of 18.5 to 25 may indicate optimal weight while a number above 25 may indicate the person is overweight; a number above 30 suggests the person is obese (over 40, morbidly obese) (Bagchi *et al.*, 2007).

Obesity increases the risk of multiple medical conditions, many of which are associated with high morbidity and mortality, such as type 2 diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and coronary heart diseases. The risks associated with many of these comorbid conditions may be reduced with modest weight loss (Fujioka, 2002). Disorders associated with obesity were shown in Table 2.4.

- **Table 2.4** Obesity related comorbid conditions (adapted from; Ford *et al.*, 2002;Fujioka, 2002; Pi-Sunyer, 2002).
  - Coronary heart disease
  - Dyslipidemia
  - Type 2 diabetes mellitus
  - Insulin resistance/ hyperinsulinemia
  - Hypertension

# Insulin resistance and hyperinsulindemia

One of the possible mechanism of insulin resistance and hyperglycemia is found in the increased levels of free fatty acids (FFA) found in obese individuals contribute to the defects in glucose use and storage. As increased body fat can increase the rate of lipolysis and FFA mobilization which induce an increase the FFA oxidation and declines glucose used, while FFA is used as an alternate energy source in muscles. Glucose production is increased in response to the higher FFA oxidation in the liver. These actions result in hyperglycemia and impair glucose tolerance (Figure 2.1). This mechanism is particularly important among individuals with upperbody obesity. The plasma FFA turnover rate was higher among women with upperbody obesity compared with lower-body obesity or non-obese women (Jensen *et al.*, 1989).

On the cellular level, insulin binds to its receptor on the surface of target cells, which activate tyrosine autophosphorylation and consequent intracellular signaling. These events culminate in cellular responses, such as the translocation of glucose transporters to the cell surface to allow glucose uptake for use or glycogen storage. In obesity, insulin signaling is defective. Insulin stimulation protein kinase activity of the insulin receptor, which mediates tyrosine autophosphorylation, is reduced in obese subjects relative to non-obese ones, and it is further reduced in obese type 2 diabetes patients (Caro *et al.*, 1989). Furthermore, obesity is associated with other postreceptor binding defects in insulin action, including impaired generation of second messengers, diminished glucose transport, and abnormalities in some critical enzymatic steps involved in glucose use. However, obese subjects with depressed insulin mediated glucose transporter can recover this response after weight loss (Friedman *et al.*, 1992).

รั<sub>รวอักยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสรุบ</sub>์

30



Figure 2.1 Effect of increased lipolysis on glucose use and gluconeogenesis (Pi-Sunyer, 2002). Free fatty acid (FFA).

#### **Diabetes mellitus**

Obesity induced type 2 diabetes mellitus that was shown in Figure 2.2. Adipose tissue distribution involves obesity-related diseases and type 2 diabetes mellitus. The visceral adipose tissue is in direct contact with the liver through the portal circulation, considering the alterations of hormonal control of lipolysis in visceral fat (Lafontan and Berlan, 2003). Visceral adipose tissue, through the enhancement of lipolysis as a result of the reduced insulin-induced anti-lipolysis and the enhancement of lipolytic potencies of catecholamines, caused the release of portal non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA) that disturb liver metabolism (Bergman, 2000). NEFA are released by visceral fat and also released by the upper-body subcutaneous fat deposit. An increase of the levels of NEFA causes a decrease of glucose utilization

in skeletal muscle, leading to glucose intolerance and insulin resistance, which can result in type 2 diabetes mellitus related disorders (Bergman and Ader, 2000; Jensen, 2006; Pi-Sunyer, 2002). An increase in the level of NEFA can cause similar consequences by increasing the production of glucose in the liver and increasing the synthesis of very-low-density lipoproteins (VLDL) in the liver (McGarry, 2001). Subcutaneous fat deposits represent a major site of fat storage (reduced lipolytic responsiveness to catecholamines, which is related to a higher  $\alpha_2$ -adrenoceptor:  $\beta$ -adrenoceptor ratio and higher insulin responsiveness) (Mauriege *et al.*, 1987). Trayhurn and Beattie (2001) demonstrated that subcutaneous fat deposits also played a major role in the production of various adipokines which are involved both in regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. Adipokines (tumor necrosis factor-a (TNF- $\alpha$ ), leptin, and, interleukin-6 (IL-6)) induce insulin resistance, while leptin improves insulin sensitivity (Hussain et al., 2010). Pi-Sunyer (2002) revealed that an increase of adipokines (TNF-a, leptin, and, IL-6) and NEFA declines glucose use, while FFA is used as an alternate energy source in muscles which induce glucose intolerance and insulin resistance.



Figure 2.2 Obesity induced type 2 diabetes mellitus (Lafontan *et al.*, 2003). Nonesterified fatty acid (NEFA), tumor necrosis factor-α (TNF-α), very low density lipoprotein (VLDL), and interleukin-6 (IL-6).

ยาลัยเทคโนโล

#### Hypertension

Several factors may account for the increased sympathetic outflow associated with obesity (Figure 2.3). The increase of FFA, insulin, leptin, aldosterone, and rennin-angiotensin system (RAS) levels induce the increase of sympathetic nerve activity (SNA). Incremental SNA associated with increased leptin, aldosterone, and RAS levels elevate sodium absorption and water retention in kidney which induced hypertension. Another possible mechanism is the elevation of aldosterone, RAS, and endothelin-1 association with the reduction of nitric oxide (NO) production induces hypertension (Rahmouni *et al.*, 2005). The increase in SNA develops slowly, and in the long term, it may induce sympathetic-mediated hypertension development through

raised tubular sodium reabsorption and volumn overloading (Kotsis *et al.*, 2010). In addition, the chronic pressor effects of leptin are supposed to be simultaneously controlled by endothelial NO production. Deprivation of the endothelium-derived NO markedly promotes blood pressure (Kuo, Jones, and Hall, 2001). Obesity causes endothelial dysfunction, decreased NO release, and hence the expected greater blood pressure outcome. Obesity represents a state of inflammation (vascular and systemic) that can cause endothelial dysfunction (Kotsis *et al.*, 2010). In addition, increased tubular absorption and impaired pressure natriuresis in obesity appear to be caused by multiple mechanisms, including activation of the RAS (Hall, Hildebrandt, and Kuo, 2001).





Figure 2.3 Summary of mechanisms and hormonal systems involved in obesityassociated hypertension (Rahmouni *et al.*, 2005). Free fatty acid (FFA), nitric oxide (NO), sympathetic nerve activity (SNA), rennin-angiotensin system (RAS).

# Dyslipidemia

Dyslipidemia is disorders of lipoprotein metabolism, including lipoprotein overproduction and deficiency which is associated with obesity. They may manifest as one or more of the following: elevated TC, LDL, and TG levels or as decreased HDL level with promotion of insulin resistance causing metabolic syndrome in obesity (Meisinger *et al.*, 2006; Vikram *et al.*, 2003). LDL, and high TG levels were most likely to be present when body fat was concentrated in the abdominal area than when body fat was concentrated in the lower body area. Furthermore, overweight or obesity had a lipid irregularity which adversely affected the risk of morbidity and mortality in adults (Sharma, 2003). In addition, increased FFA also affect lipid metabolism by increasing VLDL production by the liver, reducing HDL level, and increasing the number of small dense LDL particles (Bamba and Rader, 2007). Small dense LDL particles were considered to be atherogenic because these particles readily penetrated the arterial wall and had a low affinity for LDL receptor which is also susceptible to oxidation. Even when the LDL level was not change appreciably, atherogenic risk could be higher because of the presence of the smaller LDL particles (Ghassab *et al.*, 2010). Taken together, these changed in lipoprotein profile were associated with increased risk of coronary heart disease (CHD) (Bamba *et al.*, 2007; Singh *et al.*, 2011).

# 2.5 The physiology of obesity

Energy balance is regulated by homeostatic mechanisms involving humoral signals between ingestive and adipose organs, and integrative cerebral modules, particularly the hypothalamus (Knecht *et al.*, 2008). The amount of fat in the body (adiposity) is not, as was once thought, a passive result of bad habits or over-indulgence. It is rather precisely regulated as part of the process of energy homeostasis, a process whereby energy intake (food intake) is matched to energy expenditure (metabolism and exercise) and the size of the body's energy stores (the fat

mass). The major organs regulating this system is the brain, although liver, stomach, and small intestinal participate in the process (Woods and Seeley, 2002).

From Figure 2.4, signals related to the fat mass are integrated with signals from the gastrointestinal system to control all aspects of energy homeostasis. Adiposity signals are connected through central autonomic pathways to centers that process satiety signals. Reduced input from adiposity signals (e.g. after weight loss) increases meal size by reducing brain response to satiety signals (Woods, 2004). Adiposity and satiety signals enter the brain at different levels. Adiposity signals enter the brain at the level of the hypothalamus. Many hypothalamic nuclei are important in the regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis, including the arcuate nucleus (ARC), paraventricular nucleus (PVN), lateral hypothalamic area (LHA), and perifornical area (PeF) (Lawrence, Turnbull, and Rothwell, 1999; Schwartz et al., 2000; Valassi et al., 2008). The nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS) in the brainstem receives much of the information pertinent to satiety, including vagal afferent information and gustation and integrates and relays this information to the hypothalamus (Wood, 2004). Neural signals from the gastrointestinal system and the liver provide information about the food is being eaten, for example, the taste of the food, how much the stomach is distended, and the chemical content of the food. These satiety signals are sent to the hindbrain. The brain responds to the hormone signals via integrated neuropeptide pathways, leading to a number of outputs that are directly related to energy homeostasis. These outputs include neuroendocrine activation from the pituitary gland, motor behaviour (eating, exercise, etc.) and autonomic activity. It has become apparent that the autonomic nervous system has a much greater impact than was once thought upon many fundamental processes of metabolism, including lipolysis, the secretion of insulin and glucagons from the pancreas, and glucose synthesis and secretion from the liver. It is important to note that while energy expenditure tends to decrease with aging, mainly because of the absence of occupational activity and extreme physical exertion, energy intake does not tend to decrease to the same extent, for a number of reasons, including lifestyle habits. Thus, there is a tendency over time for the body weight to increase (Woods and Seeley, 2002).



Figure 2.4 Circulating signals related to the size of the fat mass (adiposity signals) are integrated with signals from the gastrointestinal system (satiety signals) to control energy homeostasis (Woods, 2004). Arcuate nucleus (ARC), paraventricular nucleus (PVN), lateral hypothalamic area (LHA), perifornical area (PeF), the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS), cholecystokinin (CCK).

## **2.6 Digestion and absorption of lipids**

#### 2.6.1 Activities of lipase enzymes

Lipases are enzymes that digest fats, including triacylglycerol and phospholipids. The human lipases include the pre-duodenal (lingual and gastric) and the extra-duodenal (pancreatic, hepatic, lipoprotein, and endothelial) lipases (Mukherjee, 2003). Pancreatic lipase (PL), the principal lipolytic enzymes synthesized and secreted by the pancreas, play a key role in the efficient digestion of triglycerides. It removes fatty acids from the  $\alpha$  and  $\dot{\alpha}$  position of dietary triglycerides, yielding  $\beta$ -monoglycerides, and long chain saturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids as the lipolytic products (Shi and Burn, 2004; Mukherjee, 2003; Thomson *et al.*, 1997).

Lipases mediate the digestion of dietary fats, the uptake of fat into various tissues and the mobilization of fats inside cells. In human, triglyceride lipases are found in the gastrointestinal tract, bound to epithelial surfaces, and inside fat storage cells. The digestion of dietary triglycerides begins in the stomach where gastric lipase releases about 15% of the fatty acids. Lipase secreted by pancreatic acinar cells, complete fat digestion in the proximal small intestine (Lowe, 1997). Lingual lipase is secreted by serous gland, digests approximately one third of ingested fat. Gastric lipase secreted in response to mechanical stimulation, ingestion of food or sympathetic activation, accounts for the hydrolysis of 10-40% of dietary fat. These two enzymes, potentially limit the nutritional impact of the inhibition of lipid absorption that could result from the reduction in the activity of PL alone (Thompson *et al.*, 1997).

#### 2.6.2 Dietary fat digestion and absorption

Dietary fats are mainly (90%) comprised mixed triglycerides (TG). TG consists of a single molecule of glycerol, attached by ester bonds to three fatty acids. TG cannot be directly absorbed, TG must be hydrolyzed the ester bonds on the glycerol backbone by intestinal enzymes and are then able to be absorbed. The products of this hydrolysis are mainly free fatty acids (FFA) and 2-monoglycerides (2-MG) which can be absorbed by the duodenum. *In vivo* study, TG hydrolysis is catalyzed by several digestive lipases. There are several human lipases which include the pre-duodenal (lingual lipase, and human gastric lipase (HGL)) and the extra-duodenal (pancreatic, hepatic, lipoprotein, and endothelial) lipases (Mukherjee, 2003)

Lingual lipase is secreted by a serous gland at the back of the tongue and initiates fat digestion (Birari *et al.*, 2007). Human gastric lipase is secreted by the chief cells of the fundic mucosa of the stomach, this enzyme is active at a broad pH range (3 to 6) and is stable even at the low pH present in the stomach (Hamosh, 1990). The acinar cells of the pancreas synthesize and secrete several lipolytic enzymes such as colipase-dependent lipase, classical pancreatic lipase or triacylglycerol acyl hydrolase (HPL), pancreatic lipase related-protein 1 and 2 (HPLRP1 and HPLRP2), carboxyl ester hydrolase (also known as bile salt stimulated lipase, carboxyl ester lipase, cholesterol esterase, cholesterol ester lipase, human milk lipase, monoglyceride lipase, and pancreatic non-specific lipase) and phospholipase A2 (Birari *et al.*, 2007; van Gaal *et al.*, 2004). Cholesterol esters, lipidic vitamin esters, monoglycerides, diglycerides, TG, and phospholipids are hydrolyzed mainly by carboxyl ester hydrolase. The pancreas also secretes colipase, a factor that is necessary to optimize pancreatic lipase activity. Colipase binds to bile acid micelles and phospholipids covered emulsions. Once bound to these surfaces, colipase facilitates the interaction between pancreatic lipase and the surface of emulsified lipid droplets (Borgstrom and Erlanson-Albertsson, 1982).

The hydrolysis of dietary TG starts in the stomach by the catalytic action of HGL. The secretion of HGL is induced by mechanical stimulation of the stomach, ingestion of food or sympathetic activation (Birari et al., 2007). HGL hydrolyzes 5% to 40% of ingested TG (Carriere et al., 1993), mainly generating FFA, diglycerides, and a few-2MG molecules (Armand et al., 1994). Gastric lipolysis is crucial for the continuation of the digestion process in the duodenum of HPL. Gastric lipolysis ensures: (i) lipid emulsification with creates the lipid-water interface needed for effective lipolysis in the duodenum (Armand et al., 1999), (ii), the generation of long-chain FFA in the duodenum will stimulate the release of cholecystokinin (CCK) and HPL secretion, slowing down gastric emptying (Beglinger, 1994), and (iii) the generation of diglycerides, which are hydrolyzed more effectively than TG (Phan and Tso, 2001). The hydrolysis of TG persists in the duodenum by means of the combined actions of HGL (HGL is responsible for further lipolysis contributing 7.5% to total lipolysis in the duodenum), HPL and bile salts. HPL is the principal pancreatic lipolytic enzyme; it hydrolyzes 40% to 70% of TG (Armand et al., 1999) yielding 2-MG and long-chain saturated and polyunsaturated FFA as the lipolytic products (Mukherjee, 2003; Shi et al., 2004). For full activity under physiological conditions, HPL requires the presence of another pancreatic exocrine protein: colipase. Colipase is secreted as a precursor molecule, in the presence of bile salts, pro-colipase binds, without inducing any conformational change, to the C-terminal domain of the HPL molecule (Phan and Tso, 2001). In order to be absorbed, bile-derived mixed micelles convert FFA and 2-MG into soluble aggregates. These micelles transport these lipolytic products from the intestinal lumen to the intestinal walls (Ho and Storch, 2001). Once in contact with the enterocyte, the molecules are transported across the cell membrane. The enterocyte re-esterifies 2-MG and FFA into TG, assembles them into chylomicrons and then secretes these into the lymphatic system in order to make them bioavailable (Mu and Hoy, 2004; Phan *et al.*, 2001; Van Gaal *et al.*, 2004). Lipolysis rates and consequently FFA supply to the body can be affected by several factors such as lipase levels and activity, physiocochemical properties of dietary lipids, and the presence of inhibitors and enhancers (Tucci *et al.*, 2010). The physiological role of lipases in lipid digestion and absorption was shown in Figure 2.5.





Figure 2.5 Physiological role of pancreatic lipase in lipid absorption (Birari and Bhutani, 2007). Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA); triglyceride (TG); fatty acids (FA); monoglycerides (MG).

#### 2.6.3 Drug that interfere with lipid absorption

Although lipid metabolism is balanced to maintain homeostasis, high-fat diets tend to induce overconsumption and consequencely weight gain. This is mainly due to their high energy content and their low potential for inducing satiety (Hofbauer, 2002). It has been proposed that in the vast majority of cases, overweight, and obesity are the consequences of exaggerated consumption of fat rather than carbohydrates (Seidell, 1998). This does not mean that obesity is not also associated with the consumption of refined sweet carbohydrates, but rather than the intake of this form of carbohydrate is invariably coupled with the intake of dietary fat along with the consumption of high fat savory food items. Given the central role of dietary fat in weight gain, a rational strategy would be to reduce the proportion of calories derived from fat in the diet. In addition, altering dietary intake, the amount of fat entering the body can be reduced by targeting the enzymes involved in lipid digestion and absorption pathways (Shi *et al.*, 2004).

The inhibition of fat digestion and absorption is not without side effect issues. As detailed later, GI distress, and vitamin deficiencies remain a concern with current treatments. However, humans can tolerate a certain degree of inhibition of fat absorption, sufficient to prevent a significant amount of energy entering the body (Aronne, 1998). The benefits of reducing fat absorption are not restricted to weight loss. Specific reduction of lipid levels in subjects with hyperlipidemia would lead to health benefits beyond those expected through reduction in caloric intake and weight loss alone.

# <u>Orlistat</u>

Orlistat (Xenical; Roche) is indicated for the management of obesity (including weight loss and weight maintainance) when used in conjunction with a reduced-calorie diet (Henness and Perry, 2006). Orlistat is a more stable analogue of lepstatin, a naturally occurring lipase inhibitor produced by *Streptomyces toxytricini*. It acts locally as a potent, specific, irreversible inhibitor of pancreatic and gastric lipases by covalently binding to a serine residue in the active site, inhibiting the hydrolysis of dietary triglycerides into absorbable FFA and MG. Approximately, onethird of triglyceride intake is subsequently not absorbed by the small intestine, passing through the gastrointestinal tract and resulting in elimination by the faecal route, thereby contributing to caloric deficit (Cooke and Bloom, 2006). Orlistat is currently the only lipase inhibitor approved for weight loss and a potent inhibitor of pancreatic and gastric lipases, acting locally in the gut lumen with minimal absorption as shown in Figure 2.6. Orlistat inhibits dietary triglycerides hydrolysis by 30%, decreasing proportionally fat absorption (Coutinho, 2009). Some beneficial metabolic impacts of orlistat seem to be independent of weight loss. The observed reduction in TG and LDL levels on orlistat-treated patients was more than 10% higher than the expected for the weight loss. The mechanistic explanation was based on the 25% reduction on the intestinal cholesterol absorption elicited by orlistat (Mittendorfer *et al.*, 2001).



**Figure 2.6** Schematic diagram of lipase enzymatic hydrolysis of triglyceride (TG) (left) and mechanism of action for orlistat (anti-obesity drug) in lipase enzyme inhibition (right) (Coutinho, 2009).

#### 2.6.4 Lipase inhibitors from plants

The inhibition of lipase activity is one of the most widely management obesity. Nowadays, orlistat is a drug for obesity treatment which has been shown to inhibit of lipase (Jandacek and Woods, 2004). However, orlistat has certain unpleasant gastrointestinal side effects like oily stools, oily spotting, and flatulence (Birari and Bhutani, 2007). Therefore, there was a new alternative for pancreatic lipase inhibitory activity from medicinal plants and natural products (anti-obesity agents) (Sharma, Sharma, and Seo, 2005; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2000; Yoshikawa *et al.*, 2002; Zhang *et al.*, 2008). The inhibitory effects of orlistat and medicinal plants on lipase enzyme activities *in vitro* and *in vivo* were summarized in Tables 2.6 and 2.7, respectively.



Product/plant extract	Dose	Effect	References
Orlistat (anti-obesity drug)	0.1 µg/ml	64% Inhibition of PPL	Kim et al., 2010
	0.85 µg/ml	Inhibition of PL	Ikarashi et al., 2011
	100 µg/ml	92% Inhibition of PPL	Zheng et al., 2010
	250 µg/ml	95.7% Inhibition of PPL	Zhang et al., 2008
	1 mg/ml	95% Inhibition of PPL	Kwon et al., 2003
	IC <sub>50</sub> of 32 μM	Inhibition of PPL	Sergent et al., 2012
Rutin	100 µg/ml	30.8% Inhibition of PPL	Zheng et al., 2010
Taraxacum officinale	250 µg/ml	86.3% Inhibition of PPL	Zhang et al., 2008
Quercus infectoria	5 µg/ml	85% Inhibition of PPL	Gholamhoseinian et al., 2010
Rosmarinus officinalis	IC <sub>50</sub> of 13.8 µg/ml	Inhibition of PL	Bustanji et al., 2010
Arachis hypogaea nutshell	10 mg/ml	92% Inhibition of HPL	Moreno et al., 2006
Eriochloa villosa	0.2 mg/ml	83% Inhibition of PPL	Sharma <i>et al.</i> , 2005
Dioscorea nipponica	1 mg/ml	85% Inhibition of PPL	Kwon <i>et al.</i> , 2003

**Table 2.5** Effective doses and lipase enzyme inhibitory activities of plant extracts *in vitro*.

Pancreatic lipase (PL), human pancreatic lipase (HPL), porcine pancreatic lipase (PPL).

Product/plant extract	Dose	Effect	References
Morus bombycis (root)	2.5 µg/ml	85% Inhibition of PPL	Kim et al., 2010
Nelumbo nucifera	IC <sub>50</sub> of 0.46 mg/ml	Inhibition of PL	Ono et al., 2006
Mangifera indica (stem bark and	1 mg/ml	50% Inhibition of HPL	Moreno et al., 2006
leaves)	H L	44% Inhibition of HPL	
Saponin from root of <i>Platycodon</i>	1 mg/ml	80% Inhibition of PPL	Han et al., 2002
gramdiflonon	// 1		
Oolong tea catechins	0.5-2 g/L	Inhibition of PL	Han et al., 2001
Acacia polyphenols	IC <sub>50</sub> of 0.95 mg/ml	Inhibition of PPL	Ikarashi et al., 2011
Apple polyphenols and	$IC_{50}$ of 5.6 µg/ml	Inhibition of PL	Sugiyama et al., 2007
procyanidin fraction	4.15	- CUI	
Grape seed extract	1 mg/ml/aunal	80% Inhibition of HPL	Moreno et al., 2003
Tea polyphenols	0.05 mg/ml	54% Inhibition of PL	He et al., 2007

**Table 2.5** Effective doses and inhibitory lipase enzyme activities of plant extracts *in vitro* (Continued).

Pancreatic lipase (PL), human pancreatic lipase (HPL), porcine pancreatic lipase (PPL).

Product/plant extract	Dose	Effect	References
Orlistat (anti-obesity drug)	15 mg/kg, p.o. (rats)	↓ Plasma TG level	Shim <i>et al.</i> , 2009
	20 mg/kg, p.o. (rats)	↓ Plasma TG level	Liu et al., 2008
	45 mg/kg, p.o. (rats)	↓ Plasma TG level	Han et al., 2005
Rutin	1 g in diet, (rats)	$\downarrow$ Plasma TG and TC levels	Park et al., 2002
		↑ Fat excretion	
	5 mg/ml, i.p. (rats)	↓ Serum TG and TC level	Santos et al., 1999
	25 and 50 mg/kg in diet,	↓ Plasma TC	Choi et al., 2006
	(mice)	$\downarrow$ Body weight and liver weight	
	10 and 100 mg/kg in diet,	↓ Serum TC and LDL-C levels	Ziaee et al., 2009
	(rats)	↓ Plasma TG level	
	0.8% rutin in diet, (hamsters)	↓ Plasma TG and TC levels	Kanashiro et al.,
	<sup>7</sup> ว <sub>อักยา</sub> ลัยเทคโ	โนโลยีสุรั่ง ↑ HDL-C	2009
Salix matsudana polyphenols	575 mg/kg, p.o. (rats)	↓ Plasma TG level	Han et al., 2003
	5% polyphenols fraction in	↑ Fat excretion	
	diet, (mice)		

**Table 2.6** Effective doses and inhibitory lipase enzyme activities of plant extracts *in vivo*.

Triglyceride (TG), total cholesterol (TC), low-density-lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), high-density-lipoprotein cholesterol HDL-C), oral administration (p.o.), intraperitonial (i.p.).

Product/plant extract	Dose	Effect	References
Chikusetsusaponins from	1000 mg/kg, p.o. (rats)	↓ Plasma TG level	Han et al., 2005
Panax japonicas	1% and 3% total	$\downarrow$ Body weight, $\downarrow$ Parametrial adipose	
	chikusetsusaponins in	tissue weight	
	diet, (mice)	↑ Fat excretion	
Escins from Aesculas	0.25 and 1g/kg in diet, (rats)	↓ Plasma TG level	Hu et al., 2008
turbinate BLUME seed	0.35% -1% total escins, (mice)	$\downarrow$ Hepatic TG and TC content levels	
	2% total escins in diet, (mice)	↓ liver weight	
		$\uparrow$ Fat excretion and $\downarrow$ Body weight	
		$\downarrow$ Parametrial adipose tissue weight	
		↓ Hepatic TG and TC content	
	52	↓ liver weight	
Cassia mimosoides L.	2.5% Nomame Herba in diet,	$\downarrow$ Body weight and liver weight	Yamamoto et al., 2000
(Nomame Herba)	(rats)	nalulao	
	1.5-3.5% Nomame Herba in	↓ Plasma TG level	
	diet, (rats)		

**Table 2.6** Effective doses and lipase enzyme inhibitory activities of plant extracts *in vivo* (Continued).

Triglyceride (TG), total cholesterol (TC), oral administration (p.o.).

Product/plant extract	Dose	Effect	References
Taraxcum officinale	400 mg/kg, p.o. (mice)	↓ Plasma TG level	Zhang et al., 2008
Acacia polyphenols	0.25-1 g/kg, p.o. (mice)	↓ Plasma TG level	Ikarashi et al., 2011
Panax quinquefolium	Saponin fraction 1g/kg,	↓ Plasma TG level	Liu et al., 2008
	(rats)	↓ Parametrial adipose tissue weight	
	1 and 3% saponin in diet,		
	(mice)		
Diosorea nipponica (DN)	100 mg/kg, p.o.(mice)	$\downarrow$ Plasma TG level, $\downarrow$ Body weight	Kwon et al., 2003
(dioscin and diosgenin)	5% DN in diet, (rats)	↓ Plasma VLDL and LDL-C levels	
Nelumbo nucifera (leaves)	1.5 g/kg, p.o. (rats)	↓ Plasma TG level	Ono et al., 2006
	5% in diet, (mice)	↓ Body weight	
	้ <sup>บ</sup> ายาลัยเทค	↓ Parametrial adipose tissue weight	
Teasaponin	481 mg/kg, (rats)	↓ Plasma TG level	Han et al., 2001
	0.5% teasaponin in diet,	$\downarrow$ Body weight and Parametrial	
	(mice)	adipose tissue weight	

Table 2.6 Effective doses and inhibitory lipase enzyme activities of plant extracts in vivo (Continued).

Triglyceride (TG), low-density-lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), high-density-lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), very-low-density-lipoprotein (VLDL), oral administration (p.o.).

# 2.7 Digestion and absorption of carbohydrates

#### 2.7.1 Activity of alpha-amylase enzyme

Alpha-amylase enzyme (1,  $4-\alpha$ -D-glucan-glucanohydrolase) catalyzes the hydrolysis of starch, maltodextrins, and maltooligosacharides. This enzyme is present in animals, plants, bacteria, and fungi. The digestion of starch involves several stages. Initially, partial digestion by the salivary amylase results in the degradation of the polymetric substrate into shorter oligomers (Truscheit *et al.*, 1981). Once this partially digested material reaches the gut, it is then extensively hydrolyzed into smaller oligosaccharides by the alpha-amylase isozyme synthesized in the pancreas and excreted into the lumen. The resultant mixture of oligosaccharides passes through the mucous layer of the brush border membrane, where additional alpha-glucosidase degrade it into glucose, which then enter the blood stream by means of a specific transport system (Tundis *et al.*, 2010).

# 2.7.2 Activity of alpha-glucosidase enzyme

Alpha-glucosidase eznyme catalyzes the hydrolytic reaction to liberate alpha-glucose from the non-reducing end of the substrate (Chiba, 1997). Alpha-glucosidase is mainly classified into two groups, GH-family 13 and 31, based on the sequence homology. The enzyme is widely distributed in microorganisms, plants, and animal tissues and the substrate specificity of alpha-glucosidases are known to differ greatly depending on their source (Kimura *et al.*, 2004). These enzymes are membrane-bound enzymes located at the epithelium of the small intestine (Gao *et al.*, 2008). Recently, Saqib *et al.* (2008) constructed the three-dimensional model of human alpha-glucosidase and investigated the binding
interactions with competitive inhibitor acarbose (anti-diabetic drug). Besides, the conserved catalytic GH-31 domain (residues 334-779), a variable loop originating from the *N*-terminal domain (residues 227-288) contribute towards the architecture of substrate binding site. Secondary structure elements consist of 10 alpha helices and 28 small beta sheets with intermittent loop regions. Human alpha-glucosidase active is a pocket formed mainly by the GH 31 domain residues specifically Asp398, Asp587, His645, and Arg571. Residues the active site and contribute towards the architecture of the binding site. Additional residues lining the sugar binding site include Asp511, Trp370, Ile435, Trp509, and Met512.

### 2.7.3 Carbohydrate digestion and absorption

In humans, between 40% and 80% of total caloric intake is accounted for carbohydrates in their various forms, making them the most important energy source. According to their chemical structures, carbohydrates can be classified into absorbable, digestible, fermentable, and non-fermentable forms (Englyst *et al.*, 2005). In human diet, the main digestible carbohydrates comprise disaccharides (such as sucrose and lactose), and larger polysaccharides which have to be enzymatically digested into absorbable monosaccharides (Cummings and Stephen, 2007). In contrast, fermentable carbohydrates cannot be digested as enzymes cannot readily break the intersaccharide bonds. However, once in the colon, these carbohydrates are readily metabolized by chronic bacteria through the process of fermentation. Similarly, if digestible carbohydrates such as sucrose and lactose are maldigested or malabsorbed, they will also be fermented in the large intestine. The main end products of carbohydrate fermentation are short-chain fatty acids (acetate, propionate, and butyrate) and gases (carbon dioxide, methane, and hydrogen). These end products can be absorbed in the large intestine (providing energy) which used as a bacteria substrate, released as flatus, or execreted as biomass in the feces (Cummings, Macfarlane, and Englyst, 2001).

From Figure 2.7, the digestion of carbohydrates begins in the mouth by the action of salivary amylase, which hydrolyzes the 1, 4 bonds in starch, the products of this process are maltose, maltriose, and small dextrins. The starch digestion process continues in the small intestine by the action of pancreatic amylase. The digestion process is completed by enzymes in the brush border of the small intestine (maltase, sucrase, and lactase), also known as disaccharidases or glucosidases) which yields the absorbable monosaccharides glucose, fructose, and galactose. A small proportion of monosaccharides can be absorbed passively; however, a carrier protein is required to absorb the amount ingested in a normal diet (Grabitske and Slavin, 2009).

ร<sub>รัววั</sub>กยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรมโร



Figure 2.7 Schematic diagram of enzyme degradation of poly- and oligosaccharides and sucrose by intestinal alpha-glucosidases (Bischoff, 1995).

# 2.7.4 Drug that interfere with carbohydrate absorption

Inhibition of alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase could decrease the postprandial increase of blood glucose after a mixed carbohydrate diet which can be an important strategy in the management of type 2 diabetic mellitus (Tundis *et al.*, 2010). Blocking these enzymes could decrease the absorption of calories thereby promoting weight loss. The compounds with alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activities have pharmacological potential for helping with weight loss and then maintain weight without a dramatic reduction in carbohydrate intake. In addition, since carbohydrate absorption is affected, alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitors could reduce postprandial glucose and insulin responses to dietary

carbohydrates (Tucci, Boyland, and Halford, 2010). Alpha-amylase enzyme inhibitory activity delays gastric emptying by increasing the amount of undigested carbohydrate in the ileum (Jain *et al.*, 1991). Therefore, new agents to control postprandial hyperglycemia have been developed. Among them, acarbose and voglibose have received considerable attention in the past decades (Fujisawa *et al.*, 2005; Watanaba *et al.*, 2004).

#### Acarbose

Acarbose (Bay g 5421, Glucobay<sup>®</sup>, Precose<sup>®</sup>, Prandase<sup>®</sup>; Bayer) is a psudotetrasaccharide that inhibits intestinal alpha-glucosidase and pancreatic alpha-amylase reversibly at the brush border of intestinal mucosa which was produced from microbial origin (Luo et al., 2001). Bischoff (1995) demonstrated that acarbose is structurally comparable to an oligosaccharide derived from starch digestion. Acarbose bind to active site of alpha-glucosidase enzyme that inhibits oligosaccharide digestion (Figure 2.8). Acarbose can retard gastrointestinal absorption of dietary carbohydrates by inhibiting digestion of polysaccharides and disaccharides which suppress postprandial blood glucose levels (Fujisawa et al., 2005). Acarbose is poorly absorbed (only 1~2% of active compound) because dose not interact with the Na<sup>+</sup>-dependent glucose transporter of the small intestine (Truscheit et al., 1981). Acarbose displays alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activity not only in the jejunum but also in the ileum. Consequently, the plasma bioavailability of acarbose is extremely low, but the availability is high at its site of action in the small intestine. This pharmalogical action of acarbose leads to a shift of carbohydrate not digested in the upper parts of the small intestine to the ileum (Bischoff, 1995).



Figure 2.8 Schematic diagrams of enzymatic hydrolysis of oligosaccharides and competitive inhibition of intestinal brush-border alpha-glucosidase by acarbose (Bischoff, 1995).

#### 2.7.5 Alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitors from plants

Nowadays, anti-diabetic drugs (such as acarbose, miglitol, and voglibose) are widely used for treatment diabetes (Kim et al., 2005). However, these modern medicines available for management of diabetes mellitus exert serious side effects such as hepatotoxicity, abdominal pain, flatulence, and diarrhea (Fujisawa et al., 2005; Singh et al., 2008). Drug resistance to these medicines is also reported after prolonged treatment. Therefore, many medicinal plants have been recommended for treatment of diabetes mellitus (Grover, Yadav, and Vats, 2002). Traditional herbal medicines have been used throughout the world for a range of diabetes mellitus (Odhav et al., 2010). One therapeutic approach for treating diabetes is to decrease the postprandial hyperglycemia. In particular, inhibition of alpha-amylase and alphaglucosidase enzyme activities can decrease the postprandial increase of blood glucose after a mixed carbohydrates diet, which is the important strategy in the management postprandial blood glucose level in type 2 diabete mellitus (Ali, Houghton, and Soumyanath, 2006; Lee et al., 2007). The inhibitory effects of medicinal plants on alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase enzyme activities in vitro and in vivo were summarized in Tables 2.8 and 2.9, respectively.

Product/plant extract	Dose	Effect	References
Acarbose (anti-	0.1 µM-10 mM	99.2% Inhibition of HAS	Lo Piparo et al., 2008
diabetic drug)	0.05-1.0 mM	Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase	Jo et al., 2010
	1 mg/ml	99% Inhibition of PPA	Odhav et al., 2010
	2 mg/ml	42.6% Inhibition of alpha-amylase	Dong et al., 2012
		45.8% Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase	
	4 mg/ml	63.8% Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase	Si et al., 2010
	IC <sub>50</sub> of 0.071 µg/ml	Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase	Ikarachi et al., 2011
	IC <sub>50</sub> of 1.75 µg/ml	Inhibition of PPA	Kim et al., 2005
	IC <sub>50</sub> of 2.57 $\mu$ g/ml	Inhibition of HSA	
	$IC_{50}$ of 35 µg/ml	Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase	
	IC <sub>50</sub> of 6.2 mg/ml	Inhibition of PPA	Subramanian et al., 2008
	IC <sub>50</sub> of 14.9 mg/ml	Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase	
Rutin	1 mM	41% Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase	Gao et al., 2008
	2 mg/ml	25.2% Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase	Dong et al., 2012
	-	23.1% Inhibition of alpha-amylase	-
	5 mg/ml	>20% Inhibition of alpha-amylase	Kim et al., 2000
	IC <sub>50</sub> of 0.05-1.0 mM	Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase	Jo et al., 2010

 Table 2.7 Effective doses and alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase enzyme inhibitory activities of plant extracts in vitro

Porcine pancreatic alpha-amylase (PPA), human salivary alpha-amylase (HSA)

 Table 2.7 Effective doses and alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase enzyme inhibitory activities of plant extracts in vitro

(Continued)

Product/plant extract	Dose	Effect	References
Morus alba	23 mg/ml	75.6% Inhibition of alpha-amylase	Nickavar et al., 2009
Andrographis paniculata	62.5 mg/ml	52.5% Inhibition of PPA 89% Inhibition of yeast alpha-glucosidase	Subramanian et al., 2008
<i>Pinus densiflora</i> (bark and needles)	0.1-5 µg/ml	89.6% Inhibition of HSA 72.2% Inhibition of HSA	Kim et al., 2004
Acorus calamus L.	1 mg/ml	63.6% Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase	Si et al., 2010
Centella asiatica	0.85 mg/ml 5 mg/ml	21% Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase 98.87% Inhibition of alpha-amylase	Mai <i>et al.</i> , 2007 Odhav <i>et al.</i> , 2010
Nelumbo nucifera	IC <sub>50</sub> of 0.82 mg/ml	Inhibition of alpha-amylase	Ono et al., 2006
Oolong tea	100 mg/ml	37% Inhibition of alpha-amylase 86% Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase	Kwon et al., 2008
Trilobatin of <i>Lithocarpus</i> polystachyus	2 mg/ml	21.2% Inhibition of alpha-amylase 48.7% Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase	Dong et al., 2012
Punica granatum (flower)	0.5-16 µg/ml	Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase	Li <i>et al.</i> , 2005

Porcine pancreatic alpha-amylase (PPA); human salivary alpha-amylase (HSA)

Product/plant extract Dose		Effect	References
Acarbose (anti-diabetic drug)	10 mg/ml, p.o. (rats)	$\downarrow$ Blood glucose level	Subramanian et al., 2008
	20 mg/ml, p.o. (mice)	$\downarrow$ Serum glucose level	Si et al., 2010
	50 mg/ml, p.o. (mice)	$\downarrow$ Blood glucose level	Kim et al., 2005
	300 mg/ml, p.o. (mice)	↓ Plasma glucose level	Li et al., 2005
Rutin	4 mg/kg, i.p. (rats)	↓ Blood glucose level	Rauter et al., 2010
Pine bark extract	250 mg/kg, p.o. (rats)	↓ Blood glucose level	Kim et al., 2005
		↓ Body weight	
Punica granatum (flower)	250-1000 mg/kg, p.o.	↓ Plasma glucose level	Li et al., 2005
	(mice)		
Andrographis paniculata	250-1000 mg/kg, p.o. (rats)	↓ Blood glucose level	Subramanian et al., 2008
Acacia polyphenols	0.25-1 g/kg, p.o. (mice)	↓ Plasma glucose level	Ikarachi et al., 2011
Acorus calamus	100, 400, and 800 mg/kg,	↓ Serum glucose level	Si et al., 2010
	p.o. (mice)		
Centella asiatica	250 mg/ml, p.o. (rats)	↓ Blood glucose level	Chauhan et al., 2010

**Table 2.8** Effective doses and inhibitory alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase enzyme activities of plant extracts *in vivo*

Oral administration (p.o.), intraperitonial (i.p.)

#### 2.8 Adipose tissue

Adipose tissue is specialized connective tissue (Albright and Stern, 1998). Adipose tissue functions can be classified into three aspects. First, it is related to lipid metabolism including TG storage and FFA release. Second, it catabolizes TG in order to release glycerol and FFA that participate in glucose metabolism in liver and other tissues. Finally, adipocytes secrete adipokines, which include hormones, cytokines, and other proteins with specific biological functions (Morrison and Farmer, 2000). Adipose tissue has an important influence on physiological processes such as development and growth of the adipocyte and energy homeostasis (Bays et al., 2008). There are two types of adipose tissue depending on its cell structure, location, color, vascularization, and function: white adipose tissue (WAT) and brown adipose tissue (BAT). WAT is the primary site of energy storage in a lipid droplet of the adipocytes in the form of TG, whereas BAT contains multilocular adipocytes or cells with various lipid droplets. WAT has a large number of mitochondria and is specialized in heat production and, therefore, energy expenditure. In humans, BAT is present only in newborns for regulating thermogenic process (Vázquez-Vela, Torres, and Tovar, 2008).

#### 2.8.1 Lipogenesis

Lipogenesis is the synthesis of esterified FFA, which forms TG from carbohydrates or other energy sources acquired in the diet (Figure 2.9). In rats, lipogenesis occurs in liver and WAT. It occurs predominantly in liver and to a lesser extent in adipose tissue, even with high-carbohydrate diets. In rodents, nutritional status and small changes in insulin levels are factors that influence lipogenesis rate (Vázquez-Vela *et al.*, 2008). Lipid synthesis is augmented during postprandial state and after carbohydrate consumption and is inhibited under fasting conditions (Sebokova and Klimes, 1997). In addition, plasma glucose stimulates lipogenesis. Glucose itself is a substrate for lipogenesis. By being glycolytically converted to acetyl-CoA, glucose promotes fatty acid synthesis (Kersten, 2001). Lipid accumulation in adipose tissue depends on circulating FFA uptake (Zechner *et al.*, 2000). Vázquez-Vela *et al.* (2008) revealed that fatty acids provided by the enzymatic hydrolysis of TG contains in the chylomicrons by the lipoprotein lipase. After FFA enter the adipocyte, reesterification is necessary for lipid storage in TG form. Several enzymes involved in adipose tissue lipogenesis were induced by insulin such as fatty acid synthase (FAS), acetyl CoA carboxylase (ACC), and malic enzymes. Newly synthesized FFA was used as substrates in TG synthesis (Kersten, 2001).

#### 2.8.2 Lipolysis

Triglyceride stored in the lipid droplet is first hydrolyzed by the enzyme adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL), also known as desnutrin, releasing a diacylglycerol moiety and FFA (Villena *et al.*, 2004). After hydrolysis by ATGL, diacylglycerols were then hydrolyzed sequentially by the hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL) and monoglyceride lipase (MGL), producing FFA and glycerol (Holm, 2003). Different lipases gain access to the lipid droplet when proteins that coat the vesicle (perilipins) are phosphorylated. Perilipin normally prevents lipolysis of TG by surrounding the lipid droplet, and preventing the access of lipases (Brasaemle *et al.*, 2000).  $\beta$ -adrenergic stimulation of adipocytes and the subsequent protein kinase A-dependent phosphorylation of HSL and perilipin trigger the translocation of HSL from the cytoplasm to the lipid droplet and induce neutral lipid hydrolysis (Egan *et al.*, 1992). During fasting, glucagon and catecholamines stimulate lipolysis in the adipocytes by activating *via* protein kinase A (PKA) several lipases, resulting in a mobilization of FFA from the adipocyte to the circulation, which are then bound to albumin and transported to muscle, liver, heart, and other tissues for its oxidation or reesterification (Lafontan *et al.*, 2000). Lipogenesis and lipolysis are illustrated in Figure 2.9.





Figure 2.9 Lipogenesis and lipolysis mechanisms (Vázquez-Vela *et al.*, 2008).
Triglyceride (TG), diglyceride (DG), fatty acid (FA), monoglyceride (MG), monoglyceride lipase(MGL), protein kinase A (PKA), acetyl CoA carboxylase (ACC), hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL), lipoprotein lipase (LPL), and fatty acid synthase (FAS).

# 2.9 Hypothalamic control of food intake and body weight

#### 2.9.1 Overview of hypothalamic organization

The hypothalamic neurons consist of specific neurotransmitters, receptors, and other factors off crucial important in feeding behavior and the development of obesity (Berthoud, 2002). The hypothalamus is a center of convergence and integration of multiple nutrient-related signals, including circulating

adiposity hormones, gastric hormones and nutrients, and received neuroanatomical projections from other nutrient sensors, mainly within the brainstem. The hypothalamus also integrates these signals with various cognitive forebrain-descending information and reward/motivation-related signals coming from the midbrain-dopamine system, to coordinate neuroendocrine, behavioral, and metabolic effectors of energy balance (Blouet and Schwartz, 2010).

#### Arcuate nucleus (ARC)

The strongest neural inputs to the arcuate nucleus (ARC) are from other periventricular areas including the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) as well as the medial zone nuclei such as the median preoptic nucleus (Horvath, Diano, and van de Pol, 1999). Within the ARC of the hypothalamus, there are two neuronal populations with opposing effects on food intake: neurons which co-expressed neuropeptide Y (NPY) and agouti related peptide (AgRP) stimulate food intake, whereas neurons co-expressed pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC) and cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART) suppress feeding. Both neuronal populations project to the PVN, although the ARC also communicates with other hypothalamic nuclei such as the dorsomedial nucleus (DMN), lateral hypothamic area (LHA), and ventromedial nucleus (VMN) (Simpson, Martin, and Bloom, 2009).

Within POMC neurons, alpha-melanocyte-stimulating hormone ( $\alpha$ -MSH) is produced and binds to melanocortin-4 (MC4R) receptors in the PVN to suppress food intake (Schwartz *et al.*, 2000). In consistency, MC4R knock-out mice exhibit hyperphagia and obesity (Huszar *et al.*, 1997). In humans, MC4R mutations account for approximately 6% of severe early–onset obesity and more than 70

different mutations have been associated with obesity (Tao, 2005). Besides, the role of MC4R on appetite control is still unclear. MC3R deficient mice show increased fat mass and reduced lean body mass (Chen *et al.*, 2000), but selective MC3R agonists have no effect on feeding (Abbott *et al.*, 2000). The majority of POMC neurons in the ARC also co-expressed *CART* mRNA. In *in vivo* study, intracerebroventricular (ICV) administration of CART inhibited food intake, whereas ICV injection of CART antiserum increased food intake (Kristensen *et al.*, 1998). Within the hypothalamus, NPY is an important regulator of body weight through its effects on food intake and energy expenditure. NPY acts at five different receptors (Y1-Y5 receptors), NPY appears to exert its orexigenic effect predominately *via* the Y1 and Y5 receptors (Berthoud, 2002). The majority of neurons expressing NPY in the hypothalamus are found within the ARC and mostly co-expressed AgRP (Stanley *et al.*, 2005). NPY/AgRP neurons have extensive projections within the hypothalamus including the PVN, DMN, and LHA which appear to be the main targets for the orexigenic effects of NPY (Simpson *et al.*, 2009; Suzuki *et al.*, 2010).

# <sup>ุท</sup>ยาลัยเทคโนโลยีส์<sup>ร</sup>

### Paraventricular nucleus (PVN)

The PVN acts to integrate neuropeptide signals from numerous central nervous system (CNS) regions including the ARC and brain stem (Schwartz, 2000). Microinjection of almost all known orexigenic (e.g. NPY) and anorexigenic (e.g. leptin) signals into the PVN alters appetite (Elmquist *et al.*, 1998; Lambert *et al.*, 1995). Administration of melanocortin agonists into the PVN potently inhibits food intake (Giraudo, Billington, and Levine, 1998; Kim *et al.*, 2000). Conversely, injection of a melanocortin antagonist into the PVN stimulates food intake (Giraudo *et* 

*al.*, 1998). The ARC neurons expressing POMC potentiate inhibitory GABAergic (Gamma Aminobutyric Acid) signaling within the PVN, involving in a reduction of food intake. The NPY/AgRP neurons of the ARC inhibit this GABAergic signaling, involving in an increase of food intake (Cowley *et al.*, 1999). Several neuropeptides synthesized in the PVN neuron reduce food intake and body weight. The PVN consists of parvocellular (thyrotropin releasing hormone (TRH) and corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH)) and magnocellular (oxytocin) neurons that produce anorexigenic peptides (Remmers and Delemarre-van de Waal, 2011). Moreover, the parvocellular neuron contains NPY (orexigenic peptide) which increase food intake (Schwartz, 2000).

## Lateral hypothalamic area (LHA) and perifornical area (PeF)

Other hypothalamic areas including the lateral hypothalamic area (LHA) and the perifornical area (PeF) are involved in downstream signaling. Indeed, the PeF is one of the most sensitive areas for NPY-induced (Stanley *et al.*, 1993). The LHA and PeF contain neurons expressing pre-pro-orexin and releasing the peptide products orexin A and B (or hypocretin 1 and 2). The LHA and PeF contain neuropeptides (orexin and melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH)) that increase feeding (Harrold *et al.*, 2012; Schwartz *et al.*, 2000; Stanley *et al.*, 2005). Acute central administration of orexin leads to hyperphagic response in rodents and delays the behavioural onset of satiety (Harrold *et al.*, 2012). MCH expression stimulates food intake (Stanley *et al.*, 2005).

#### Ventromedial hypothalamus (VMH)

The VMN is known to play a role in energy homeostasis for many years since the findings that bilateral VMH lesions induce hyperphagia and obesity has been elucidated. The VMH receives NPY, AgRP, and  $\alpha$ -MSH immunoreactive projections from the ARC neurons and, in turn, VMH neurons project onto both hypothalamic nuclei (e.g. DMH) and brainstem regions (e.g. the nucleus of the solitary tract or NTS). Expression of neuropeptides in the VMH is modulated by energy status, with altered NPY expression in obese mice (Guan, Yu, and van der Ploeg, 1998) and increased MC4R expression in diet-induced obese rats (Huang *et al.*, 2003). Brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is highly expressed in the VMN, and its expression is regulated both by food derivation and melanocortin agoinsts. Increases in food intake and body weight occur in mice with reduced BDNF neurons in the VMH may act as an additional downstream pathway through which nutritional status and the melanocortin system modulate energy homeostasis.

The chief brain areas and pathways involved in the regulation of food intake are summarized in Figure 2.10. Briefly, the ARC is the chief hypothalamic area involved in the control of food intake and contains two interconnected groups of "first-order" neurons releasing orexigenic substance (NPY and AGRP) that enhance food intake, and the anorexigenic substance (POMC and CART) that reduce food intake. The axons of POMC/CART neurons project to "second-order" neurons located in the areas of the PVN, where the anorexigenic substances TRH, CRH, and oxytocin are secreted. The axons of NPY/AgRP neuron project to "second order" neurons located in the areas of the LHA and PFA where the orexigenic substances MCH and orexins are produced. When adiposity signals (leptin and insulin) reach the ARC, anorexigenic peptides are released which activate a catabolic circuit. In contrast, the activation of anabolic pathway leads to the release of orexigenic peptides and occurs when adiposity signal levels in the brain are low (Valassi, Scacchi, and Cavagnini, 2008).



Figure 2.10 A schematic representation of the chief brain pathways involved in the regulation of eating behavior. Arcuate nucleus (ARC); nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS); cholecystokinin (CCK); glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1); peptide YY (PYY); paraventricular nucleus (PVN); lateral hypothalamic area (LHA); perifornical area (PFA); neuropeptide Y (NPY); Agouti-related peptide (AGRP); pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC); cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART); corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH); thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH); oxytocin (OX); melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH) (Valassi *et al.*, 2008).

#### 2.10 Fos protein

Fos protein, the translational product of immediate early gene c-fos, exerts influence on cellular functions by regulating the induction of its downstream target genes as a transcription factor. Fos protein can be induced rapidly and transiently in neurons after applying a variety of stimuli (Herrera and Robertson, 1996). After translation, Fos protein couples with Jun protein to form a heterodimer nucleoprotein complex that binds with high affinity to a DNA-specific sequence identified as activating protein-1 (AP-1) site (Sasson-Corsi et al., 1988). AP-1 is a collective term referring to dimeric transcription factors composed of Jun, Fos or activating transcription factor (ATF) subunits that bind to a common DNA site (Karin, Liu, and Zandi, 1997), as was shown in Figure 2.11. Several cis elements mediate c-fos induction. Proximal to the c-fos TATA box (TGACGTCA) is a cAMP-responsive element (CRE) or ATF proteins, which all mediate c-fos induction via cAMP- and  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent signaling pathways in response to neurotransmitters and polypeptide hormones (Sheng, Thompson, and Greenberg, 1991). Expression of the immediate early gene *c-fos* and its protein product Fos has been extensively used to map stimulus-evoked functional activity in the brain (Nikolaev et al., 2002). Fos act as a marker for neuronal activation that can be identified by immunohistochemistry to be located in the nuclei of neurons (Bullitt, 1990).



**Figure 2.11** Schematic diagram showing intracellular pathways leading to *c-fos* and *c-jun* expression, and the role of their protein products Fos and Jun, respectively, in regulating the expression of other genes (so-called "lateresponse" genes) (Dampney and Horiuchi, 2003).

# 2.11 References

- Abbott, C. R., Rossi, M., Kim, M. S., Al Ahmed, S. H., Taylor, G. M., Ghatei, M. A., Smith, D. M., and Bloom, S. R. (2000). Investigation of the melanocyte stimulating hormones on food intake: lack of evidence to support a role for the melanocortin-3-receptor. Brain Res. 869(1-2): 203-210.
- Ahn, J., Lee, H., Kim, S., Park, J., and Ha, T. (2008). The anti-obesity effect of quercetin is mediated by the AMPK and MAPK signaling pathways. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 373(4): 545-549.
- Alarcon-Aguilar, F. J., Zamilpa, A., Perez-Garcia, M. D., Almanza-Perez, J. C., Romero-Nunez, E., Campos-Sepulveda, E. A., Vazquez-Carrillo, L. I., and Roman-Ramos, R. (2007). Effect of *Hibiscus sabdariffa* on obesity in MSG mice. J Ethnopharmacol. 114(1): 66-71.
- Albright, A. L., and Stern, J. S. (1998). Adipose tissue. [On-line]. Available: http://www.sportsci.or/encyc/drafts/Adipose\_tissue/adipose.html
- Ali, H., Houghton, P. J., and Soumyanath, A. (2006). α-Amylase inhibitory activity of some Malaysian plants used to treat diabetes; with particular reference to *Phyllanthus amarus*. J Ethnopharmacol. 107(3): 449-455.
- Ariffin, F., Heong Chew, S., Bhupinder, K., Karim, A. A., and Huda, N. (2011). Antioxidant capacity and phenolic composition of fermented *Centella asiatica* herbal teas. J Sci Food Agric. 91(15): 2731-2739.
- Armand, M., Borel, P., Dubois, C., Senft, M., Peyrot, J., Salducci, J., Lafont, H., and Lairon, D. (1994). Characterization of emulsions and lipolysis of dietary lipids in the human stomach. **Am J Physiol**. 266(3): 372-381.

- Armand, M., Pasquier, B., Andre, M., Borel, P., Senft, M., Peyrot, J., Salducci, J.,
  Portugal, H., Jaussan, V., and Lairon, D. (1999). Digestion and absorption of 2
  fat emulsions with different droplet sizes in the human digestive tract. Am J
  Clin Nutr. 70(6): 1096-1106.
- Aronne, L. J. (1998). Obesity. [Review]. Med Clin North Am. 82(1): 161-181.
- Babu, T. D., Kuttan, G., and Padikkala, J. (1995). Cytotoxic and anti-tumour properties of certain taxa of Umbelliferae with special reference to *Centella asiatica* (L.) Urban. J Ethnopharmacol. 48(1): 53-57.
- Bagchi, D., and Preuss, H. G. (2007). Obesity: epidemiology, pathophysiology and prevention. New York. CRC Press Taylor and Francis Group.
- Balasundram, N., Sundram, K., and Samman, S. (2006). Phenolic compounds in plants and agri-industrial by-products: antioxidant activity, occurrence, and potential uses. Food Chem. 99(1): 191-203.
- Bamba, V., and Rader, D. J. (2007). Obesity and atherogenic dyslipidemia. [Review].Gastroenterology. 132(6): 2181-2190.
- Bays, H. E., Michael, J., Campoy, G., Bray, G. A., Kitabchi, A. E., Bergman, D. A., Schorr, A. B., Rodbard, H. W., and Henry, R. R. (2008). Pathogenic potential of adipose tissue and metabolic consequences of adipocyte hypertrophy and increased visceral adiposity. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther. 6(3): 343-368.
- Beglinger, C. (1994). Effect of cholecystokinin on gastric motility in humans. [Review]. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 713: 219-225.
- Bergman, R. N. (2000). Non-esterified fatty acids and the liver: why is insulin secreted into the portal vein? [Review]. **Diabetologia**. 43(7): 946-952.

- Bergman, R. N., and Ader, M. (2000). Free Fatty Acids and Pathogenesis of Type 2Diabetes Mellitus. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 11(9): 351-356.
- Bernardis, L. L., and Bellinger, L. L. (1996). The lateral hypothalamic area revisited: ingestive behavior. **Neurosci Biobehav Rev**. 20(2): 189-287.
- Berthoud, H. R. (2002). Multiple neural systems controlling food intake and body weight. [Review]. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 26(4): 393-428.
- Birari, R. B., and Bhutani, K. K. (2007). Pancreatic lipase inhibitors from natural sources: unexplored potential. Drug Discov Today. 12(19-20): 879-889.
- Bischoff, H. (1995). The mechanism of alpha-glucosidase inhibition in the management of diabetes. [Review]. Clin Invest Med. 18(4): 303-311.
- Blouet, C., and Schwartz, G. J. (2010). Hypothalamic nutrient sensing in the control of energy homeostasis. **Behav Brain Res**. 209(1): 1-12.
- Bonte, F., Dumas, M., Chaudagne, C., and Meybeck, A. (1994). Influence of asiatic acid, madecassic acid, and asiaticoside on human collagen I synthesis. Planta Medica. 60(2): 133-135.
- Borgstrom, B., and Erlanson-Albertsson, C. (1982). Hydrolysis of milk fat globules by pancreatic lipase. Role of colipase, phospholipase A2, and bile salts. J Clin Invest. 70(1): 30-32.
- Brasaemle, D. L., Rubin, B., Harten, I. A., Gruia-Gray, A., Kimmel, A. R., and Londos, C. (2000). Perilipin A increases triacylglycerol storage by decreasing the rate of triacylglycerol hydrolysis. J Biol Chem. 275(49): 38486-38493.
- Brinkhaus, B., Lindner, M., Schuppan, D., and Hahn, E. G. (2000). Chemical, pharmacological and clinical profile of the East Asian medical plant *Centella asiatica*. **Phytomedicine**. 7(5): 427-448.

- Bullitt, E. (1990). Expression of *c-fos*-like protein as a marker for neuronal activity following noxious stimulation in the rat. **J Comp Neurol**. 296(4): 517-530.
- Bunpo, P., Kataoka, K., Arimochi, H., Nakayama, H., Kuwahara, T., Bando, Y., Izumi, K., Vinitketkumnuen, U., and Ohnishi, Y. (2004). Inhibitory effects of *Centella asiatica* on azoxymethane-induced aberrant crypt focus formation and carcinogenesis in the intestines of F344 rats. Food Chem Toxicol. 42(12): 1987-1997.
- Bustanji, Y., Issa, A., Mohammed, M., Hudaib, M., Tawah, K., Alkhatib, H., Almasri, I., and Al-Khalidi, B. (2010). Inhibition of hormone sensitive lipase and pancreatic lipase by *Rosmarinus officinalis* extract and selected phenolic constituents. J Med Plant Res. 4(21): 2235-2242.
- Cai, X. J., Widdowson, P. S., Harrold, J., Wilson, S., Buckingham, R. E., Arch, J. R., Tadayyon, M., Clapham, J. C., Wilding, J., and Williams, G. (1999).
  Hypothalamic orexin expression: modulation by blood glucose and feeding.
  Diabetes. 48(11): 2132-2137.
- Campbell, R. E., Smith, M. S., Allen, S. E., Grayson, B. E., Ffrench-Mullen, J. M., and Grove, K. L. (2003). Orexin neurons express a functional pancreatic polypeptide Y4 receptor. J Neurosci. 23(4): 1487-1497.
- Caro, J. F., Dohm, L. G., Pories, W. J., and Sinha, M. K. (1989). Cellular alterations in liver, skeletal muscle, and adipose tissue responsible for insulin resistance in obesity and type II diabetes. [Review]. Diabetes Metab Rev. 5(8): 665-689.
- Carriere, F., Barrowman, J. A., Verger, R., and Laugier, R. (1993). Secretion and contribution to lipolysis of gastric and pancreatic lipases during a test meal in humans. Gastroenterology. 105(3): 876-888.

- Cesarone, M. R., Laurora, G., De Sanctis, M. T., and Belcaro, G. (1992). Activity of *Centella asiatica* in venous insufficiency. **Minerva Cardioangiol**. 40(4): 137-143.
- Chauhan, P. K., Pandey, I. P., Dhatwalia, V. K., and Singh, V. (2010). Anti-diabetic effects of ethanolic and methanolic leaves extract of *Centella asiatica* alloxan and induced diabetic rats. **Int J Pharm Bio Sci**. 1(2): 1-6.
- Chang, C. J., Tzeng, T. F., Liou, S. S., Chang, Y. S., and Liu, I. M. (2011). Kaempferol regulates the lipid-profile in high-fat diet-fed rats through an increase in hepatic PPARalpha levels. Planta medica. 77(17): 1876-1882.
- Chen, Y., Han, T., Qin, L., Rui, Y., and Zheng, H. (2003). Effect of total triterpenes from *Centella asiatica* on the depression behavior and concentration of amino acid in forced swimming mice. **J Chin Med Mat**. 26(12): 870-873.
- Chen, Y., Han, T., Rui, Y., Yin, M., Qin, L., and Zheng, H. (2005). Effects of total triterpenes of *Centella asiatica* on the corticosterone levels in serum and contents of monoamine in depression rat brain. J Chin Med Mat. 28(6): 492-496.
- Chen, A. S., Marsh, D. J., Trumbauer, M. E., Frazier, E. G., Guan, X. M., Yu, H., Rosenblum, C. I., Vongs, A., Feng, Y., Cao, L., Metzger, J. M., Strack, A. M., Camacho, R. E., Mellin, T. N., Nunes, C. N., Min, W., Fisher, J., Gopal-Truter, S., MacIntyre, D. E., Chen, H. Y., and van der Ploeg, L. H. (2000). Inactivation of the mouse melanocortin-3 receptor results in increased fat mass and reduced lean body mass. Nat Genet. 26(1): 97-102.

- Cheng, C. L., Guo, J. S., Luk, J., and Koo, M. W. L. (2004). The healing effects of *Centella* extract and asiaticoside on acetic acid induced gastric ulcers in rats. Life Sci. 74(18): 2237-2249.
- Cheng, C. L., and Koo, M. W. L. (2000). Effects of *Centella asiatica* on ethanol induced gastric mucosal lesions in rats. **Life Sci**. 67(21): 2647-2653.
- Chiba, S. (1997). Molecular mechanism in alpha-glucosidase and glucoamylase. [Review]. **Biosci Biotechnol Biochem**. 61(8): 1233-1239.
- Cho, S. Y., Park, P. J., Shin, H. J., Kim, Y. K., Shin, D. W., Shin, E. S., Lee, H. H., Lee, B. G., Baik, J. H., and Lee, T. R. (2007). Catechin suppresses expression of Kruppel-like factor 7 and increases expression and secretion of adiponectin protein in 3T3-L1 cells. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 292: 1166-1172.
- Choi, I., Park, Y., Choi, H., and Lee, E. H. (2006). Anti-adipogenic activity of rutin in 3T3-L1 cells and mice fed with high-fat diet. **Biofactors**. 26(4): 273-281.
- Cooke, D., and Bloom, S. (2006). The obesity pipeline: current strategies in the development of anti-obesity drugs. [Review]. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 5(11): 919-931.
- Coutinho, W. (2009). The first decade of sibutramine and orlistat: a reappraisal of their expanding roles in the treatment of obesity and associated conditions.[Review]. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol. 53(2): 262-270.
- Cowley, M. A., Pronchuk, N., Fan, W., Dinulescu, D. M., Colmers, W. F., and Cone, R. D. (1999). Integration of NPY, AGRP, and melanocortin signals in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus: evidence of a cellular basis for the adipostat. Neuron. 24(1): 155-163.

- Cummings, J. H., Macfarlane, G. T., and Englyst, H. N. (2001). Prebiotic digestion and fermentation. [Review]. **Am J Clin Nutr**. 73(2): 415-420.
- Cummings, J. H., and Stephen, A. M. (2007). Carbohydrate terminology and classification. [Review]. Eur J Clin Nutr. 61(1): 5-18.
- Dampney, R. A. L., and Horiuchi, J. (2003). Functional organisation of central cardiovascular pathways: studies using c-fos gene expression. Prog Neurobiol. 71(5): 359-384.
- Dong, H. Q., Li, M., Zhu, F., Liu, F. L., and Huang, J. B. (2012). Inhibitory potential of trilobatin from *Lithocarpus polystachyus* Rehd against α-glucosidase and α-amylase linked to type 2 diabetes. **Food Chem**. 130(2): 261-266.
- Donovan, J. L., Luthria, D. L., Stremple, P., and Waterhouse, A. L. (1999). Analysis of (+)-catechin, (-)-epicatechin and their 3'- and 4'-O-methylated analogs. a comparison of sensitive methods. J Chromato B, Biomed Sci Appl. 726 (1): 277-283.
- Dulloo, A. G., Duret, C., Rohrer, D., Girardier, L., Mensi, N., Fathi, M., Chantre, P., and Vandermander, J. (1999). Efficacy of a green tea extract rich in catechin polyphenols and caffeine in increasing 24-h energy expenditure and fat oxidation in humans. Am J Clin Nutr. 70: 1040-1045.
- Egan, J. J., Greenberg, A. S., Chang, M. K., Wek, S. A., Moo, M. C., and Londos, C. (1992). Mechanism of hormone-stimulated lipolysis in adipocytes: translocation of hormone-sensitive lipase to the lipid storage droplet. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 89(18): 8537-8541.

- Elmquist, J. K., Ahima, R. S., Elias, C. F., Flier, J. S., and Saper, C. B. (1998). Leptin activates distinct projections from the dorsomedial and ventromedial hypothalamic nuclei. **Proc Natl Acad Sci USA**. 95(2): 741-746.
- Englyst, K. N., and Englyst, H. N. (2005). Carbohydrate bioavailability. **Br J Nutr**. 94(1): 1-11.
- Ford, E. S., Giles, W. H., and Dietz, W. H. (2002). Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among US adults: findings from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. JAMA. 287(3): 356-359.
- Friedman, J. E., Dohm, G. L., Leggett-Frazier, N., Elton, C. W., Tapscott, E. B., Pories, W. P., and Caro, J. F. (1992). Restoration of insulin responsiveness in skeletal muscle of morbidly obese patients after weight loss. Effect on muscle glucose transport and glucose transporter GLUT4. J Clin Invest. 89(2): 701-705.
- Fujioka, K. (2002). Management of obesity as a chronic disease: nonpharmacologic, pharmacologic, and surgical options. [Review]. Obes Res. 10(2): 116-123.
- Fujisawa, T., Ikegami, H., Inoue, K., Kawabata, Y., and Ogihara, T. (2005). Effect of two α-glucosidase inhibitors, voglibose and acarbose, on postprandial hyperglycemia correlates with subjective abdominal symptoms. Metabolism. 54(3): 387-390.
- Gao, H., Huang, Y. N., Gao, B., Xu, P. Y., Inagaki, C., and Kawabata, J. (2008).
  Alpha-glucosidase inhibitory effect by the flower buds of *Tussilago farfara* L.
  Food Chem. 106(3): 1195-1201.
- Ghassab, R. K., Gohari, L. H., Firoozray, M., and Yegane, M. N. (2010). Determination of low density lipoprotein particle size by polyacrylamide

gradient gel electrophoresis in patients with coronary artery stenosis. Lab Medicine. 41(3): 164-166.

- Gholamhoseinian, A., Shahouzehi, B., and Sharifi-far, F. (2010). Inhibitory effect of some plants on pancreatic lipase. **Int J Pharmacol**. 6(1): 18-24.
- Giraudo, S. Q., Billington, C. J., and Levine, A. S. (1998). Feeding effects of hypothalamic injection of melanocortin 4 receptor ligands. Brain Res. 809(2): 302-306.
- Grabitske, H. A., and Slavin, J. L. (2009). Gastrointestinal effects of low-digestible carbohydrates. [Review]. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 49(4): 327-360.
- Grover, J. K., Yadav, S., and Vats, V. (2002). Medicinal plants of India with antidiabetic potential. J Ethnopharmacol. 81(1): 81-100.
- Guan, X. M., Yu, H., and van der Ploeg, L. H. T. (1998). Evidence of altered hypothalamic pro-opiomelanocortin/ neuropeptide Y mRNA expression in tubby mice. **Molecular Brain Res**. 59(2): 273-279.
- Gupta, R., and Flora, S. J. (2006). Effect of *Centella asiatica* on arsenic induced oxidative stress and metal distribution in rats. **J Appl Toxicol**. 26(3): 213-222.
- Gupta, S., and Prakash, J. (2009). Studies on Indian green leafy vegetables for their antioxidant activity. **Plant Foods Hum Nutr**. 64(1): 39-45.
- Gupta, Y. K., Veerendra Kumar, M. H., and Srivastava, A. K. (2003). Effect of *Centella asiatica* on pentylenetetrazole-induced kindling, cognition and oxidative stress in rats. **Pharmacol Biochem Behav**. 74(3): 579-585.
- Hall, J. E., Hildebrandt, D. A., and Kuo, J. (2001). Obesity hypertension: role of leptin and sympathetic nervous system. [Review]. Am J Hypertens. 14(6): 103-115.

Hamid, A. A., Shah, Z. M., Muse, R., and Mohamed, S. (2002). Characterisation of antioxidative activities of various extracts of *Centella asiatica* (L) Urban.
Food Chem. 77(4): 465-469.

Hamosh, M. (1990). Lingual and gastric lipases. [Review]. Nutrition. 6(6): 421-428.

- Han, L. K., Kimura, Y., Kawashima, M., Takaku, T., Taniyama, T., Hayashi, T., Zheng, Y. N., and Okuda, H. (2001). Anti-obesity effects in rodents of dietary teasaponin, a lipase inhibitor. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 25(10): 1459-1464.
- Han, L. K., Zheng, Y. N., Xu, B. J., Okuda, H., and Kimura, Y. (2002). Saponins from platycodi radix ameliorate high fat diet-induced obesity in mice. J Nutr. 132(8): 2241-2245.
- Han, L. K., Sumiyoshi, M., Zhang, J., Liu, M. X., Zhang, X. F., Zheng, Y. N., Okuda,
  H., and Kimura, Y. (2003). Anti-obesity action of *Salix matsudana* leaves
  (Part 1). Anti-obesity action by polyphenols of *Salix matsudana* in high fatdiet treated rodent animals. **Phytother Res**. 17(10): 1188-1194.
- Han, L. K., Zheng, Y. N., Yoshikawa, M., Okuda, H., and Kimura, Y. (2005). Antiobesity effects of chikusetsusaponins isolated from *Panax japonicus* rhizomes.
  BMC Complement Altern Med. 5: 1-9.
- Henness, S., and Perry, C. M. (2006). Orlistat: a review of its use in the management of obesity. **Drugs**. 66(12): 1625-1656.
- Harrold, J. A., Dovey, T. M., Blundell, J. E., and Halford, J. C. G. (2012). CNS regulation of appetite. **Neuropharmacol**. 63(1): 3-17.
- Horvath, T. L., Diano, S., and van den Pol, A. N. (1999). Synaptic interaction between hypocretin (orexin) and neuropeptide Y cells in the rodent and primate

hypothalamus: a novel circuit implicated in metabolic and endocrine regulations. **J Neurosci**. 19(3): 1072-1087.

- He, Q., Lv, Y., and Yao, K. (2007). Effects of tea polyphenols on the activities of αamylase, pepsin, trypsin and lipase. Food Chem. 101(3): 1178-1182.
- Herrera, D. G., and Robertson, H. A. (1996). Activation of *c-fos* in the brain. **Prog Neurobiol**. 50(2-3): 83-107.
- Ho, S. Y., and Storch, J. (2001). Common mechanisms of monoacylglycerol and fatty acid uptake by human intestinal Caco-2 cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 281(4): 1106-1117.
- Hofbauer, K. G. (2002). Molecular pathways to obesity. [Review]. Int J Obes. 26(2): 18-27.
- Holm, C. (2003). Molecular mechanisms regulating hormone-sensitive lipase and lipolysis. Biochem Soc Trans. 31(6): 1120-1124.
- Hsu, C. L., Wu, C. H., Huang, S. L., and Yen, G. C. (2009). Phenolic compounds rutin and *o*-coumaric acid ameliorate obesity induced by high-fat diet in rats.J Agric Food Chem. 57(2): 425-431.
- Hu, J. N., Zhu, X. M., Han, L. K., Saito, M., Sun, Y. S., Yoshikawa, M., Kimura, Y., and Zheng, Y. N. (2008). Anti-obesity effects of escins extracted from the seeds of *Aesculus turbinata* BLUME (Hippocastanaceae). Chem Pharm Bull. 56(1): 12-16.
- Huang, X. F., Han, M., South, T., and Storlien, L. (2003). Altered levels of POMC, AgRP and MC4-R mRNA expression in the hypothalamus and other parts of the limbic system of mice prone or resistant to chronic high-energy dietinduced obesity. Brain Res. 992(1): 9-19.

- Huda-Faujan, N., Noriham, A., Norrakiah, A. S., and Babji, A. S. (2009). Antioxidant activity of plants methanolic extracts containing phenolic compounds. Afr J Biotechnol. 8(3): 484-489.
- Hussain, A., Hydrie, M. Z. I., Claussen, B., and Asghar, S. (2010). Type 2 diabtes and obesity. **J Diabete**. 2(1): 1-7.
- Hussin, M., Hamid, A. A., Mohamad, S., Saari, N., Bakar, F., and Dek, S. P. (2009).
  Modulation of lipid metabolism by *Centella asiatica* in oxidative stress rats.
  J Food Sci. 74(2): 72-78.
- Huszar, D., Lynch, C. A., Fairchild-Huntress, V., Dunmore, J. H., Fang, Q., Berkemeier, L. R., Gu, W., Kesterson, R. A., Boston, B. A., Cone, R. D., Smith, F. J., Campfield, L. A., Burn, P., and Lee, F. (1997). Targeted disruption of the melanocortin-4 receptor results in obesity in mice. Cell. 88(1): 131-141.
- Ikarashi, N., Takeda, R., Ito, K., Ochiai, W., and Sugiyama, K. (2011). The inhibition of lipase and glucosidase activities by acacia polyphenol. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2011: 1-8.
- Ikeda, I., Tsuda, K., Suzuki, Y., Kobayashi, M., Unno, T., and Tomoyori, H. (2005). Tea catechins with a galloyl moiety suppress postprandial hypertriacylglycerolemia by delaying lymphatic transport of dietary fat in rats. J Nutr. 135(2): 155-159.
- Incandela, L., Cesarone, M. R., Cacchio, M., De Sanctis, M. T., Santavenere, C., D'Auro, M. G., Bucci, M., and Belcaro, G. (2001). Total triterpenic fraction of *Centella asiatica* in chronic venous insufficiency and in high-perfusion microangiopathy. [Review]. Angiology. 52(2): 9-13.

- Jain, N. K., Boivin, M., Zinsmeister, A. R., and DiMagno, E. P. (1991). The ileum and carbohydrate-mediated feedback regulation of postprandial pancreaticobiliary secretion in normal humans. **Pancreas**. 6(5): 495-505.
- James, J. T., and Dubery, I. A. (2009). Pentacyclic triterpenoids from the medicinal herb, *Centella asiatica* (L.) Urban. **Molecules**. 14(10): 3922-3941.
- Jamil, S. S., Nizami, Q., and Salam, M. (2007). *Centella asiatica* (Linn.) urban. [Review]. Nat Prod Rad. 6(2): 158-170.
- Janbaz, K. H., Saeed, S. A., and Gliani, A. H. (2002). Protective effect of rutin on paracetamol- and CCl<sub>4</sub>- induced hepatotoxicity in rodents. Fitoterapia. 73(7-8): 557-563.
- Jandacek, R. J., and Woods, S. C. (2004). Pharmaceutical approaches to the treatment of obesity. **Drug Discov Today**. 9(20): 874-880.
- Jayaprakasam, B., Olson, L. K., Schutzki, R. E., Tai, M. H., and Nair, M. G. (2006).
  Amelioration of obesity and glucose intolerance in high-fat-fed C57BL/6 mice
  by anthocyanins and ursolic acid in cornelian cherry (*Cornus mas*). J Agric
  Food Chem. 54(1): 243-248.
- Jayashree, G., Kurup Muraleedhara, G., Sudarslal, S., and Jacob, V. B. (2003). Antioxidant activity of *Centella asiatica* on lymphoma-bearing mice. **Fitoterapia**. 74(5): 431-434.
- Jensen, M. D. (2006). Is visceral fat involved in the pathogenesis of the metabolic syndrome? Human model. **Obesity**. 14(1): 20-24.
- Jensen, M. D., Haymond, M. W., Rizza, R. A., Cryer, P. E., and Miles, J. M. (1989).Influence of body fat distribution on free fatty acid metabolism in obesity.J Clin Invest. 83(4): 1168-1173.

- Jo, S. H., Ka, E. H., Lee, H. S., Apostolidis, E., Jang, H. D., and Kwon, Y. I. (2010). Comparison of antioxidant potential and rat intestinal alpha-glucosidases inhibitory activities of quercetin, rutin, and isoquercetin. Int J Appl Res Nat Prod. 2(4): 52-60.
- Kanashiro, A., Andrade, D. C., Kabeya, L. M., Turato, W. M., Faccioli, L. H., Uyemura, S. A., and Lucisano-Valim, Y. M. (2009). Modulatory effects of rutin on biochemical and hematological parameters in hypercholesterolemic Golden Syrian hamsters. An Acad Bras Cienc. 81(1): 67-72.
- Karin, M., Liu, Z. G., and Zandi, E. (1997). AP-1 function and regulation. **Curr Opin Cell Biol**. 9(2): 240-246.
- Kersten, S. (2001). Mechanism of nutritional and hormonal regulation of lipogenesis.EMBO Rep. 2(4): 282-286.
- Khan, N., and Mukhtar, H. (2007). Tea polyphenols for health promotion. Life Sci. 81(7): 519-533.
- Kim, Y. M., Jeong, Y. K., Wang, M. H., Lee, W. Y., and Rhee, H. I. (2005). Inhibitory effect of pine extract on α-glucosidase activity and postprandial hyperglycemia. Nutrition. 21(6): 756-761.
- Kim, J. H., Hahm, D. H., Yang, D. C., Kim, J. H., Lee, H. J., and Shim, I. (2005). Effect of crude saponin of Korean red ginseng on high-fat diet-induced obesity in the rat. J Pharmacol Sci. 97: 124-131.
- Kim, J. S., Kwon, C. S., and Son, K. H. (2000). Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase and amylase by luteolin, a flavonoid. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 64(11): 2458-2461.

- Kim, Y. S., Lee, Y. M., Kim, H., Kim, J., Jang, D. S., Kim, J. H., and Kim, J. S. (2010). Anti-obesity effect of *Morus bombycis* root extract: anti-lipase activity and lipolytic effect. J Ethnopharmacol. 130(3): 621-624.
- Kim, M. S., Rossi, M., Abusnana, S., Sunter, D., Morgan, D. G., Small, C. J., Edwards, C. M., Heath, M. M., Stanley, S. A., Seal, L. J., Bhatti, J. R., Smith, D. M., Ghatei, M. A., and Bloom, S. R. (2000). Hypothalamic localization of the feeding effect of agouti-related peptide and alpha-melanocyte-stimulating hormone. Diabetes. 49(2): 177-182.
- Kim, Y. M., Wang, M. H., and Rhee, H. I. (2004). A novel alpha-glucosidase inhibitor from pine bark. Carbohydr Res. 339(3): 715-717.
- Kimura, A., Lee, J. H., Lee, I. S., Lee, H. S., Park, K. H., Chiba, S., and Kim, D. (2004). Two potent competitive inhibitors discriminating alpha-glucosidase family I from family II. Carbohydr Res. 339(6): 1035-1040.
- Klein, S. (2004). Long-term pharmacotherapy for obesity. [Review]. **Obes Res**. 12(1): 163-166.
- Knecht, S., Ellger, T., and Levine, J. A. (2008). Obesity in neurobiology. Prog Neurobiol. 84(1): 85-103.
- Kotsis, V., Stabouli, S., Papakatsika, S., Rizos, Z., and Parati, G. (2010). Mechanisms of obesity-induced hypertension. [Review]. **Hypertens Res**. 33(5): 386-393.
- Krishnaiah, D., Devi, T., Bono, A., and Sarbatly, R. (2009). Studies on phytochemical constituents of six Malaysian medicinal plants. **J Med Plant Res**. 3(2): 67-72.
- Kristensen, P., Judge, M. E., Thim, L., Ribel, U., Christjansen, K. N., Wulff, B. S., Clausen, J. T., Jensen, P. B., Madsen, O. D., Vrang, N., Larsen, P. J., and

Hastrup, S. (1998). Hypothalamic CART is a new anorectic peptide regulated by leptin. **Nature**. 393(6680): 72-76.

- Kuo, J. J., Jones, O. B., and Hall, J. E. (2001). Inhibition of NO synthesis enhances chronic cardiovascular and renal actions of leptin. Hypertension. 37(2): 670-676.
- Kwon, Y. I., Apostolidis, E., and Shetty, K. (2008). Inhibitory potential of wine and tea against alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase for management of hyperglycemia linked to type 2 diabetes. J Food Biochem. 32(1): 15-31.
- Kwon, C. S., Sohn, H. Y., Kim, S. H., Kim, J. H., Son, K. H., Lee, J. S., Lim, J. K., and Kim, J. S. (2003). Anti-obesity effect of *Dioscorea nipponica* Makino with lipase-inhibitory activity in rodents. **Biosci Biotechnol Biochem**. 67(7): 1451-1456.
- Lafontan, M., and Berlan, M. (2003). Do regional differences in adipocyte biology provide new pathophysiological insights? [Review]. **Trends Pharmacol Sci**. 24(6): 276-283.
- Lafontan, M., Sengenes, C., Galitzky, J., Berlan, M., Glisezinski, I. D., Cramoes, Stich, V., Langin, D., Barbe, P., and Rivière, D. (2000). Recent developments on lipolysis regulation in humans and discovery of a new lipolytic pathway.
  Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 24(4): 47-52.
- Lambert, P. D., Phillips, P. J., Wilding, J. P. H., Bloom, S. R., and Herbert, J. (1995).c-Fos expression in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus following intracerebroventricular infusions of neuropeptide Y. Brain Res. 670(1): 59-65.
- Lawrence, C. B., Turnbull, A. V., and Rothwell, N. J. (1999). Hypothalamic control of feeding. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 9(6): 778-783.
- Lee, Y. A., Cho, E. J., Tanaka, T., and Yakozawa, T. (2007). Inhibitory activities of proanthocyanidinis from persimmon against oxidative stress and digestive enzyme related to diabetes. J Nutr Sci Vitaminal. 53(3): 287-292.
- Lee, M. K., Kim, S. R., Sung, S. H., Lim, D., Kim, H., Choi, H., Park, H. K., Je, S., and Ki, Y. C. (2000). Asiatic acid derivatives protect cultured cortical neurons from glutamate-induced excitotoxicity. **Res Commun Mol Pathol Pharmacol**. 108(1-2): 75-86.
- Lee, T. K., and Vairappon, C. S. (2011). Antioxidant, antibacterial and cytotoxic activities of essential oils and ethanol extracts of selected South East Asian herbs. J Med Plant Res. 5(21): 5284-5290.
- Li, Y., Wen, S., Kota, B. P., Peng, G., Li, G. Q., Yamahara, J., and Roufogalis, B. D. (2005). *Punica granatum* flower extract, a potent α-glucosidase inhibitor, improves postprandial hyperglycemia in Zucker diabetic fatty rats. J Ethnopharmacol. 99(2): 239-244.
- Liu, W., Zheng, Y., Han, L., Wang, H., Saito, M., Ling, M., Kimura Y, and Feng Y.
  (2008). Saponins (Ginsenosides) from stems and leaves of *Panax quinquefolium* prevented high-fat diet-induced obesity in mice. **Phytomedicine**. 15(12): 1140-1145.
- Loh, S. P., and Hadira, O. (2011). In vitro inhibitory potential of selected Malaysian plants against key enzymes involved in hyperglycemia and hypertension.
   Malays J Nutr. 17(1): 77-86.
- Lo Piparo, E., Scheib, H., Frei, H., Williamson, G., Grigorov, M., and Jason Chou, C. (2008). Flavonoids for controlling starch digestion: structural requirements for inhibiting human alpha-amylase. J Med Chem. 51(12): 3555-3561.

- Lowe, M. E. (1997). Structure and function of pancreatic lipase and colipase. Annu Rev Nutr. 17: 141-158.
- Luo, H., Wang, L. F., Imoto, T., and Hiji, Y. (2001). Inhibitory effect and mechanism of acarbose combined with gymnemic acid on maltose absorption in rat intestine. **World J Gastroenterol**. 7(1): 9-15.
- Mai, T. T., Thu, N. N., Tien, P. G., and van Chuyen, N. (2007). Alpha-glucosidase inhibitory and antioxidant activities of Vietnamese edible plants and their relationships with polyphenol contents. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol. 53(3): 267-276.
- Manjari, M. (2003). Human digestive and metabolic lipases-a brief review. J Mol Catal B Enzym. 22(5-6): 369-376.
- Matsuda, H., Morikawa, T., Ueda, H., and Yoshikawa, M. (2001). Medicinal foodstuffs. XXVII. Saponin constituents of gotu kola (2): structures of new ursane- and oleanane- type triterpene oligoglycosides, centellasaponins B, C, and D, from *Centella asiatica* cultivated in Sri Lanka. Pharm Bull. 49(10): 1368-1371.
- Mauriege, P., Galitzky, J., Berlan, M., and Lafontan, M. (1987). Heterogeneous distribution of beta and alpha-2 adrenoceptor binding sites in human fat cells from various fat deposits: functional consequences. **Eur J Clin Invest**. 17(2): 156-165.
- McGarry, J. D. (2002). Banting lecture 2001: dysregulation of fatty acid metabolism in the etiology of type 2 diabetes. **Diabetes**. 51(1): 7-18.
- Meisinger, C., Doring, A., Thorand, B., Heier, M., and Lowel, H. (2006). Body fat distribution and risk of type 2 diabetes in the general population: are there

differences between men and women? The MONICA/KORA Augsburg cohort study. **Am J Clin Nutr**. 84(3): 483-489.

- Mittendorfer, B., Ostlund, R. E., Jr., Patterson, B. W., and Klein, S. (2001). Orlistat inhibits dietary cholesterol absorption. **Obes Res**. 9(10): 599-604.
- Moreno, D. A., Ilic, N., Poulev, A., Brasaemle, D. L., Fried, S. K., and Raskin, I. (2003). Inhibitory effects of grape seed extract on lipases. **Nutrition**. 19(10): 876-879.
- Moreno, D. A., Ripoll, C., Ilic, N., Poulev, A., Aubin, C., and Raskin, I. (2006).
  Inhibition of lipid metabolic enzymes using *Mangifera indica* extracts. J Food
  Agri Environ. 4(1): 21-26.
- Moreno, D. A., Ilic, N., Poulev, A., and Raskin, I. (2006). Effects of Arachis hypogaea nutshell extract on lipid metabolic enzymes and obesity parameters. Life Sci. 78(24): 2797-2803.
- Morrison, R. F., and Farmer, S. R. (2000). Hormonal signaling and transcriptional control of adipocyte differentiation. **J Nutr**. 130: 3116-3121.
- Mu, H., and Hoy, C. E. (2004). The digestion of dietary triacylglycerols. [Review].Prog Lipid Res. 43(2): 105-133.
- Mukherjee, M. (2003). Human digestive and metabolic lipases-a brief review. **J Mol Catal B Enzym**. 22(5-6): 369-376.
- Mustafa, R. A., Abdul Hamid, A., Mohamed, S., and Bakar, F. A. (2010). Total phenolic compounds, flavonoids, and radical scavenging activity of 21 selected tropical plants. **J Food Sci**. 75(1): 28-35.

- Nagasako-Akazome, Y., Kanda, T., Ikeda, M., and Shimasaki, H. (2005). Serum cholesterol lowing effect of apple polyphenols in healthy subjects. **J Oleo Sci**. 54(3): 143-151.
- Nalini, K., Aroor, A. R., Karanth, K. S., and Rao, A. (1992). Effect of *Centella asiatica* fresh leaf aqueous extract on learning and memory and biogenic amine turnover in albino rats. **Fitoterapia**. 63(3): 232-237.
- Nanasombat, S., and Teckchuen, N. (2009). Antimicrobial, antioxidant and anticancer activities of Thai local vegetables. J Med Plant Res. 3(5): 443-449.
- Nickavar, B., and Mosazadeh, G. (2009). Influence of three *Morus* species extracts on α-amylase activity. **Iran J Pharmaceu Res**. 8(2): 115-119.
- Nikolaev, E., Kaczmarek, L., Zhu, S. W., Winblad, B., and Mohammed, A. H. (2002). Environmental manipulation differentially alters c-Fos expression in amygdaloid nuclei following aversive conditioning. Brain Res. 957(1): 91-98.
- Odhav, B., Kandasamy, T., Khumalo, N., and Baijnath, H. (2010). Screening of African traditional vegetables for their alphaamlase inhibitory effect. J Med Plant Res. 4(14): 1502-1507.
- Ono, Y., Hattori, E., Fukaya, Y., Imai, S., and Ohizumi, Y. (2006). Anti-obesity effect of *Nelumbo nucifera* leaves extract in mice and rats. J Ethnopharmacol. 106(2): 238-244.
- Ohta, Y., Sami, M., Kanda, T., Saito, K., Osada, K., and Kato, H. (2008). Gene expression analysis of the anti-obesity effect by apple polyphenols in rats fed a high fat diet or a normal diet. **J Oleo Sci**. 55(6): 305-314.

- Orhan, I. E. (2012). *Centella asiatica* (L.) urban from traditional medicine to modern medicine with neuroprotective potential. Evid Based Complement Aleternat Med. 2012: 1-8.
- Osada, K., Takahashi, M., Hoshina, S., Nakamura, M., Nakamura, S., and Sugano, M. (2001). Tea catechins inhibit cholesterol oxidation accompanying oxidation of low density lipoprotein *in vitro*. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol. 128(2): 153-164.
- Park, S. Y., Bok, S. H., Jeon, S. M., Park, Y. B., Lee, S. J., Jeong, T. S., and Myung,
  S. C. (2002). Effect of rutin and tannic acid supplements on cholesterol metabolism in rats. Nutr Res. 22(3): 283-295.
- Park, S. H., Park, T. S., and Cha, Y. S. (2008). Grape seed extract (*Vitis vinifera*) partially reverses high fat diet-induced obesity in C57BL/6J mice. Nutr Res Pract. 2(4): 227-233.
- Peyron, C., Tighe, D. K., van den Pol, A. N., de Lecea, L., Heller, H. C., Sutcliffe, J. G., and Kilduff, T. S. (1998). Neurons containing hypocretin (orexin) project to multiple neuronal systems. J Neurosci. 18(23): 9996-10015.
- Phan, C. T., and Tso, P. (2001). Intestinal lipid absorption and transport. [Review]. Front Biosci. 6: 299-319.
- Pittella, F., Dutra, R. C., Junior, D. D., Lopes, M. T., and Barbosa, N. R. (2009). Antioxidant and cytotoxic activities of *Centella asiatica* (L) Urb. Int J Mol Sci. 10(9): 3713-3721.
- Pi-Sunyer, F. X. (2002). The obesity epidemic: pathophysiology and consequences of obesity. Obes Res. 10(2): 97-104.

- Pongsathorn, K., Duangporn, P., Sireethon, K., and Pornchanok, C. (2012). Determination of antioxidant property from some medicinal plant extracts from Thailand. Afr J Biotechnol. 11(45): 10322-10327.
- Punturee, K., Wild, C. P., and Vinitketkumneun, U. (2004). Thai medicinal plants modulate nitric oxide and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in J774.2 mouse macrophages. J Ethnopharmacol. 95(2-3): 183-189.
- Rahmouni, K., Correia, M. L., Haynes, W. G., and Mark, A. L. (2005). Obesity-associated hypertension: new insights into mechanisms. [Review].Hypertension. 45(1): 9-14.
- Remmers, F., and Delemarre-van de Waal, H. A. (2011). Developmental programming of energy balance and its hypothalamic regulation. [Review].Endocr Rev. 32(2): 272-311.
- Rauter, A. P., Martins, A., Borges, C., Mota-Filipe, H., Pinto, R., Sepodes, B., and Justino, J. (2010). Antihyperglycaemic and protective effects of flavonoids on streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. **Phytother Res**. 24(2): 133-138.
- Rumalla, C. S., Ali, Z., Weerasooriya, A. D., Smillie, T. J., and Khan, I. A. (2010).
  Two new triterpene glycosides from *Centella asiatica*. Planta Medica. 76(10): 1018-1021.
- Sakurai, T., Amemiya, A., Ishii, M., Matsuzaki, I., Chemelli, R. M., Tanaka, H.,
  Tanaka, H., Williams, S. C., Richarson, J. A., Kozlowski, G. P., Wilson, S.,
  Arch, J. R., Buckingham, R. E., Haynes, A. C., Carr, S. A., Annan, R. S.,
  McNulty, D. E., Liu, W. S., Terrett, J. A., Elshourbagy, N. A., Bergsma, D. J.,
  and Yanagisawa, M. (1998). Orexins and orexin receptors: a family of

hypothalamic neuropeptides and G protein-coupled receptors that regulate feeding behavior. **Cell**. 92(4): 573-585.

- Saper, C. B., Chou, T. C., and Elmquist, J. K. (2002). The need to feed: homeostatic and hedonic control of eating. [Review]. Neuron. 36(2): 199-211.
- Saqib, U, and Siddiqi, M. I. (2008). Probing ligand binding interactions of human alpha glucosidase by homology modeling and molecular docking. Intern J Integr Biol. 2(2): 116-121.
- Santos, K. F., Oliveira, T. T., Nagem, T. J., Pinto, A. S., and Oliveira, M. G. (1999). Hypolipidaemic effects of naringenin, rutin, nicotinic acid and their associations. Pharmacol Res. 40(6): 493-496.
- Sasson-Corsi, P., Lamph, W. W., Kamps, M., and Verma, I. M. (1988). Fos associated p39 is related to nuclear transcription factor AP-1. **Cell**. 54(4): 553-560.
- Scalbert, A., Manach, C., Morand, C., Remesy, C., and Jimenez, L. (2005). Dietary polyphenols and the prevention of diseases. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 45(4): 287-306.
- Schutz, Y. (2004). Dietary fat, lipogenesis and energy balance. **Physiol Behav**. 83(4): 557-564.
- Schwartz, M. W., Woods, S. C., Porte, D. Jr., Seeley, R. J., and Baskin, D. G. (2000).
  Central nervous system control of food intake. [Review]. Nature. 404(6778):
  661-671.
- Seidell, J. C. (1998). Dietary fat and obesity: an epidemiologic perspective. [Review]. Am J Clin Nutr. 67(3): 546-550.
- Sebokova, E., and Klimes, I. (1997). Molecular and cellular determinants of triglyceride availability. **Ann N Y Acad Sci**. 827(1): 200-214.

- Sergent, T., Vanderstraeten, J., Winand, J., Beguin, P., and Schneider, Y. J. (2012). Phenolic compounds and plant extracts as potential natural anti-obesity substances. Food Chem. 135(1). 68-73.
- Sharma, A. M. (2003). Obesity and cardiovascular risk. [Review]. Growth Horm IGF Res. 13: 10-17.
- Sharma, N., Sharma, V. K., and Seo, S. Y. (2005). Screening of some medicinal plants for anti-lipase activity. J Ethnopharmacol. 97(3): 453-456.
- Sheng, M. E., Thompson, M. A., and Greenberg, M. E. (1991). CREB: A Ca<sup>2+</sup>regulated transcription factor phosphorylated by calmodulin dependent kinases. Science. 252(5011): 1427-1430.
- Sheu, J. R., Hsiao, G., Chou, P. H., Shen, M. Y., and Chou, D. S. (2004). Mechanisms involved in the antiplatelet activity of rutin, a glycoside of the flavonol quercetin, in human platelets. J Agric Food Chem. 52(14): 4414-4418.
- Shi, Y., and Burn, P. (2004). Lipid metabolic enzymes: emerging drug targets for the treatment of obesity. [Review]. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 3(8): 695-710.
- Shim, W. S., Back, H., Seo, E. K., Lee, H. T., and Shim, C. K. (2009). Long-term administration of an aqueous extract of dried, immature fruit of *Poncirus trifoliata* (L.) Raf. suppresses body weight gain in rats. J Ethnopharmacol. 126(2): 294-299.
- Shukla, A., Rasik, A. M., Jain, G. K., Shankar, R., Kulshrestha, D. K., and Dhawan,
  B. N. (1999). *In vitro* and *in vivo* wound healing activity of asiaticoside isolated from *Centella asiatica*. J Ethnopharmacol. 65(1): 1-11.
- Si, M. M., Lou, J. S., Zhou, C. X., Shen, J. N., Wu, H. H., Yang, B., He, Q. J., and Wu, H. S. (2010). Insulin releasing and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activity of

ethyl acetate fraction of *Acorus calamus in vitro* and *in vivo*. **J Ethnopharmacol**. 128(1): 154-159.

- Simpson, K. A., Martin, N. M., and Bloom, S. R. (2009). Hypothalamic regulation of food intake and clinical therapeutic applications. [Review]. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol. 53(2): 120-128.
- Singh, S. K., Rai, P. K., Jaiswal, D., and Watal, G. (2008). Evidence-based critical evaluation of glycemic potential of *Cynodon dactylon*. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 5(4): 415-420.
- Singh, A. K. Singh, H. K., Singh, N., Agrawal, N., and Gopal, K. (2011). Obesity and dyslipidemia [Review]. Int J Biol Med Res. 2(3): 824-828.
- Stanley, B. G., Magdalin, W., Seirafi, A., Thomas, W. J., and Leibowitz, S. F. (1993).
  The perifornical area: the major focus of (a) patchily distributed hypothalamic neuropeptide Y-sensitive feeding system(s). Brain Res. 604(1-2): 304-317.
- Stanley, S., Wynne, K., McGowan, B., and Bloom, S. (2005). Hormonal regulation of food intake. [Review]. Physiol Rev. 85(4): 1131-1158.
- Suastika, K. (2006). Update in the management of obesity. Acta Medica Indonesiana. 38(4): 231-237.
- Subhasree, B., Baskar, R., Laxmi Keerthana, R., Lijina Susan, R., and Rajasekaran, P. (2009). Evaluation of antioxidant potential in selected green leafy vegetables.
  Food Chem. 115(4): 1213-1220.
- Subramanian, R., Asmawi, M. Z., and Sadikun, A. (2008). *In vitro* alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase enzyme inhibitory effects of *Andrographis paniculata* extract and andrographolide. **Acta Biochim Pol**. 55(2): 391-398.

- Sugiyama, H., Akazome, Y., Shoji, T., Yamaguchi, A., Yasue, M., Kanda, T., and Ohtake, Y. (2007). Oligomeric procyanidins in apple polyphenol are main active components for inhibition of pancreatic lipase and triglyceride absorption. J Agric Food Chem. 55(11): 4604-4609.
- Sulaiman, S. F., Sajak, A. A. B., Ooi, K. L., and Seow, E. M. (2011). Effect of solvents in extracting polyphenols and antioxidants of selected raw vegetables. J Food Compost Anal. 24(4): 506-515.
- Sunilkumar, S. P., Parameshwaraiah, S., and Shivakumar, H. G. (1998). Evaluation of topical formulations of aqueous extract of *Centella asiatica* on open wounds in rats. Indian J Exp Biol. 36(6): 569-572.
- Suzuki, K., Simpson, K. A., Minnion, J. S., Shillito, J. C., and Bloom, S. R. (2010). The role of gut hormones and the hypothalamus in appetite regulation. [Review]. Endocr J. 57(5): 359-372.
- Tao, Y. X. (2005). Molecular mechanisms of the neural melanocortin receptor dysfunction in severe early onset obesity. [Review]. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 239(1-2): 1-14.
- Tenni, R., Zanaboni, G., de Agostini, M. P., Rossi, A., Bendotti, C., and Cetta, G. (1988). Effect of the triterpenoid fraction of *Centella asiatica* on macromolecules of the connective matrix in human skin fibroblast cultures.
  Ital J Biochem. 37(2): 69-77.
- Thomson, A. B., de Pover, A., Keelan, M., Jarocka-Cyrta, E., and Clandinin, M. T. (1997). Inhibition of lipid absorption as an approach to the treatment of obesity. Methods Enzymol. 286: 3-44.

- Thorme Research Incoperation. (2007). *Centella asiatica*. Altern Med Rev. 12: 69-72.
- Tian, D. R., Li, X. D., Shi, Y. S., Wan, Y., Wang, X. M., Chang, J. K., Yang, J., and Han, J. S. (2004). Changes of hypothalamic α-MSH and CART peptide expression in diet-induced obese rats. **Peptides**. 25(12): 2147-2153.
- Trayhurn, P., and Beattie, J. H. (2001). Physiological role of adipose tissue: white adipose tissue as an endocrine and secretory organ. [Review]. Proc Nutr Soc. 60(3): 329-339.
- Truscheit, E., Frommer, W., Junge, B., Müller, L., Schmidt, D. D., and Wingender,
  W. (1981). Chemistry and biochemistry of microbial α-glucosidase inhibitors.
  Angew Chem Int Ed Engl. 20(9): 744-761.
- Tucci, S. A., Boyland, E. J., and Halford, J. C. (2010). The role of lipid and carbohydrate digestive enzyme inhibitors in the management of obesity: a review of current and emerging therapeutic agents. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 3: 125-143.
- Tundis, R., Loizzo, M. R., and Menichini, F. (2010). Natural products as alphaamylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitors and their hypoglycaemic potential in the treatment of diabetes: an update. **Mini Rev Med Chem**. 10(4): 315-331.
- Valassi, E., Scacchi, M., and Cavagnini, F. (2008). Neuroendocrine control of food intake. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 18(2): 158-168.
- Van Gaal, L., Mertens, I., Ballaux, D., and Verkade, H. J. (2004). Modern, new pharmacotherapy for obesity. A gastrointestinal approach. [Review]. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 18(6): 1049-1072.

- Vázquez-Vela, M. E. F., Torres, N., and Tovar, A. R. (2008). White adipose tissue as endocrine organ and its role in obesity. **Arch Med Res**. 39(8): 715-728.
- Veerendra Kumar, M. H., and Gupta, Y. K. (2002). Effect of different extracts of *Centella asiatica* on cognition and markers of oxidative stress in rats. J Ethnopharmacol. 79(2): 253-260.
- Vikram, N. K., Pandey, R. M., Misra, A., Sharma, R., Devi, J. R., and Khanna, N. (2003). Non-obese (body mass index < 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) Asian Indians with normal waist circumference have high cardiovascular risk. Nutrition. 19(6): 503-509.
- Villena, J. A., Roy, S., Sarkadi-Nagy, E., Kim, K. H., and Sul, H. S. (2004). Desnutrin, and adipocyte gene encoding a novel patatin domain-containing protein, is induced by fasting and glucocorticoids: ectopic expression of desnutrin increases triglyceride hydrolysis. J Biol Chem. 279: 47066-47075.
- Wang, H., Storlien, L. H., and Huang, X. F. (1999). Influence of dietary fats on c-Foslike immunoreactivity in mouse hypothalamus. Brain Res. 843(1-2): 184-192.
- Watanabe, K., Uchino, H., Ohmura, C., Tanaka, Y., Onuma, T., and Kawamori, R. (2004). Different effects of two α-glucosidase inhibitors, acarbose and voglibose, on serum 1, 5-anhydroglucitol (1, 5AG) level. J Diabetes Complications. 18(3): 183-186.
- Woods, S. C. (2004). Gastrointestinal satiety signals I. An overview of gastrointestinal signals that influence food intake. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 286(1): 7-13.
- Woods, S. C., and Seeley, R. J. (2002). Understanding the physiology of obesity: review of recent developments in obesity research. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 26(4): 8-10.

- Winkler, F. K., D'Arcy, A., and Hunziker, W. (1990). Structure of human pancreatic lipase. Nature. 343(6260): 771-774.
- Xin, X., Storlien, L. H., and Huang, X. F. (2000). Hypothalamic c-fos-like immunoreavtivity in high-fat diet-induced obese and resistant mice. Brain Res Bull. 52(4): 235-242.
- Xu, B., Goulding, E. H., Zang, K., Cepoi, D., Cone, R. D., Jones, K. R., Tecott, L. H., and Reichardt, L. F. (2003). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor regulates energy balance downstream of melanocortin-4 receptor. Nat Neurosci. 6(7): 736-742.
- Yamamoto, M., Shimura, S., Itoh, Y., Ohsaka, T., Egawa, M., and Inoue, S. (2000).
  Anti-obesity effects of lipase inhibitor CT-II, an extract from edible herbs,
  Nomame Herba, on rats fed a high-fat diet. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.
  24(6): 758-764.
- Yang, J. H., Della-Fera, M. A., Rayalam, S., Ambati, S., Hartzell, D. L., Park, H., and Balie, C. A. (2008). Enhanced inhibition of adipogenesis and induction of apoptosis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes with combinations of resveratrol and quercetin. Life Sci. 82(19-20): 1032-1039.
- Yoon, S. H., and Robyt, J. F. (2002). Addition of maltodextrins to the nonreducingend of acarbose by reaction of acarbose with cyclomaltohexaose and cyclomaltodextrin glucanyltransferase. **Carbohydr Res**. 337(6): 509-516.
- Yoshikawa, M., Shimoda, H., Nishida, N., Takada, M., and Matsuda, H. (2002). Salacia reticulata and its polyphenolic constituents with lipase inhibitory and lipolytic activities have mild antiobesity effects in rats. J Nutr. 132(7): 1819-1824.

- Zainol, M. K., Abd-Hamid, A., Yusof, S., and Muse, R. (2003). Antioxidative activity and total phenolic compounds of leaf, root and petiole of four accessions of *Centella asiatica* (L.) urban. Food Chem. 81(4): 575-581.
- Zechner, R., Strauss, J., Frank, S., Wagner, E., Hofmann, W., Kratky, D., Hiden, M., and Levak-Frank, S. (2000). The role of lipoprotein lipase in adipose tissue development and metabolism. **Int J Obes**. 24(4): 53-56.
- Zhang, J., Kang, M. J., Kim, M. J., Kim, M. E., Song, J. H., Lee, Y. M., and Kim, J. I. (2008). Pancreatic lipase inhibitory activity of *Taraxacum officinale in vitro* and *in vivo*. Nutr Res Pract. 2(4): 200-203.
- Zheng, C. D., Duan, Y. Q., Gao, J. M., and Ruan, Z. G. (2010). Screening for antilipase properties of 37 traditional Chinese medicinal herbs. J Chin Med Assoc. 73(6): 319-324.
- Zheng, C. J., and Qin, L. P. (2007). Chemical components of *Centella asiatica* and their bioactivities. J Chin Integr Med. 5(3): 348-351.
- Ziaee, A., Zamansoltani, F., Nassiri-Asl, M., and Abbasi, E. (2009). Effects of rutin on lipid profile in hypercholesterolaemic rats. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 104(3): 253-258.

#### **CHAPTER III**

### EFFECTS OF THE AQUEOUS ETHANOLIC EXTRACT OF CENTELLA ASIATICA ON PANCREATIC LIPASE ACTIVITY IN VITRO

#### **3.1 Abstract**

The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin on porcine pancreatic lipase activity *in vitro*. Orlistat was used as a positive control since orlistat has a strong inhibitory porcine pancreatic lipase activity. Total phenolic and rutin contents were determined by using Folin-Ciocalteu reagent method and high performance liquid chromatography, respectively. *C. asiatica* was extracted by 80% ethanol which had a yield of 11.81%. Total phenolic content of extract was 97.75  $\pm$  0.01 mg gallic acid/g dry extract. The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* contained 1.27  $\pm$  5.5 g/kg dry weight of plant. The inhibition of porcine pancreatic lipase activities of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin, at concentrations of 1.19 to 76.16 mg/ml, were measured by titrimetric method using triolein as a substrate. The concentrations of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin required to inhibit 50% of pancreatic lipase activity (IC<sub>50</sub>) were 25.03  $\pm$  0.05 and 48.05  $\pm$  0.08 mg/ml, respectively. At the concentration of 9.52 mg/ml, orlistat exhibited a strong inhibition on pancreatic lipase activity (75.47%), while the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin could inhibit 35.63% and 37.24% of porcine pancreatic lipase activity, respectively. At a concentration of 76.16 mg/ml of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin had no significant the inhibitory pancreatic lipase activities when compared with orlistat (9.52 mg/ml). The inhibitory pancreatic lipase activities of the aqueous extract of *C. asiatica* was less potent than rutin and orlistat in the present study. Pancreatic lipase inhibitory activity of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin could inhibit digestion and absorption of fat. The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* may be replaced orlistat on inhibitory lipase enzyme. Rutin may be responsible for inhibitory pancreatic lipase activity of *C. asiatica*. Further investigation is needed to focus on the effect of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* on reduction of postprandial triglyceride levels *in vivo*.

#### **3.2 Introduction**

Obesity is characterized by the excessive accumulation of body fat that may impair health such as coronary heart disease, dyslipidemia, glucose intolerance, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and some cancers (Hu *et al.*, 2008). The cause of obesity is an energy imbalance between calorie intake and energy expenditure. Thus, the inhibitory of digestion and absorption of dietary fat can be useful in treatment of obesity (Zhang *et al.*, 2008). Many studies have been reported that increased intake of foods with high energy and dietary fat content can promote body fat storage which increase a calorie intake and body weight in rats (Hu *et al.*, 2008; Uchiyama *et al.*, 2011; Yang *et al.*, 2010; Yoshikawa *et al.*, 2002). Lipases are enzymes that digest fats, including triacylglycerol, and phospholipids. The human lipases include the pre-duodenal (lingual and gastric) and the extra-duodenal (pancreatic, hepatic, lipoprotein, and the endothelial) lipases (Manjari, 2003). Lipase inhibition is one of the most widely management obesity. Nowadays, orlistat is drug for obesity treatment which has been shown to inhibit activity of lipases (Jandacek and Woods, 2004). However, orlistat has certain unpleasant gastrointestinal side effects like oily stools, oily spotting, and flatulence others (Birari and Bhutani, 2007). Many studies showed pancreatic lipase inhibitory activity natural products, including plant materials, that can be alternative anti-obesity agents (Sharma, Sharma, and Seo, 2005; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2000; Yoshikawa *et al.*, 2002; Zhang *et al.*, 2008; Zheng *et al.*, 2010).

Adisakwattana *et al.* (2012) demonstrated the aqueous extract of *C. asiatica* could suppress an increase of postprandial triglyceride and cholesterol levels by inhibitory pancreatic lipase and cholesterol esterase *in vitro. C. asiatica* was reported to contain flavonoids such as catechin, quercetin, and rutin (Hussin *et al.*, 2009; Zainol *et al.*, 2003). Especially, rutin (3, 3', 4', 5, 7-pentahydroxyflavone-3-rhamnoglucoside) is flavonoids of the flavonol type which possess pancreatic lipase inhibitory activity (Zheng *et al.*, 2010), and anti-cholesteremic activity (Ziaee *et al.*, 2009). Rutin alone or in combination with lovastatin (hypolipidemic agent) mixed in a high-cholesterol diet significantly reduced the level of plasma cholesterol and low density cholesterol diet (Ziaee *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, the addition of rutin or *0*-coumaric acid to the diet could decrease body weight gain, liver weight, adipose tissue weight, triglyceride (TG), phospholipid, total cholesterol (TC), insulin, and leptin in high fat diet-induced obese rats (Hsu *et al.*, 2009).

However, the effect of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* on pancreatic lipase activity has not yet been examined. Therefore, the present study was investigated the effects of aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin on pancreatic lipase inhibitory activity *in vitro*.

#### **3.3 Materials and methods**

#### 3.3.1 Plant material

*C. asiatica (Centella asiatica)* plant were obtained from local market in Nakhon Ratchasima province during June-August 2010.

#### **3.3.2 Preparation of plant extract**

Edible parts of *C. asiatica* (10 kg) were washed with copious amounts of water and allowed to air dry at room temperature for 2 to 3 h. The plant was then cut into small thin pieces and dried in hot air oven at 40 to 45 °C for 2 days. The dried thin pieces of plant were powdered using an electric mill with a 1 mm mesh. The dried powder was extracted by maceration method with 80% aqueous ethanol (100 g dried powder/ 500 ml of 80% aqueous ethanolic solution) for 7 days in the dark at room temperature. The obtained suspension was filtered through No.1 Whatman filter paper (Whatman Internation Ltd., Maidstone, England). The filtrate was collected, concentrated using a rotary evaporator (Rotavapor<sup>®</sup> model R-205, Buchi, Switzerland) and then converted into crude extract by freeze dryer (Labconco Corporation Ltd., Missouri, USA). The obtained crude extract (11.81 g) was stored at -20 °C until further used and the weight percentage yield was determined. This stock extract was used in all experiments performed in this study.

#### 3.3.3 Determination of plant extract yield

The yield of evaporated dried extracts based on dry weight basis was calculated from the following equation (Stanojevic *et al.*, 2009):

where  $W_1$  was the weight of the extract after the solvent evaporation and  $W_2$  was the weight of the dry plant material.

#### **3.3.4 Determination of total phenolic contents**

The total phenolic compounds of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* were measured according to the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent method that was adapted from the method of Minussi *et al.* (2003). Briefly, the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* was dissolved in 10% ethanol. The reaction mixtures consisted of aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* solution (200  $\mu$ l) and 4 ml of 2% sodium carbonate (Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, BDH Ltd., UK) and were mixed. Two minutes later, 200  $\mu$ l of Folin-Ciocalteu reagent was added and incubated at room temperature for 30 min. The mixtures were measured absorbance by using a spectrophotometer (CECIL 1011, England) at 750 nm. The total phenolic compounds were expressed as gallic acid equivalents (GAE) in milligrams per gram of dry extract. All determinations were performed in triplicate.

3.3.5 Analysis of rutin by high performance liquid chromotrography (HPLC)

The method was adapted from the method of Zu *et al.* (2006). The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* was dissolved in the mobile phase. The mobile phase was methanol-acetonitrile-water (40: 15: 45, V/V/V) containing 1.0% of acetic acid. This mobile phase was filtered through a 0.45  $\mu$ m membrane filter (Millipore, USA). Standard stock solution of rutin was prepared in ethanol at the concentration of 0.280 mg/ml. Standard solution was filtered through a 0.45  $\mu$ m membrane filter. Flow rate and injection volume were 0.25 ml/min and 10  $\mu$ l, respectively. Chromatographic analysis was carried out by C18 reversed-phase column (4.0 mm × 100 mm, Agilent Technologies Company, USA). The chromatographic system consisted of system software (Agilent Technology Company, USA). Rutin was quantified by HPLC at 257 nm. The chromatographic peaks of the analysis were confirmed by comparing their retention time and UV spectra with the reference standard. This experiment was carried out at ambient temperature.

#### 3.3.6 Chemicals

Porcine pancreatic lipase enzyme, glyceryl trioleate (grade  $\geq$  99%), rutin trihydrate were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, USA) and orlistat (Xenical) was purchased from Roche Ltd. All other chemicals were reagent grade.

#### **3.3.6.1** Materials of porcine pancreatic lipase activity

#### <u>1 M Phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4)</u>

1 M Phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4) was prepared by adding 10.65 g of di-sodium hydrogen phosphate anhydrous (Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>; BDH Ltd., UK) and 3.968 g of sodium dihydrogen orthophosphate 1-hydrate (NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>.H<sub>2</sub>O; BDH) to 80 ml of double deionized distilled (DDD) water. This solution was stirred on a hot plate magnetic stirrer (VELP Scientifica, Europe) at 50 to 60  $^{\circ}$ C for 1 h, left to be cool

down to room temperature and then adjusted volume to 100 ml with DDD water in a volumetric flask. This solution was adjusted to pH 7.4 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH.

#### Porcine pancreatic lipase enzyme solution

Porcine pancreatic lipase enzyme solution (3.33% w/v) was prepared by mixing 0.5 g of porcine pancreatic solution (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) in 15 ml of 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 8.0). This enzyme solution was prepared in ice-cold 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 8.0).

#### 1% (v/v) Triolein in Tween 40 suspension

1% (v/v) Triolein in Tween 40 suspension was prepared by adding 1 ml of glyceryl trioleate (Sigma) to 99 ml Tween 40 (Sigma) and then sonicated by using ultrasonic processor (Sonics Vibra Cell<sup>TM</sup>, model VCX 750, Sonics and Materials Inc., New Town, USA) at 40 W for 3 min.

#### 50 mM Phosphate buffer (pH 8.0)

50 mM Phosphate buffer (pH 8.0) was prepared by adding 5 ml of 1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) in 90 ml of DDD water. This solution was adjusted volume to 100 ml with DDD water in volumetric flask. This solution was then adjusted to pH 8.0 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH.

#### 95% Ethanol solution

95% Ethanol solution was prepared by adding 5 ml of ethanol to 95 ml of DDD water.

#### 0.025 N Sodium hydroxide solution

Sodium hydroxide solution (0.025 N) was prepared by mixing 1 g of sodium hydroxide anhydrous pellets (NaOH, Carlo Erba Reagents) in 1000 ml of DDD water.

# 3.3.7 *In vitro* assay for measuring the inhibition of porcine pancreatic lipase enzyme

Lipase activity was determined by measuring the release rate of oleic acid from triolein using titrimetric method that was adapted from the method of Wrolstad et al. (2005). The amount of oleic acid released during the reaction was determined by direct titration with NaOH to a phenolphthalein end point. Briefly, C. asiatica extract and rutin were dissolved in DDD water to give concentrations ranging from 1.19 to 76.16 mg/ml. Orlistat (Xenical, Roche Diagnostics GmbH., Germany) dissolved in DDD water (9.52 mg/ml) was used as positive control. The reaction mixtures contained each concentration of 2.5 ml of aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica, rutin, or orlistat, 3 ml of 1% Triolein in Tween 40, and 1 ml of 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 8.0). The mixtures were swirled and incubated in water bath (model WB-22, WiseBath, Korea) at 37 °C for 30 min. After that, 1 ml of 3.33% (w/v) porcine pancreatic lipase enzyme was added to the mixtures. The mixtures were then incubated in water bath at 37 °C for 1 h. The reaction was stopped by adding 3 ml of 95% ethanol solution and 2 to 3 drops of phenolphthalein indicator (Sigma, St. Louis, USA). Titration was performed with 0.025 N sodium hydroxide solution using burette and pH meter (model C830, Consort, Belgium) until a light pink color appeared. Individual control (A) and blank (a) were conducted in a similar way by replacing the

sample with 2.5 ml of DDD water, with or without porcine pancreatic lipase enzyme, respectively. Individual test 1 (B) and test 2 (b) were prepared as mentioned above with or without porcine pancreatic lipase enzyme, respectively. Blank (a) and test 2 (b) without porcine pancreatic lipase enzyme solution were replaced by 1 ml of phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH 8.0). All determinations were performed in triplicate. The inhibition percentage of porcine pancreatic lipase enzyme activity was assessed by following formula:

Inhibition (%) = 
$$\left(\frac{(A-a) - (B-b)}{(A-a)}\right) \times 100$$

where: A and B were the volume of NaOH used to reach the titration end point of control and sample with porcine pancreatic lipase enzyme, respectively.a and b were the volume of NaOH used to reach the titration end point of blank and sample without porcine pancreatic lipase enzyme, respectively.

# 3.4 Statistical analysis

All the analyses were carried out in triplicate and the results were expressed in mean  $\pm$  standard error of mean (S.E.M). The difference between rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* within the same concentrations and the difference between orlistat and rutin or the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* were analyzed using one-way ANOVA following by the Tukey test (Sigmastat version 3.5). *P*-value less than 0.05 (*P*<0.05) was considered statistically significant.

#### **3.5 Results**

The percent yield of C. asiatica extracted by 80% aqueous ethanol was 11.81%. Total phenolic content of extract was 97.75  $\pm$  0.01 mg gallic acid/g dry extract. The aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica contained  $1.27 \pm 5.5$  g/kg dry weight of plants (Table 3.1). The inhibitory activities of the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin against porcine pancreatic lipase were shown in Figure 3.1. The results in Table 3.2 showed the  $IC_{50}$  values of rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica on pancreatic lipase activities  $(25.33 \pm 0.05 \text{ and } 48.05 \pm 0.08)$ mg/ml, respectively). The concentrations ranging from 1.19 to 76.16 mg/ml, the *C. asiatica* and rutin had dose-dependent on inhibitory aqueous ethanolic extract of porcine pancreatic lipase activities. No significant different between the inhibitory pancreatic lipase activities of the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin showed at the concentrations ranging from 1.19 to 19.04 mg/ml. At a concentration of 9.52 mg/ml, orlistat was significantly higher the inhibition on porcine pancreatic lipase activity (75.47%), while rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica had 37.24% and 35.63% of the inhibition porcine pancreatic lipase activities, respectively. At the concentration of 38.08 mg/ml, the percent inhibitory pancreatic lipase activity of rutin was significantly higher than that of the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica. At a concentration of 76.16 mg/ml, there was no significant difference between rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica on the inhibitory pancreatic lipase activities. At this concentration, both the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin had no significant difference on inhibitory pancreatic lipase activities when compared with orlistat (9.52 mg/ml).

Parameters	Mean + S.E.M.	-
i urumeters		_
Yield (%) dried plant	11.81%	
Total phenolic content (mg gallic acid/g dry extract)	$97.75 \pm 0.01$	
Rutin (g/kg dry weight of dry plant)	$1.27 \pm 5.5$	

**Table 3.1** The percent yield, total phenolic content, and rutin levels of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica*.



**Figure 3.1** Inhibitory effects of rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* on porcine pancreatic lipase activity *in vitro*. The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of three independent experiments. a, *P*<0.01 compared to orlistat on inhibition of pancreatic lipase enzyme. b, *P*<0.05 compared to rutin on inhibition of pancreatic lipase enzyme at the same concentration.

Samples	IC <sub>50</sub> (mg/ml)
Rutin	$25.03\pm0.05$
The aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica	$48.05\pm0.08$

**Table 3.2** The IC<sub>50</sub> values for rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* onpancreatic lipase enzyme activities.

Concentration of samples to inhibit 50% of its activity (IC<sub>50</sub>)

#### **3.6 Discussion and conclusion**

One of the most important strategies for prevention of obesity is inhibition of fat digestive enzyme (lipase) and absorption of dietary fat (Zhang *et al.*, 2008). Pancreatic lipase is the key enzyme for dietary fat digestion and the inhibition of this enzyme could be an effective way to alter fat absorption (Tucci, Boyland, and Halford, 2010). Orlistat, the anti-obesity drug, as expected, had a strong inhibitory effects against lipase enzyme activity since a potent inhibitor of gastric, pancreatic, and carboxylester lipase (Sharma *et al.*, 2005) that inhibited the absorption of fat and promote excretion of ingested fat leading to weight loss (Shi *et al.*, 2005). In fact, orlistat has undesirable side effects such as fecal incontinence, flatulence, and steatorrhea (Birari and Bhutani, 2007; Jandacek *et al.*, 2007). There was safer alternative to orlistat for anti-obesity from medicinal plants that could restrict pancreatic lipase activity such as grape seed extract (Moreno *et al.*, 2003), *Nelumbo nucifera* extract (Ono *et al.*, 2006), peanut shell extract (Moreno *et al.*, 2006), oolong tea (Han *et al.*, 1999), and *Dioscorea nipponica* Makino (Kwon *et al.*, 2003).

This present study demonstrated that the percentage yield and total phenolic content of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* was 11.81% and 97.75  $\pm$  0.01

mg gallic acid/g dry extract, respectively. Lee *et al.* (2011) showed that the ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* gave 2.48% yield and total phenolic content of the extract was  $31.58 \pm 3.08$  mg gallic acid/g dry extract. The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* contained  $1.27 \pm 5.5$  g/kg dry of rutin in the present study while the previous study exhibited that the methanolic extract of *C. asiatica* contained  $1.14 \pm 7.7$  g/kg dry plant (Hussin *et al.*, 2009). Phenolic compounds (flavonoids, terpenoids, and phenolic acids) are secondary metabolites in plants which have beneficial effects in preventing obesity since the inhibition of lipase activity (Birari and Bhutani, 2007; Sergent *et al.*, 2012; Zheng *et al.*, 2010) and the reduction of TG and TC levels (Santos *et al.*, 1999). Especially, rutin has anti-obesity effects due to reduce the levels of TG, TC, and LDL (Santos *et al.*, 1999; Ziaee *et al.*, 2009), inhibit of lipase activity (Zheng *et al.*, 2010), and reduce lipid accumulation in hepatic cells (Wu *et al.*, 2011).

Adisakwattana *et al.* (2012) showed that the aqueous extract of *C. asiatica* could inhibit pancreatic lipase activity ( $IC_{50} = 0.12 \pm 0.01 \text{ mg/ml}$ ) using colorimetric method *in vitro*. The present study revealed provide the first evidence for the inhibition of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* on porcine pancreatic lipase activity ( $IC_{50} = 48.05 \pm 0.08 \text{ mg/ml}$ ) using the titrimetric method *in vitro*. The present study found that the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* was less potent inhibition of pancreatic lipase than the study of Adisakwattana *et al.* (2012). Orlistat was reported to inhibit porcine pancreatic lipase activity by 95.7% at a concentration of 250 µg/ml using the colorimetric method (Zhang *et al.*, 2008). In the present study, orlistat at a concentration of 40 mg/ml could inhibit pancreatic lipase activity by 75.45% using titrimetric method. At the same concentration, the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin were less potent than orlistat on inhibitory porcine

pancreatic lipase activity. The application of rutin at a concentration of 100  $\mu$ g/ml could suppress porcine pancreatic lipase activity (30.8%) using colorimetric method (Zheng *et al.*, 2010). The results from this study suggested that the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* may be an alternative medicinal plant to orlistat which has side effects such as oily stools, oily spotting, and flatulence others (Birari and Bhutani, 2007). The present findings suggested that the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin could supress fat digestion and absorption by inhibitory pancreatic lipase activity.

In conclusion, the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* had a potential to be used as lipase inhibitor agent due to its ability to inhibit pancreatic lipase activity. Rutin might be the active compound that was responsible for the inhibitory activity against pancreatic lipase of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica*. Further investigation is needed to study mechanisms of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* on hypertriglyceridemia *in vivo*.

#### **3.7 References**

# Adisakwattana, S., Intrawangso, J., Hemrid, A., Chanathong, B., and Makynen, K. (2012). Extracts of edible plants inhibit pancreatic lipase, cholesterol esterase and cholesterol micellization, and bind bile acids. Food Technol Biotechnol. 50(1): 11-16.

รัการักยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรบ

Babu, T. D., Kuttan, G., and Padikkala, J. (1995). Cytotoxic and anti-tumour properties of certain taxa of Umbelliferae with special reference to *Centella asiatica* (L.) Urban. J Ethnopharmacol. 48(1): 53-57.

- Birari, R. B., and Bhutani, K. K. (2007). Pancreatic lipase inhibitors from natural sources: unexplored potential. Drug Discov Today. 12(19-20): 879-889.
- Chan, P. T., Fong, W. P., Cheung, Y. L., Huang, Y., Ho, W. K., and Chen, Z. Y. (1999). Jasmine green tea epicatechins are hypolipidemic in hamsters (*Mesocricetus auratus*) fed a high fat diet. J Nutr. 129(6): 1094-1101.
- Cheng, C. L., Guo, J. S., Luk, J., and Koo, M. W. L. (2004). The healing effects of *Centella* extract and asiaticoside on acetic acid induced gastric ulcers in rats. Life Sci. 74(18): 2237-2249.
- Feng, L. J., Yu, C. H., Ying, K. J., Hua, J., and Dai, X. Y. (2011). Hypolipidemic and antioxidant effects of total flavonoids of *Perilla frutescens* leaves in hyperlipidemia rats induced by high-fat diet. Food Res Int. 44(1): 404-409.
- Gnanapragasam, A., Kumar Ebenezar, K., Sathish, V., Govindaraju, P., and Devaki, T. (2004). Protective effect of *Centella asiatica* on antioxidant tissue defense system against adriamycin induced cardiomyopathy in rats. Life Sci. 76(5): 585-597.
- Haleagrahara, N., and Ponnusamy, K. (2010). Neuroprotective effect of *Centella asiatica* extract (CAE) on experimentally induced parkinsonism in aged Sprague-Dawley rats. J Toxicol Sci. 35(1): 41-47.
- Han, L. K., Takaku, T., Li, J., Kimura, Y., and Okuda, H. (1999). Anti-obesity action of oolong tea. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 23(1): 98-105.
- Hsu, C. L., Wu, C. H., Huang, S. L., and Yen, G. C. (2009). Phenolic compounds rutin and *o*-coumaric acid ameliorate obesity induced by high-fat diet in rats. J Agric Food Chem. 57(2): 425-431.

- Hu, J. N., Zhu, X. M., Han, L. K., Saito, M., Sun, Y. S., Yoshikawa, M., Kimura, Y., and Zheng, Y. N. (2008). Anti-obesity effects of escins extracted from the seeds of *Aesculus turbinata* BLUME (Hippocastanaceae). Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo). 56(1): 12-16.
- Hussin, M., Hamid, A. A., Mohamad, S., Saari, N., Bakar, F., and Dek, S. P. (2009).
  Modulation of lipid metabolism by *Centella asiatica* in oxidative stress rats. J
  Food Sci. 74(2): 72-78.
- Jandacek, R. J., and Woods, S. C. (2004). Pharmaceutical approaches to the treatment of obesity. **Drug Discov Today**. 9(20): 874-880.
- Jayashree, G., Kurup Muraleedhara, G., Sudarslal, S., and Jacob, V. B. (2003). Antioxidant activity of *Centella asiatica* on lymphoma-bearing mice. Fitoterapia. 74(5): 431-434.
- Kuntic, V., Pejic, N., Ivkovic, B., Vujic, Z., Ilic, K., Micic, S., and Vukojević, V. (2007). Isocratic RP-HPLC method for rutin determination in solid oral dosage forms. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 43(2): 718-721.
- Lee, T. K., and Vairappon, C. S. (2011). Antioxidant, antibacterial and cytotoxic activities of essential oils and ethanol extracts of selected South East Asian herbs. J Med Plant Res. 5(21): 5284-5290.
- Manjari, M. (2003). Human digestive and metabolic lipases-a brief review. J Mol Catal B Enzym. 22(5–6): 369-376.
- Minussi, R. C., Rossi, M., Bologna, L., Cordib, L., Rotilioc, D., Pastorea, G. M., and Durán, N. (2003). Phenolic compounds and total antioxidant potential of commercial wines. Food Chem. 82(3): 409-416.

- Moreno, D. A., Ilic, N., Poulev, A., Brasaemle, D. L., Fried, S. K., and Raskin, I. (2003). Inhibitory effects of grape seed extract on lipases. **Nutrition**. 19(10): 876-879.
- Moreno, D. A., Ilic, N., Poulev, A., and Raskin, I. (2006). Effects of *Arachis hypogaea* nutshell extract on lipid metabolic enzymes and obesity parameters.
  Life Sci. 78(24): 2797-2803.
- Ono, Y., Hattori, E., Fukaya, Y., Imai, S., and Ohizumi, Y. (2006). Anti-obesity effect of *Nelumbo nucifera* leaves extract in mice and rats. J Ethnopharmacol. 106(2): 238-244.
- Ramanathan, M., Sivakumar, S., Anandvijayakumar, P. R., Saravanababu, C., and Pandian, P. R. (2007). Neuroprotective evaluation of standardized extract of *Centella asciatica* in monosodium glutamate treated rats. Indian J Exp Biol. 45(5): 425-431.
- Santos, K. F., Oliveira, T. T., Nagem, T. J., Pinto, A. S., and Oliveira, M. G. (1999). Hypolipidaemic effects of naringenin, rutin, nicotinic acid and their associations. **Pharmacol Res**. 40(6): 493-496.
- Sergent, T., Vanderstraeten, J., Winand, J., Beguin, P., and Schneider, Y. J. (2012). Phenolic compounds and plant extracts as potential natural anti-obesity substances. Food Chem. 135(1): 68-73.
- Sharma, N., Sharma, V. K., and Seo, S. Y. (2005). Screening of some medicinal plants for anti-lipase activity. **J Ethnopharmacol**. 97(3): 453-456.
- Shi, Y. F., Pan, C. Y., Hill, J., and Gao, Y. (2005). Orlistat in the treatment of overweight or obese Chinese patients with newly diagnosed Type 2 diabetes.
  Diabet Med. 22(12): 1737-1743.

- Shukla, A., Rasik, A. M., Jain, G. K., Shankar, R., Kulshrestha, D. K., and Dhawan,
  B. N. (1999). *In vitro* and *in vivo* wound healing activity of asiaticoside isolated from *Centella asiatica*. J Ethnopharmacol. 65(1): 1-11.
- Stanojevic, L., Stankovic, M., Nikolic, V., Nikolic, L., Ristic, D., Canadanovic-Brunet, J., and Tumbus, V. (2009). Antioxidant activity and total phenolic and flavonoid contents of *Hieracium pilosella* L. extracts. Sensor. 9(7): 5702-5714.
- Tucci, S. A., Boyland, E. J., and Halford, J. C. (2010). The role of lipid and carbohydrate digestive enzyme inhibitors in the management of obesity: a review of current and emerging therapeutic agents. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 3: 125-143.
- Uchiyama, S., Taniguchi, Y., Saka, A., Yoshida, A., and Yajima, H. (2011). Prevention of diet-induced obesity by dietary black tea polyphenols extract *in vitro* and *in vivo*. **Nutrition**. 27(3): 287-292.
- Wrolstad, R. E., Decker, E. A., Schwartz, S. J., and Sporns, P. (2005). Handbook of food analytical chemistry, water, proteins, enzymes, lipids, and carbohydrates: New Jersey: John Wiley and Sons.
- Wu, C. H., Lin, M. C., Wang, H. C., Yang, M. Y., Jou, M. J., and Wang, C. J. (2011).
  Rutin inhibits oleic acid induced lipid accumulation via reducing lipogenesis and oxidative stress in hepatocarcinoma cells. J Food Sci. 76(2): 65-72.
- Yamamoto, M., Shimura, S., Itoh, Y., Ohsaka, T., Egawa, M., and Inoue, S. (2000).
  Anti-obesity effects of lipase inhibitor CT-II, an extract from edible herbs,
  Nomame Herba, on rats fed a high-fat diet. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.
  24(6): 758-764.

- Yang, D. J., Chang, Y. Y., Hsu, C. L., Liu, C. W., Lin, Y. L., Lin, Y. H., Liu, K. C., and Chen, Y. C. (2010). Antiobesity and hypolipidemic effects of polyphenolrich longan (*Dimocarpus longans* Lour.) flower water extract in hypercaloricdietary rats. J Agric Food Chem. 58(3): 2020-2027.
- Yoshikawa, M., Shimoda, H., Nishida, N., Takada, M., and Matsuda, H. (2002). Salacia reticulata and its polyphenolic constituents with lipase inhibitory and lipolytic activities have mild antiobesity effects in rats. J Nutr. 132(7): 1819-1824.
- Zainol, M. K., Abd-Hamid, A., Yusof, S., and Muse, R. (2003). Antioxidative activity and total phenolic compounds of leaf, root and petiole of four accessions of Centella asiatica (L.) Urban. **Food Chem**. 81(4): 575-581.
- Zhang, J., Kang, M. J., Kim, M. J., Kim, M. E., Song, J. H., Lee, Y. M., and Kim, J. I. (2008). Pancreatic lipase inhibitory activity of *Taraxacum officinale in vitro* and *in vivo*. Nutr Res Pract. 2(4): 200-203.
- Zheng, C. D., Duan, Y. Q., Gao, J. M., and Ruan, Z. G. (2010). Screening for Antilipase Properties of 37 Traditional Chinese Medicinal Herbs. J Chin Med Assoc. 73(6): 319-324.
- Ziaee, A., Zamansoltani, F., Nassiri-Asl, M., and Abbasi, E. (2009). Effects of rutin on lipid profile in hypercholesterolaemic rats. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 104(3): 253-258.
- Zu, Y., Li, C., Fu, Y., and Zhao, C. (2006). Simultaneous determination of catechin, rutin, quercetin kaempferol and isorhamnetin in the extract of sea buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides* L.) leaves by RP-HPLC with DAD. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 41(3): 714-719.

#### **CHAPTER IV**

## EFFECTS OF THE AQUEOUS ETHANOLIC EXTRACT OF CENTELLA ASIATICA ON PANCREATIC ALPHA-AMYLASE AND ALPHA-GLUCOSIDASE ACTIVITIES IN VITRO

#### 4.1 Abstract

Obesity increases risk for many disorders that are associated with high mortality and morbidity, especially diabetes that have abnormal high blood sugar level (hyperglycemia). The one possibility of lowering postprandial glucose level is the inhibition of alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase activities which leads to decrease carbohydrate digestion and absorption. There has been an enormous interest in the development of alternative medicines for type 2 diabetes mellitus, specifically screening for phytochemicals with the ability to delay or prevent glucose absorption. *Centella asiatica (C. asiatica)* is a medicinal plant and consists of active compounds such as rutin and quercetin which can suppress the level of blood glucose. Therefore, the aim of study was to investigate the inhibitory effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract from *C. asiatica* on pancreatic alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase activities. The concentrations of the

aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin required to inhibit 50% of alphaamylase activity ( $IC_{50}$ ) were 2.14 and 1.53 mg/ml, respectively. The concentrations of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin required to inhibit 50% of alphaglucosidase activity ( $IC_{50}$ ) were 0.02 and 0.081 mg/ml, respectively. Inhibition of pancreatic alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase activities delay carbohydrate digestion and glucose absorption causing reduction of blood glucose levels (hypoglycemia). Hence, the aqueous ethanolic of *C. asiatica* extract and rutin may exert their hypoglycemic effect by pancreatic alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibition activities. Rutin may be responsible for their anti-diabetic action the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica*. Further investigation is needed to clarify the effect of aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* on reduction of postprandial hyperglycemia *in vivo*.

#### **4.2 Introduction**

Obesity is associated with insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia which can develop type 2 diabetes mellitus (Weyer *et al.*, 2001). Impairment multiple biochemical mechanisms are associated with micro- and macrovascular complications which are major causes of morbidity and death in diabetes mellitus (Berger, Stenstrom, and Sundkvist, 1999). Anti-diabetic drugs that can control blood sugar level such as acarbose, miglitol, and voglibose are commonly used for treatment of diabetes mellitus (Kim *et al.*, 2005). However, the modern medicines available for management of diabetes have serious side effects such as hepatotoxicity, abdominal pain, flatulence, and diarrhea (Fujisawa *et al.*, 2005; Singh *et al.*, 2008). After prolonged treatment, drug resistance to these medicines has been reported. Many medicinal plants have been recommended for diabetic treatment (Grover, Yadav, and Vats, 2002). Traditional herbal medicines have been widely used throughout the world for a range of diabetes (Odhav *et al.*, 2010).

Diabetes mellitus is a metabolic disorder characterized by high blood glucose level resulting from defects in insulin production, insulin action, or both. One therapeutic approach for treating diabetes mellitus is to decrease the postprandial hyperglycemia. In particular, inhibition of alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase emzyme activities involved in the digestion of carbohydrate can decrease the postprandial increase of blood glucose after a mixed carbohydrates diet which is the important strategy in the management of postprandial blood glucose level in type 2 diabetes mellitus (Ali, Houghton, and Soumyanath, 2006; Lee et al., 2007). An anti-diabetic drug, acarbose is a pseudotetrasaccharide that inhibits intestinal alpha-glucosidase reversibly at the brush border of intestinal mucosa. Consequently, the transformation of disaccharides to monosaccharides is prevented. The uptake of monosaccharides is retarded and thus postprandial insulin and glucose levels are reduced (Hillebrand et al., 1979). Currently, there are renewed interest in functional foods and medicinal plants modulating physiological effects in the prevention and treatment of diabetes and obesity. Numerous studies demonstrated alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activities of many plant extracts such as cranberry (Apostolidis, Kwon, and Shetty, 2006), Andrographis paniculata (Subramanian, Asmawi, and Sadikun, 2008), Carica papaya, Manihot esculenta, Cosmos caudatus, and Centella asiatica (Loh and Hadira, 2011) in vitro. Natural alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitors from plant sources offer an attractive strategy for the control of postprandial hyperglycemia such as Gnidia glauca and Dioscorea bulbifera
(Ghosh *et al.*, 2012), *Punica granatum* (Li *et al.*, 2005), *Acorus calamus* (Si *et al.*, 2010), and pine bark extract (Kim *et al.*, 2005).

*Centella asiatica* (*C. asiatica*) is a medicinal plant in tropical and subtropical countries that possess antioxidant, anticancer, hypotensive effects, wound healing, antigastric ulcer activities, and memory improvement (Zheng and Qin, 2007). *C. asiatica* contains active compounds such as triterpenoids (James and Dubery, 2009), and flavonoids (rutin, quercetin, catechin, naringin, luteolin, and keampherol) (Zainol *et al.*, 2009). Rutin is a flavonoid glycoside that is synthesized in plants (Vogrincic *et al.*, 2010). Rutin is capable of inhibition of alpha-amylase (Kim, Kwon, and Son, 2000) and alpha-glucosidase activities (Li *et al.*, 2009). In *in vitro* study, rutin could inhibit pancreatic alpha-amylase activity but could not suppress alpha-glucosidase activity (Kim *et al.*, 2000). Rutin could inhibit alpha-glucosidase activity but could not suppress and tartary buckwheat had alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activities (Li *et al.*, 2009; Ye *et al.*, 2010). In *in vivo* study, glucose tolerance was also significantly improved in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats treated with rutin (Rauter *et al.*, 2010).

There were many reports of alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activities of *C. asiatica* extract *in vitro*. The hexane and dichloromethane extract of *C. asiatica* could inhibit alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase activities *in vitro* (Loh *et al.*, 2011). The aqueous extract of *C. asiatica* could inhibit alpha-amylase activity (Odhav *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, the aqueous and methanolic extracts of *C. asiatica* had alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activity (Mai *et al.*, 2007). However, the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* on alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory

activities has never been demonstrated. Therefore, the present study aimed to investigate the effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin on pancreatic alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase activities *in vitro*.

## 4.3 Materials and methods

#### **4.3.1 Plant material**

The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* obtained from stock extract in chapter III was used in the experiments conducted in this chapter.

#### 4.3.2 Chemicals

Porcine pancreatic alpha-amylase (500 KU), yeast alpha-glucosidase (28 U/mg protein), dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS), L-glutathione, 4-nitrophenyl-alpha-D-glucopyranoside (PNPG) and rutin trihydrate were purchased from Sigma Aldrich Chemical Ltd. (St. Louis, USA). Potato starch was purchased from Carlo Erba Ltd. (Italy). Acarbose (Glucobay) was purchased from Bayer Ltd. (USA). All other chemicals were of reagent grade.

4.3.3 Materials for determination of pancreatic alpha-amylase enzyme activity

#### <u>1 M Phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4)</u>

1 M Phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4) was prepared by adding 10.65 g of di-sodium hydrogen phosphate anhydrous (Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>; BDH Ltd., UK) and 3.968 g of sodium dihydrogen orthophosphate 1-hydrate (NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>.H<sub>2</sub>O; BDH) to 80 ml of double deionized distilled (DDD) water. This solution was stirred on a hot plate magnetic stirrer (VELP Scientifica, Europe) at 50-60 °C for 1 h, left to be cool down to room temperature and then adjusted volume to 100 ml with DDD water in a volumetric flask. This solution was adjusted to pH 7.4 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH.

## 20 mM Sodium phosphate buffer (pH 6.9) containing 6.7 mM sodium

## <u>chloride</u>

Sodium phosphate buffer (20 mM) was prepared by adding 0.0392 g of sodium chloride (Sigma) to 2 ml of 1 M PB (pH 7.4) and then added 98 ml of DDD water. This solution was then adjusted volume to 100 ml with DDD water in a volumetric flask and then adjusted to pH 6.9 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH.

#### Alpha-amylase enzyme solution

Alpha-amylase enzyme solution (0.01% w/v) was prepared by adding 0.01 g of porcine pancreatic alpha-amylase (Type VI-B, 500 KU; Sigma) to 100 ml of ice-cold 20 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 6.9) containing 6.7 mM sodium chloride.

## Starch solution

Starch solution (1% w/v) was prepared by boiling and stirring 1 g of potato starch (Carlo Erba Reagents) in 60 ml of DDD water for 15 min. This solution was adjusted volume to 100 ml with DDD water in volumetric flask.

#### 2 M Sodium hydroxide

Sodium hydroxide (2 M) was prepared by mixing 8 g of sodium hydroxide (NaOH; Carlo Erba Reagents) with 90 ml of DDD water. This solution was adjusted volume to 100 ml with DDD water in a volumetric flask.

#### 96 mM 3, 5-Dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS)

3, 5-Dinitrosalicylic acid (96 mM) was prepared by mixing 0.438 g of DNS ( $C_7H_4N_2O_7$ ; Sigma) with 20 ml of DDD water.

#### Color reagent solution

Color reagent solution was prepared by mixing 12 g of potassium sodium tartrate tetrahydrate (KNaC<sub>4</sub>H<sub>4</sub>O<sub>6</sub>. 4H<sub>2</sub>O; Sigma) with 8 ml of sodium hydroxide (2 M) and then added 20 ml of 96 mM DNS. This solution was prepared by using hot plate magnetic stirrer (VELP Scientifica, Europe) at 45-50 °C until this solution was melted. After then, this solution was added by 12 ml of DDD water and was kept in amber bottle.

#### 4.3.4 Assay for pancreatic alpha-amylase inhibitory activity

Alpha-amylase enzyme activity was determined by colorimetric method using starch as a substrate. The current method was adapted from the method of Ghosh *et al.* (2012). The aqueous ethanolic extract *C. asiatica* and rutin were dissolved in DDD water to give concentrations ranging from 0.38 to 24.62 mg/ml. Fifty microliters of each *C. asiatica* extract and rutin concentrations and 50  $\mu$ l of alpha-amylase enzyme solutions were mixed and incubated at 25 °C for 30 min. After that, 100 µl of starch solution was added to 100 µl of this mixture and incubated at 25 °C for 3 min. Then, 100 µl of color reagent solution was added. The mixture was then placed into an 85 °C water bath. Fifteen minutes later, the mixture was removed from the water bath and cooled to room temperature. Thereafter, 900 µl of DDD water was added. Maltose released from PNPG was detected at 540 nm using microplate spectrophotometer (Benchmark plus, Japan). Individual blanks were prepared as mentioned above without porcine pancreatic alpha-amylase. Acarbose was used as positive control at a concentration of 10 mg/ml (Subramanian *et al.*, 2008). The inhibition percentage of alpha-amylase activity was assessed by the following formula:

Inhibition (%) = 
$$100 \times (\Delta A_{\text{Control}} - \Delta A_{\text{Sample}}) / \Delta A_{\text{Control}}$$

 $\Delta A_{Control} = A_{Test1} - A_{Blank1}$  $\Delta A_{Sample} = A_{Test2} - A_{Blank2}$ 

where  $A_{Test1}$  and  $A_{Test2}$  were defined as the absorbance of DDD water and sample with alpha-amylase enzyme.  $A_{Blank1}$  and  $A_{Blank2}$  were defined as the absorbance of DDD water and sample without alpha-amylase enzyme.

#### 4.3.5 Materials for determination of alpha-glucosidase enzyme activity

#### Alpha-glucosidase enzyme solution

Alpha-glucosidase enzyme solution (3 U/ml) was prepared by adding 4.89 mg solid of alpha-glucosidase (Type I) (Sigma) from Baker's yeast to 34.23 ml of ice-cold DDD water. This enzyme was aliquoted into separate microtubes and stored at -80 °C. To make 5 ml of 0.3 U/ml alpha-glucosidase enzyme solution, 0.5 ml of 3 Unit/ml alpha-glucosidase enzyme was added to 4.5 ml of DDD water.

#### 1 M Potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8)

Potassium phosphate buffer (1 M) was prepared by adding 1.361 g of potassium phosphate monobasic ( $KH_2PO_4$ ; Sigma) to 90 ml of DDD water. This solution was adjusted volume to 100 ml with DDD water in a volumetric flask. This solution was then adjusted to pH 6.8 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH.

## 67 mM Potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8)

Potassium phosphate buffer (67 mM) was prepared by 6.7 ml of 1 M potassium phosphate buffer was added to 90 ml of DDD water. This solution was adjusted volume to 100 ml with DDD water in a volumetric flask. This solution was then adjusted to pH 6.8 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH.

### 10 mM 4-Nitrophenyl-alpha-D-glucopyranoside (PNPG) solution

4-Nitrophenyl-alpha-D-glucopyranoside solution (10 mM) was prepared by mixing 0.0046 g of 4-Nitrophenyl-alpha-D-glucopyranoside (Sigma) with 5 ml of DDD water.

#### 3 mM L-glutathione (GSH) solution

L-glutathione solution (3 mM) was prepared by mixing 0.151 g of L-glutathione (Sigma) with 5 ml of DDD water.

#### 0.1 M Sodium carbonate solution

Sodium carbonate solution (0.1 mM) was prepared by mixing 1.06 g of sodium carbonate (NaCO<sub>3</sub>; BDH) with 100 ml of DDD water.

#### 4.3.6 Assay for alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activity

A colorimetric method for the determination of alpha-glucosidase activity using PNPG as a substrate was modified from Si *et al.* (2010). The mixture consisted of 25 µl of 3 mM reduced glutathione solution, 250 µl of 0.067 M potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8), and 25 µl of alpha-glucosidase solution (0.3 U/ml). The mixture was then added with 25 µl of each concentration of *C. asiatica* extract and rutin which dissolved in DDD water to give concentrations ranging from 0.01 to 0.30 mg/ml. The mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 10 min. After that, 25 µl of 10 mM PNPG was added to initiate the enzyme reaction and incubated at 37 °C for 10 min. The reaction was stopped by 400 µl of 0.1 M sodium carbonate solution. Individual blanks were prepared as mentioned above without alpha-glucosidase. Acarbose was used as positive control at a concentration of 10 mg/ml (Subramanian *et al.*, 2008). *p*-Nitrophenol released from PNPG was detected at 400 nm using microplate spectrophotometer (Benchmark plus, Japan). The inhibition percentage of alpha-glucosidase activity was assessed by the following formula:

Inhibition (%) =  $(1 - A_x / A_0) \times 100$ 

where  $A_0$  represented the absorbance of DDD water and sample with alpha-glucosidase enzyme.  $A_x$  represented the absorbance of DDD water and sample without alpha-glucosidase enzyme.

## **4.4 Statistical analysis**

All the analyses were carried out in triplicate and the results were expressed in mean  $\pm$  standard error of mean (S.E.M). The difference between rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* within the same concentrations and the difference between orlistat and rutin or the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* were analyzed using one-way ANOVA following by the Tukey test (Sigmastat version 3.5). *P*-value less than 0.05 (*P*<0.05) was considered statistically significant.

#### 4.5 Results

The present study demonstrated that both the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin had alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activities. Inhibitory effects of rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* on pancreatic alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase activities *in vitro* were shown in Figures 4.1 and 4.2. In this study,  $IC_{50}$  value of rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* on inhibition of alpha-amylase activities were 1.53 and 2.14 mg/ml, respectively. Significant different between the inhibitory pancreatic alpha-amylase activities of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin at the concentrations ranging from 0.38 to 6.16 mg/ml compared acarbose (0.77 mg/ml). Rutin (24.62 mg/ml) and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (12.31 and 24.62 mg/ml) had no significant different between the inhibitory pancreatic alpha-amylase activities of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin showed at the concentrations ranging from 0.38 to 24.62 mg/ml, while the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* in rutin showed at the concentrations ranging from 0.38 to 24.62 mg/ml, while the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin showed at the concentrations ranging from 0.38 to 24.62 mg/ml, while the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* in rutin showed at the concentrations ranging from 0.38 to 24.62 mg/ml, while the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* in rutin showed at the concentrations ranging from 0.38 to 24.62 mg/ml, while the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* in rutin showed at the concentrations ranging from 0.38 to 24.62 mg/ml, while the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* in rutin showed at the concentrations ranging from 0.38 to 24.62 mg/ml, while the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* in rutin showed at the concentrations ranging from 0.38 to 24.62 mg/ml, while the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin showed at the concentrations ranging from 0.38 to 2

was less potent than rutin on inhibitory pancreatic alpha-amylase at a dose of 3.08 mg/ml.

At the concentration ranging from 0.01 to 0.30 mg/ml, both the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin exhibited alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activity in a dose-dependent manner. The IC<sub>50</sub> value of alpha-glucosidase activities from rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* were 0.081 and 0.02 mg/ml, respectively. Within the studied concentration range, the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* exhibited stronger inhibition on alpha-glucosidase activities than rutin at a dose of 0.02 to 0.15 mg/ml. At the concentration of rutin (0.01 to 0.15 mg/ml) and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (0.01 to 0.02 mg/ml) were less potent than acarbose on alpha-glucosidase. Inhibitory alpha-glucosidase at a dose of 0.30 mg/ml, rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* had no significant when compared with acarbose.

ร<sub>ัววั</sub>กยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรบ



**Figure 4.1** Inhibitory effects of the aqueous ethanolic of *C. asiatica* extract and rutin on pancreatic alpha-amylase activity *in vitro*. The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of three independent experiments. a and b compared to acarbose (*P*<0.001 and *P*<0.01, rspectively). c, *P*<0.001 compared to rutin at the same concentration.



Figure 4.2 Inhibitory effects of the aqueous ethanolic of *C. asiatica* extract and rutin on alpha-glucosidase activity *in vitro*. The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of three independent experiments. a, *P*<0.001 compared to acarbose. b and c compared to rutin at same concentration (*P*<0.01 and *P*<0.001, respectively).

Samples	IC <sub>50</sub> (mg/ml)	
	alpha-amylase	alpha-glucosidase
Rutin	$1.53\pm0.05$	$0.081 \pm 0.004$
The aqueous ethanolic extract of <i>C. asiatica</i>	$2.14\pm0.04$	$0.02\pm0.009$

**Table 4.1** The  $IC_{50}$  values for rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* onalpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase enzyme activities.

## 4.6 Discussion and conclusion

Obesity associated with type 2 diabete mellitus (Pi-Sunyer, 2002). Diabetes mellitus has been defined as a chronic disease with elevated blood glucose concentration which leads to chronic complications (Balamurugan and Ignacimuthu, 2011). The one possibility of lowering postprandial glucose level is the inhibition of alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase activities which retard the digestion of carbohydrates (Tundis, Loizzo, and Menichini, 2010). The inhibition of alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase by pharmaceutical agents such as acarbose and voglibose are accepted clinical strategy in the management of blood glucose level in the diabetic patients (Lo Piparo *et al.*, 2008). However, these drugs have undesirable side effects, causing hypoglycemia at higher doses, liver problems, and diarrhea. Currently, there is renewed interest in medicinal plants with less side effects and effectiveness for the treatment of diabetes mellitus which has less side effects and effectiveness (Tundis *et al.*, 2010). The effect of *C. asiatica* extract by different extraction solvents on the activities of alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase were previously demonstrated. The hexane and dichloromethane extract of *C. asiatica* could inhibit the alpha-amylase and

alpha-glucosidase activities (Loh et al., 2011). The aqueous and methanolic extracts from C. asiatica showed that restricted on alpha-glucosidase activity (15% and 21%, respectively) (Mai et al., 2007). The aqueous extract of C. asiatica had 98.87% inhibition alpha-amylase activity at the concentration of 5 mg/ml (Odhav et al., 2010). The present study demonstrated the first evidence of pancreatic alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activities of the aqueous ethanolic extract from C. asiatica extract in vitro. The aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica was more potent than rutin on inhibitory alpha-glucosidase activities, while the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica was less potent than acarbose on inhibitory alphaamylase activities. Both the aqueous ethanolic extract from C. asiatica extract and rutin exerted pancreatic alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activities in a dose-dependent manner. These findings suggested that the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica may possess anti-diabetic activity by inhibiting pancreatic alphaamyalse and alpha-glucosidase activities. However, the reaction mechanism involved in inhibition of pancreatic alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase enzymes by C. asiatica are not clearly understood.

*C. asiatica* contains active compounds such as flavonoid (rutin, catechin, and quercetin) and triterpenoid (Hussin *et al.*, 2009; Zainol *et al.*, 2003; Zheng *et al.*, 2007) that have potential to prevent hyperglycemia. Rutin could inhibit the activities of alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory *in vitro* (Jo *et al.*, 2010; Kim *et al.*, 2000; Li *et al.*, 2009). Ye *et al.* (2010) revealed that rutin isolated from *Tribulus terrestris* had alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activities *in vitro*. In *in vivo* study, rutin could reduce the blood glucose level in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats (Rauter *et al.*, 2010). The possible mechanism for hypoglycemic of rutin

is the inhibition of alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase enzymes which can reduce the postprandial increase of blood glucose after a mixed carbohydrate diet (Tucci, Boyland, and Halford, 2010). Inhibition these enzymes causes delayed digestion prolonged digestion, thus the rate of glucose absorption is reduced. As a consequence, the postprandial rise in blood glucose levels and insulin resistane is reduced (Creutzfeldt, 1999). Rutin (100 mg/kg, p.o.) could decrease plasma glucose and increase insulin secretion levels in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats (Stanley Mainzen Prince Kamalakkannan, 2006). Polyphenols important and are phytochemicals and flavonoids are member of the polyphenol group. Polyphenol could reduce postprandial blood glucose levels and improve insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity. The possible mechanisms of polyphenols on hypoglycemic effects include inhibition of carbohydrate digestion and glucose absorption in the intestine, stimulation of insulin secretion from the pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells, modulation of glucose release from the liver, and stimulation of insulin receptor and glucose uptake insulinsensitive tissues (Hanhineva et al., 2010).

In conclusion, the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* has potential to be used as hypoglycemic agent due to strong inhibitory effects of the aqueous extract of *C. asiatica* on pancreatic alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase activities *in vitro*. Rutin may be an active compound found in the aqueous ethanolic of *C. asiatica* extract that responsible for inhibitory activities against pancreatic alpha-amylase and alpha- glucosidase. Further studies are needed to elucidate hypoglycemic effects of the aqueous ethanolic of *C. asiatica* extract *in vivo*.

## 4.7 References

- Ali, H., Houghton, P. J., and Soumyanath, A. (2006). α-Amylase inhibitory activity of some Malaysian plants used to treat diabetes; with particular reference to *Phyllanthus amarus*. J Ethnopharmacol. 107(3): 449-455.
- Apostolidis, E., Kwon, Y. I., and Shetty, K. (2006). Potential of cranberry-based herbal synergies for diabetes and hypertension management. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 15(3): 433-441.
- Balamurugan, R., and Ignacimuthu, S. (2011). Antidiabetic and hypolipidemic effect of methanol extract of *Lippia nodiflora* L. in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. **Asia Pac J Trop Biomed**. 1(1): 30-36.
- Berger, B., Stenstrom, G., and Sundkvist, G. (1999). Incidence, prevalence, and mortality of diabetes in a large population. A report from the Skaraborg Diabetes Registry. Diabetes Care. 22(5): 773-778.
- Creutzfeldt, W. (1999). Effects of the alpha-glucosidase inhibitor acarbose on the development of long-term complications in diabetic animals: pathophysiological and therapeutic implications. [Review]. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 15(4): 289-296.
- Fujisawa, T., Ikegami, H., Inoue, K., Kawabata, Y., and Ogihara, T. (2005). Effect of two alpha-glucosidase inhibitors, voglibose and acarbose, on postprandial hyperglycemia correlates with subjective abdominal symptoms. Metabolism. 54(3): 387-390.
- Ghosh, S., Ahire, M., Patil, S., Jabgunde, A., Bhat Dusane, M., Joshi, B. N., Pardesi,K., Jachak, S., Dhavale, D. D., Chopade, B. A. (2012). Antidiabetic Activity of

*Gnidia glauca* and *Dioscorea bulbifera*: Potent Amylase and Glucosidase Inhibitors. **Evid Based Complement Alternat Med**. 2012: 1-10.

- Grover, J. K., Yadav, S., and Vats, V. (2002). Medicinal plants of India with antidiabetic potential. **J Ethnopharmacol**. 81(1): 81-100.
- Hanhineva, K., Torronen, R., Bondia-Pons, I., Pekkinen, J., Kolehmainen, M., Mykkanen, H., and Poutenen, K. (2010). Impact of dietary polyphenols on carbohydrate metabolism. Int J Mol Sci. 11(4): 1365-1402.
- Hillebrand, I., Boehme, K., Frank, G., Fink, H., and Berchtold, P. (1979). The effects of the alpha-glucosidase inhibitor BAY g 5421 (Acarbose) on postprandial blood glucose, serum insulin, and triglyceride levels: dose-time-response relationships in man. **Res Exp Med**. 175(1): 87-94.
- Hussin, M., Hamid, A. A., Mohamad, S., Saari, N., Bakar, F., and Dek, S. P. (2009).
  Modulation of lipid metabolism by *Centella asiatica* in oxidative stress rats. J
  Food Sci. 74(2): 72-78.
- James, J. T., and Dubery, I. A. (2009). Pentacyclic triterpenoids from the medicinal herb, *Centella asiatica* (L.) Urban. **Molecules**. 14(10): 3922-3941.
- Jo, S. H., Ka, E. H., Lee, H. S., Apostolidis, E., Jang, H. D., and Kwon, Y. I. (2010). Comparison of antioxidant potential and rat intestinal alpha-glucosidases inhibitory activities of quercetin, rutin, and isoquercetin. Int J Appl Res Nat Prod. 2(4): 52-60.
- Kang, J. G., and Park, C. Y. (2012). Anti-obesity drugs: A review about their effects and safety. **Diabetes Meta J**. 36(1): 13-25.

- Kim, J. S., Kwon, C. S., and Son, K. H. (2000). Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase and amylase by luteolin, a flavonoid. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 64(11): 2458-2461.
- Kim, Y. M., Jeong, Y. K., Wang, M. H., Lee, W. Y., and Rhee, H. I. (2005). Inhibitory effect of pine extract on α-glucosidase activity and postprandial hyperglycemia. Nutrition. 21(6): 756-761.
- Lee, Y. A., Cho, E. J., Tanaka, T., and Yakozawa, T. (2007). Inhibitory activities of proanthocyanidinis from persimmon against oxidative stress and digestive enzyme related to diabetes. J Nutr Sci Vitaminal. 53(3): 287-292.
- Li, Y., Wen, S., Kota, B. P., Peng, G., Li, G. Q., Yamahara, J., and Roufogalis, B. D. (2005). *Punica granatum* flower extract, a potent α-glucosidase inhibitor, improves postprandial hyperglycemia in Zucker diabetic fatty rats. J Ethnopharmacol. 99(2): 239-244.
- Li, Y., Gao, F., Shan, F., Bian, J., and Zhao, C. (2009). Study on the Interaction between 3 flavonoid compounds and α-amylase by fluorescence spectroscopy and enzymatic kinetics. J Food Sci. 74(3): 199-203.
- Li, Y. Q., Zhou, F. C., Gao, F., Bian, J. S., and Shan, F. (2009). Comparative evaluation of quercetin, isoquercetin and rutin as inhibitors of alphaglucosidase. J Agric Food Chem. 57(24):11463-11468.
- Loh, S. P., and Hadira, O. (2011). In vitro inhibitory potential of selected Malaysian plants against key enzymes involved in hyperglycemia and hypertension. Malays J Nutr. 17(1): 77-86.

- Lo Piparo, E., Scheib, H., Frei, N., Williamson, G., Grigorov, M., and Chou, C. J. (2008). Flavonoids for controlling starch digestion: structural requirements for inhibiting human alpha-amylase. **J Med Chem**. 51(12): 3555-3561.
- Mai, T. T., Thu, N. N., Tien, P. G., and van Chuyen, N. (2007). Alpha-glucosidase inhibitory and antioxidant activities of Vietnamese edible plants and their relationships with polyphenol contents. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol. 53(3): 267-276.
- Mohd Zainol, M. K., Abdul-Hamid, A., Abu Baka, F., and Pak Dek, S. (2009). Effect of different drying methods on the degradation of selected flavonoids in *Centella asiatica*. **Int Food Res J**. 16: 531-537.
- Odhav, B., Kandasamy, T., Khumalo, N., and Baijnath, H. (2010). Screening of African traditional vegetables for their alpha-amylase inhibitory effect. **J Med Plant Res**. 4(14): 1502-1507.
- Pi-Sunyer, F. X. (2002). The obesity epidemic: pathophysiology and consequences of obesity. Obes Res. 10(2): 97-104.
- Rauter, A. P., Martins, A., Borges, C., Mota-Filipe, H., Pinto, R., Sepodes, B., and Justino, J. (2010). Antihyperglycaemic and protective effects of flavonoids on streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. **Phytother Res**. 24(2): 133-138.
- Si, M. M., Lou, J. S., Zhou, C. X., Shen, J. N., Wu, H. H., Yang, B., He, Q. J., and Wu, H. S. (2010). Insulin releasing and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activity of ethyl acetate fraction of *Acorus calamus in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Ethnopharmacol. 128(1): 154-159.
- Singh, S. K., Rai, P. K., Jaiswal, D., and Watal, G. (2008). Evidence-based critical evaluation of glycemic potential of *Cynodon dactylon*. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 5(4): 415-420.

- Stanley Mainzen Prince, P., and Kamalakkannan, N. (2006). Rutin improves glucose homeostasis in streptozotocin diabetic tissues by altering glycolytic and gluconeogenic enzymes. J Biochem Mol Toxicol. 20(2): 96-102.
- Subramanian, R., Asmawi, M. Z., and Sadikun, A. (2008). *In vitro* alpha-glucosidase and alpha-amylase enzyme inhibitory effects of *Andrographis paniculata* extract and andrographolide. **Acta Biochim Pol**. 55(2): 391-398.
- Tucci, S. A., Boyland, E. J., and Halford, J. C. (2010). The role of lipid and carbohydrate digestive enzyme inhibitors in the management of obesity: a review of current and emerging therapeutic agents. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 3: 125-143.
- Tundis, R., Loizzo, M. R., and Menichini, F. (2010). Natural products as alphaamylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitors and their hypoglycaemic potential in the treatment of diabetes: an update. **Mini Rev Med Chem**. 10(4): 315-331.
- Vogrincic, M., Timoracka, M., Melichacova, S., Vollmannova, A., and Kreft, I. (2010). Degradation of rutin and polyphenols during the preparation of tartary buckwheat bread. J Agric Food Chem. 58(8): 4883-4887.
- Weyer, C., Funahashi, T., Tanaka, S., Hotta, K., Matsuzawa, Y., Pratley, R. E., and Tataranni, P. A. (2001). Hypoadiponectinemia in obesity and type 2 diabetes: close association with insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 86(5): 1930-1935.
- Ye, X. P., Song, C. Q., Yuan, P., and Mao, R. G. (2010). α-Glucosidase and αamylase inhibitory activity of common constituents from traditional Chinese medicine used for diabetes mellitus. Chinese J Nat Med. 8(5): 349-352.

- Zainol, M. K., Abd-Hamid, A., Yusof, S., and Muse, R. (2003). Antioxidative activity and total phenolic compounds of leaf, root and petiole of four accessions of *Centella asiatica* (L.) Urban. **Food Chem**. 81(4): 575-581.
- Zheng, C. J., and Qin, L. P. (2007). Chemical components of *Centella asiatica* and their bioactivities. **J Chin Integr Med**. 5(3): 348-351.



## **CHAPTER V**

# EFFECTS OF THE AQUEOUS ETHANOLIC EXTRACT OF *CENTELLA ASIATICA* ON PLASMA BIOCHEMICAL PARAMETERS IN LIPID EMULSION-INDUCED HYPERLIPIDEMIC RATS

## **5.1 Abstract**

This study was performed to clarify the effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin on plasma levels of triglyceride (TG), total cholesterol (TC), glucose, alanine aminotransferase (ALT), and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) in lipid emulsion-induced hyperlipidemic rats. Male Wistar rats were administered an oral lipid emulsion alone (4 ml/kg), lipid emulsion with orlistat (45 mg/4 ml/kg), lipid emulsion with the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 and 2000 mg/4 ml/kg) or lipid emulsion with rutin (1000 mg/4 ml/kg). The plasma TG, TC, glucose, AST, and ALT level were measured at 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 h later. The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 and 2000 mg/4 ml/kg) and rutin (1000 mg/4 ml/kg) appeared to inhibit an increase levels of plasma TG and TC at 3 h after lipid emulsion administration. Plasma glucose levels were decreased after administration of rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica*. Furthermore, the plasma AST and ALT levels had no change after oral administration lipid emulsion alone, lipid emulsion with orlistat or the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 and 2000 mg/ 4 ml/kg) at 1, 2, 3, and 4 h. In present study, no significant decrease in the plasma TG, TC, and glucose levels following the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* compared with either orlistat or rutin. Both the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin had anti-obesity and anti-diabetic effects which could suppress the increase plasma TG and TC levels in lipid emulsion-induced hyperlipidemic rats. The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* had no toxicity on liver. Therefore, the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* is a beneficial for lipid-lowering and glucose-lowering effects. Rutin may be the key active compound responsible for hypolipidemic and hypoglycemic effects of *C. asiatica*.

## **5.2 Introduction**

Obesity is commonly associated with insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia which is a major risk factor for the development of type 2 diabetes (Weyer *et al.*, 2001). Obesity is associated with an important risk factor for liver inflammation (Rodriguez-Hernandez *et al.*, 2011). In order to manage obesity and diabetic conditions, anti-obesity drug (orlistat) is widely used which can inhibit the absorption of fat and excrete of ingested fat leading to weight loss (Shi *et al.*, 2005) and anti-diabetic drug (acarbose) is a pseudotetrasaccharide that inhibits intestinal alpha-glucosidase activity at the brush border of intestinal mucosa which reduce the uptake of monosaccharides (Tucci, Boyland, and Halford, 2010). However, these drugs (orlistat and acarbose) have undesirable side effects such as flatulence and diarrhoea which its use may be limited (Chiasson *et al.*, 2002; Kang and Park, 2012). Therefore, there were new alternatives for obesity therapy. Certain medicinal plants for anti-obesity properties such as jasmine green tea (Chan *et al.*, 1999), grape seed (Moreno *et al.*, 2005).

*al.*, 2003), and longan flower (Yang *et al.*, 2010) which consisted of flavonoids. Flavonoids are naturally occurring substances in plants which have been exhibited a wide range of biological effects such as antioxidant (Peng *et al.*, 2003), anticancer (Li *et al.*, 2007), hypoglycemic (Rauter *et al.*, 2010), and hypolipidemic (Feng *et al.*, 2011) activities.

Flavonoids, especially rutin is a flavanol type of flavonoids (Kuntic et al., 2007) which is found in many typical plants and has several pharmacological properties such as hypolipidemic (Santos et al., 1999; Ziaee et al., 2009) and hypoglycemic effects (Rauter et al., 2010). In in vitro studies, rutin was reported to have pancreatic lipase inhibitory activity (Zheng et al., 2010), alpha-amylase inhibitory activity (Kim, Kwon, and Son, 2000) and alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activity (Gao et al., 2008). In in vivo study, rutin alone or in combination with lovastatin (hypolipidemic agent) mixed in a high-cholesterol diet significantly reduced plasma levels of total cholesterol (TC) and low density lipoprotein (LDL), and also markedly decreased liver enzymes and body weight in rats (Ziaee et al., 2009). Furthermore, the addition of rutin or 0-coumaric acid to the diet could decrease body weight gain, liver weight, adipose tissue weight, triglyceride (TG), phospholipid, TC, insulin, and leptin in high fat diet (HFD)-induced obese rats (Hsu et al., 2009). Rutin suppressed the elevation of serum TC and TG levels and increased high density lipoprotein (HDL) level after oral administration triton-induced hyperlipidemic rats (Santos et al., 1999). In streptozotocin induced diabetic rats, 7 days treatment of rutin (4 mg/kg, i.p.) caused a reduction in blood glucose levels, and an increase in alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels, but did not cause any change in aspartate aminotransferase (AST) levels (Rauter et al., 2010).

C. asiatica contains flavonoid such as rutin (Ariffin et al., 2011; Hussin et al., 2009; Mohd Zainol et al., 2009). Hussin et al. (2009) demonstrated that the leaves of methanolic extract of C. asiatica had  $1138.6 \pm 7.7$  mg/kg of rutin. C. asiatica has been used for the treatment of life-style related diseases such as hypertension, tumor, and memory disorders (Zheng and Qin, 2007). The results from chapter III and chapter IV demonstrated that 80% ethanolic extract of C. asiatica could inhibit porcine pancreatic lipase, pancreatic alpha-amylase, and alpha-glucosidase activities *in vitro* (Figures 3.1, 4.1, and 4.2). It has been demonstrated the dicholomethane and hexane extracts of C. asiatica on alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase enzyme inhibitory activities in vitro (Loh et al., 2011). The aqueous extract of C. asiatica also had alpha-amylase inhibitory activities in vitro (Odhav et al., 2010). Furthermore, both aqueous and methanolic extracts of C. asiatica inhibited alpha-glucosidase activity in vitro (Mai et al., 2007). The previous study reported that the maximum reduction in blood glucose was observed after 3 h oral administration the methanolic and ethanolic extracts of the leaves from C. asiatica in alloxan induced diabetic rats (Chauhan et al., 2010). Thus, C. asiatica extract may process anti-obesity and anti-diabetic activities in vivo. The effects of aqueous ethanolic extract from C. asiatica and rutin on plasma TG, TC, glucose, AST, and ALT levels were to investigate in lipid emulsion-induced hyperlipidemic rats. Rutin was selected to study since it might be responsible for anti-obesity and anti-diabetic effects of C. asiatica.

## 5.3 Materials and methods

#### **5.3.1 Plant material**

*C. asiatica* extract obtained from stock extract in chapter III was used in the experiments conducted in this chapter.

#### 5.3.2 Animals

Male Wistar rats  $(250 \pm 4.13 \text{ g})$  were obtained from Institutional Animal Care, SUT. They were maintained under standard laboratory conditions (12:12 h dark-light cycle, ambient temperature  $20 \pm 1 \text{ }^{\circ}\text{C}$ ) with free access to food and water. This study was conducted under of the SUT Animal Care and Use Committee.

5.3.3 Measurement of plasma triglyceride, total cholesterol, glucose, alanine animotransferase, and aspartate amino transferase levels after oral administration of lipid emulsion to rats.

The rats were orally administered by either lipid emulsion (20% Intralipid, Sino-Swed, China, 4 ml/kg, n=8) served as control, lipid emulsion with orlistat (45 mg/4 ml/kg, n=8), lipid emulsion with rutin (1000 mg/4 ml/kg, n=8), lipid emulsion with *C. asiatica* extract (1000 mg/4 ml/kg, n=8) or lipid emulsion with of *C. asiatica* extract (2000 mg/4 ml/kg, n=8). The lipid emulsion composed of purified soybean oil (200 g), purified egg phospholipids (12 g), and glycerol anhydrous (22 g). Blood samples were collected from the tail vein at 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 h after the oral administration of each treatment and centrifuged at 5000 × g for 5 min. Plasma triglyceride (TG), total cholesterol (TC), glucose, aspatate aminotransferase, and

alanine aminotransferase (ALT) were determined using an automatic blood analyzer (Hitachi 911, Japan).

#### **5.4 Statistical analysis**

Data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  standard error of mean (S.E.M.). To analyse plasma levels of TG, TC, glucose, AST, and ALT differences between groups and times were analyzed using a two-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) following by the Tukey test. *P*<0.05 and *P*<0.01 were considered statistically significant, respectively.

## **5.5 Results**

To clarify the effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin were orally administered to rats, and the serial changes in plasma TG, TC, glucose, AST, and ALT levels were measured. Plasma TG response to a single oral dose of lipid emulsion (4 ml/kg) alone or lipid emulsion with orlistat (45 mg/4 ml/kg), lipid emulsion with either rutin (1000 mg/4 ml/kg), or aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 and 2000 mg/4 ml/kg) were shown in Figure 5.1. Significant increases in plasma TG levels were found at 1, 2, and 3 h after oral administration of the lipid emulsion alone (88.00  $\pm$  15.12, 97.17  $\pm$  13.71, and 118.80  $\pm$  8.83 mg/dl, respectively) compared with 0 h (65.06  $\pm$  5.5 mg/dl). The incremental TG levels following lipid emulsion alone reached a peak at 3 h. At 3 h, the elevation of the plasma TG levels induced by lipid emulsion were significantly reduced by orlistat, rutin, and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 and 2000 mg/4 ml/kg). In comparison to the rats treated lipid emulsion with orlistat, there was no significant

difference in the TG levels of the rats treated lipid emulsion either rutin or the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* at 3 h.



**Figure 5.1** Plasma levels of TG after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone, lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica*. The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M of 8 rats. a and b compared to 0 h within the group (*P*<0.05 and *P*<0.001, respectively). c and d compared to lipid emulsion treated group within time (*P*<0.05 and *P*<0.001, respectively).

Changes in plasma TC levels following single oral dose of lipid emulsion alone (4 ml/kg) or lipid emulsion with either orlistat (45 mg/4 ml/kg), rutin (1000 mg/4 ml/kg) or the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 and 2000 mg/ 4 ml/kg) were shown in Figure 5.2. An increase in plasma TC levels with a peak at 3 h was found in lipid emulsion alone group. In lipid emulsion orally administered group, plasma TC levels 3 h (90.6  $\pm$  1.82 mg/dl) were significantly higher than 0 h (65.74  $\pm$ 2.78 mg/dl). At 3 h, increased plasma TC levels including lipid emulsion were significantly decreased by orlistat, rutin, and *C. asiatica* extract (1000 and 2000 mg/ 4 ml/kg). There was no significant difference in the TC levels of the rats treated lipid emulsion either rutin or the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* when compared to the rats treated lipid emulsion with orlistat at 3 h.





**Figure 5.2** Plasma levels of TC after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone, lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica*. The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M of 8 rats. b compared to 0 h with in the group (*P*<0.001). c and d compared to lipid emulsion within group within time (*P*<0.05 and *P*<0.001, respectively).

Plasma glucose levels after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone or lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or *C. asiatica* extract (1000 and 2000 mg/kg b.w.) were shown in Figure 3. There was no change in plasma glucose levels following lipid emulsion alone compared to 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 h. Significant decreases in plasma glucose levels were found at 3 h after oral administration of lipid emulsion with *C. asiatica* extract (1000 and 2000 mg/kg b.w.) compared to 0 h within group (p<0.05 and p<0.001). Plasma glucose level was significantly lower in the rat groups that were orally administered by lipid emulsion with rutin and *C. asiatica* extract (2000 mg/kg b.w.) compared with the lipid emulsion alone at 3 h. Significant decreases in plasma glucose levels were found at 4 h after lipid emulsion with either orlistat or *C. asiatica* extract (1000 mg/kg b.w.) compared to 0 h within the group (p<0.05). However, there was no significant difference in plasma glucose levels of the rats treated lipid emulsion with *C. asiatica* extract (1000 and 2000 mg/kg b.w.) when compared to the rats treated lipid emulsion with either orlistat or rutin at 3 and 4 h.



**Figure 5.3** Plasma levels of glucose after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone, lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica*. The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M of 8 rats. a and b compared to lipid emulsion treated group within time (*P*<0.05 and *P*<0.001), respectively. c and d compared to 0 h within the group (*P*<0.05 and *P*<0.001, respectively).

Plasma AST and ALT levels were determined as an evaluation of hepatic function. Plasma levels of AST after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone or lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 and 2000 mg/4 ml/kg) were shown in Figure 5.4. Within 4 h, the plasma levels of AST were not change after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone, lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 and 2000 mg/4 ml/kg).



Figure 5.4 Plasma levels of AST after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone, lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica*. The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M of 8 rats.

The effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* on plasma ALT after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone or lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 and 2000 mg/4 ml/kg) were shown in Figure 5.5. No significant change was noted in ALT levels at 1, 2, 3, and 4 h when compared with 0 h after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone or lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 and 2000 mg/4 ml/kg).





Figure 5.5 Plasma levels of ALT after oral administration of lipid emulsion alone, lipid emulsion with either orlistat, rutin or the aqueous ethanolic extract *C*. *asiatica*. The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M of 8 rats.

## <sup>้/ວักย</sup>าลัยเทคโนโลยีส์

## 5.6 Discussion and conclusion

Flavonoids, especially rutin, had potent antihyperlipidemic and antihyperglycemic effects (Rauter *et al.*, 2010; Santos *et al.*, 1999). The result of this study showed that the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* contained rutin. Therefore, the present study was carried out in order to determine the effects of aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin on postprandial plasma TG, TC, glucose, AST, and ALT levels in the lipid emulsion-induced hyperlipidemic rats. The present study provided the first evidence the TG and TC levels induced by lipid

emulsion were significantly decreased by orlistat (positive control) rutin and the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica when compared with the control group at 3 h (Figures 5.1 and 5.2). There was no significant difference in the TG and TC levels of the rats treated lipid emulsion either rutin or the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica when compared with lipid emulsion with orlistat group at 3 h. The present findings were consistent with the previous study of Han et al., 2005. The plasma TG level was significantly reduced by orlistat (the final concentration 45 mg/ml/kg) when compared with the control group at 2 and 3 h (Han et al., 2005). The results of both in *vitro* studies in chapter III and *in vivo* study in this chapter supported the view that the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin could prevent lipid emulsion and lipase interactions. The inhibition of pancreatic lipase by the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin could restrict fat digestion by suppression the hydrolysis of TG contained in lipid emulsion and could inhibit absorption of these TG which reduce the plasma levels of TG in lipid emulsion-induced hyperlipidemic rats. The supplementation of rutin (1000 mg/kg) in diet containing cholesterol could reduce plasma and hepatic cholesterol, and promote the excretion of fecal sterols in rats (Park et al., 2002). The supplementation of rutin (100 mg/kg) in high-cholesterol diet could reduce the plasma TC and LDL levels in rats (Ziaee et al., 2009). Moreover, mixing high fat diet with rutin which was isolated from Dimorphandra mollis caused a lowering effect on plasma TG levels, but did not cause any change in plasma TC and HDL levels in Golden Syrian hamsters (Kanashiro et al., 2009). Santos et al. (1999) demonstrated that rutin could reduce the serum TC and TG levels in triton-induced hypolipidemic rats. The most likely mechanism of action of rutin may be the conversion of rutin to quercetin. Quercetin was one of the metabolite of rutin that decreased HMG-CoA reductase activity, decreased absorption of dietary cholesterol, and increased in fecal sterols (Bok *et al.*, 2002).

In the present study, the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin could suppress the elevation of plasma glucose level. The result of this study showed that orlistat could reduce the plasma glucose level. Orlistat (120 mg) mixed in a highcholesterol fat diet could decrease plasma LDL, TC, and glucose, and could increase plasma HDL in hypercholesterolemic patients (Lucas, Boldrin, and Reaven, 2003). The possible mechanisms for the effect of orlistat on hypoglycemic may involve in a reduction of plasma non-esterified fatty acid concentration, improvement of insulin sensitivity, and stimulation of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) secretion in the lower small intestine (Jabob et al., 2009). A reduction in fat absorption and an increase in intestinal fat content by orlistat may lead to increase secretion of gut hormones, including GLP-1 which stimulates insulin secretion (Mancini and Halpern, 2008). Glucose-lowering effects of C. asiatica extract have been demonstrated in alloxaninduced diabetic rats models in 2010 (Chunchan et al., 2010). A significant reduction of the blood glucose level at 1, 3, and 5 h following the ethanolic and methanolic extract of C. asiatica (250 mg/kg) administration were demonstrated in alloxaninduced diabetic rats compared with untreated group (Chunchan et al., 2010). Hypoglycemic effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin reported in this chapter may be due to their inhibition effects on alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase enzyme activities. Inhibition of these enzymes can retard the rate of carbohydrate digestion and glucose absorption in the intestine and reduce the postprandial increase of blood glucose after a mixed carbohydrate diet (Tundis et al., 2010). Polyphenols attenuated the levels of blood glucose which could inhibit of carbohydrate digestion and glucose absorption in the intestine, stimulate insulin secretion from the pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells, modulate glucose release from liver, activate insulin receptors and glucose uptake in the insulin-sensitive tissues, and modulation of hepatic glucose output (Hanhineva *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, rutin could decrease hyperglycemia since inhibit the pancreatic islets, increase the insulin secretion, decrease gluconeogenesis, and increase glycolysis after treatment with rutin in the diabetic rats (Stanley Mainzen Prince and Kamalakkannan, 2006). The result from chapter IV suggested that the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin were potent inhibitory of alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase *in vitro* which lead to a reduction of plasma glucose as shown in this chapter. Natural alpha-amylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitors in the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* have been demonstrated to be beneficial in reducing postprandial hyperglycemia by slowing down the digestion of carbohydrates and the absorption of glucose.

Reduction of postprandial hyperglycemia by alpha-amylase and alphaglucosidase inhibitors could prevent glucose uptake into adipose tissue which turn in inhibit synthesis and accumulation of TG (Maury *et al.*, 1993). The inhibition of digestion and absorption of dietary fat and carbohydrate can prevent obesity (Tucci *et al.*, 2010). The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin are ideal natural sources to induce anti-obesity effects. Anti-obesity effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* are mainly attributed to its polyphenol content especially for rutin. Rutin might be the active compound responsible for hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica*. However, the underlying mechanisms are needed to investigate.
Both AST and ALT are enzymes produced by liver cells which were released when liver cell damaged (Patil, Somashekarappa, and Rajashekhar, 2011). The level of plasma glucose was reduced by lipid emulsion with either orlistat or the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica. Rauter et al. (2010) demonstrated that rutin increased ALT levels after 7 days administration of rutin (4 mg/kg, i.p.) in streptozotocininduced diabetic rats. The possible mechanism of the effect of orlistat on the reduction of ALT levels may be related to a reduction in plasma free fatty acid (FFA) levels, a reduction in FFA flux into the liver, and an increase in hepatic insulin sensitivity (Zelber-Sagi et al., 2006). The result of this study demonstrated that orlistat, rutin and the aqueous ethanlic extract of C. asiatica had no changed the levels of plasma AST and ALT. The previous studies declared that orlistat could suppress the increase of FFA levels which reduced a characteristic response of liver to the proinflammatory cytokine tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) which protected hepatocyte injury and affecting the integrity of liver cells. (Amin and Nagy, 2009; Rodriguez-Hernandez et al., 2011; Vozarova et al., 2002). Zhang et al. (2010) demonstrated that asiaticoside, a triterpenoid product isolated from C. asiatica, could protect lipopolysaccharide/Dgalactosamine-induced liver injury in mice since asiaticoside could decrease serum TNF- $\alpha$  and suppress the increases of AST and ALT levels.

In addition, the present findings showed that increased levels of TG, TC, and glucose in rats received lipid emulsion were reduced by the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (2000 mg/4 ml/kg). Therefore, the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* is a beneficial for lipid-lowering and glucose-lowering effects and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* is not toxicity on liver which could reduce

ALT levels. Rutin may be the key active compound responsible for hypolipidemic and hypoglycemic effects of *C. asiatica*.

#### **5.7 References**

- Amin, K. A., and Nagy, M. A. (2009). Effect of Carnitine and herbal mixture extract on obesity induced by high fat diet in rats. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 1(1): 1-14.
- Ariffin, F., Heong Chew, S., Bhupinder, K., Karim, A. A., and Huda, N. (2011). Antioxidant capacity and phenolic composition of fermented *Centella asiatica* herbal teas. J Sci Food Agric. 91(15): 2731-2739.
- Bok, S. H., Park, S. Y., Park, Y. B., Lee, M. K., Jeon, S. M., Jeong, T. S., and Choi, M. S. (2002). Quercetin dihydrate and gallate supplements lower plasma and hepatic lipids and change activities of hepatic antioxidant enzymes in high cholesterol-fed rats. Int J Vitam Nutr Res. 72(3): 161-169.
- Chan, P. T., Fong, W. P., Cheung, Y. L., Huang, Y., Ho, W. K., and Chen, Z. Y. (1999). Jasmine green tea epicatechins are hypolipidemic in hamsters (*Mesocricetus auratus*) fed a high fat diet. J Nutr. 129(6): 1094-1101.
- Chauhan, P. K., Pandey, I. P., and Dhatwalia, K. (2010). Evaluation of the antidiabetic effect of ethanolic and methanolic extracts of *Centella asiatica* leaves extract on alloxan induced diabetic rats. **Advan Biol Res**. 4(1): 27-30.
- Chiasson, J. L., Josse, R. G., Gomis, R., Hanefeld, M., Karasik, A., and Laakso, M. (2002). Acarbose for prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus: the STOP-NIDDM randomised trial. Lancet. 359(9323): 2072-2077.

- Feng, L. J., Yu, C. H., Ying, K. J., Hua, J., and Dai, X. Y. (2011). Hypolipidemic and antioxidant effects of total flavonoids of *Perilla frutescens* leaves in hyperlipidemia rats induced by high-fat diet. Food Res Int. 44(1): 404-409.
- Gao, H., Huang, Y. N., Gao, B., Xu, P. Y., Inagaki, C., and Kawabata, J. (2008). αGlucosidase inhibitory effect by the flower buds of *Tussilago farfara* L. Food
  Chem. 106(3): 1195-1201.
- Han, L. K., Zheng, Y. N., Yoshikawa, M., Okuda, H., and Kimura, Y. (2005). Antiobesity effects of chikusetsusaponins isolated from *Panax japonicus* rhizomes.
  BMC Complement Altern Med. 5: 1-10.
- Hanhineva, K., Torronen, R., Bondia-Pons, I., Pekkinen, J., Kolehmainen, M., Mykkanen, H., and Poutanen, K. (2010). Impact of dietary polyphenols on carbohydrate metabolism. Int J Mol Sci. 11(4): 1365-1402.
- Hsu, C. L., Wu, C. H., Huang, S. L., and Yen, G. C. (2009). Phenolic compounds rutin and o-coumaric acid ameliorate obesity induced by high-fat diet in rats. J Agric Food Chem. 57(2): 425-431.
- Hussin, M., Hamid, A. A., Mohamad, S., Saari, N., Bakar, F., and Dek, S. P. (2009).
  Modulation of lipid metabolism by *Centella asiatica* in oxidative stress rats. J
  Food Sci. 74(2): 72-78.
- Jacob, S., Rabbia, M., Meier, M. K., and Hauptman, J. (2009). Orlistat 120 mg improves glycaemic control in type 2 diabetic patients with or without concurrent weight loss. Diabetes Obes Metab. 11(4): 361-371.
- Kanashiro, A., Andrade, D. C., Kabeya, L. M., Turato, W. M., Faccioli, L. H., Uyemura, S. A., and Lucisano-Valim, Y. M. (2009). Modulatory effects of

rutin on biochemical and hematological parameters in hypercholesterolemic Golden Syrian hamsters. **An Acad Bras Cienc**. 81(1): 67-72.

- Kang, J. G. and Park, C. Y. (2012). Anti-obesity drugs: A review about their effects and safety. **Diabetes Meta J**. 36(1): 13-25.
- Kim, J. S., Kwon, C. S., and Son, K. H. (2000). Inhibition of alpha-glucosidase and amylase by luteolin, a flavonoid. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 64(11): 2458-2461.
- Kuntic, V., Pejic, N., Ivkovic, B., Vujic, Z., Ilic, K., Micic, S., and Vukojević, V. (2007). Isocratic RP-HPLC method for rutin determination in solid oral dosage forms. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 43(2): 718-721.
- Li, Y. L., Gan, G. P., Zhang, H. Z., Wu, H. Z., Li, C. L., Huang, Y. P., Liu, Y.W., and Liu, J. W. (2007). A flavonoid glycoside isolated from *Smilax china* L. rhizome in vitro anticancer effects on human cancer cell lines. J Ethnopharmacol. 113(1): 115-124.
- Loh, S. P., and Hadira, O. (2011). In vitro inhibitory potential of selected Malaysian plants against key enzymes involved in hyperglycemia and hypertension.
   Malays J Nutr. 17(1): 77-86.
- Lucas, C. P., Boldrin, M. N., and Reaven, G. M. (2003). Effect of orlistat added to diet (30% of calories from fat) on plasma lipids, glucose, and insulin in obese patients with hypercholesterolemia. **Am J Cardiol**. 91(8): 961-964.
- Mai, T. T., Thu, N. N., Tien, P. G., and van Chuyen, N. (2007). Alpha-glucosidase inhibitory and antioxidant activities of Vietnamese edible plants and their relationships with polyphenol contents. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol. 53(3): 267-276.

- Mancini, M. C., and Halpern, A. (2008). Orlistat in the prevention of diabetes in the obese patient. **Vasc Health Risk Manag**. 4(2): 325-336.
- Maury, J., Issad, T., Perdereau, D., Gouhot, B., Ferre, P., and Girard, J. (1993). Effect of acarbose on glucose homeostasis, lipogenesis and lipogenic enzyme gene expression in adipose tissue of weaned rats. **Diabetologia**. 36(6): 503-509.
- Moreno, D. A., Ilic, N., Poulev, A., Brasaemle, D. L., Fried, S. K., and Raskin, I. (2003). Inhibitory effects of grape seed extract on lipases. **Nutrition**. 19(10): 876-879.
- Odhav, B., Kandasamy, T., Khumalo, N., and Baijnath, H. (2010). Screening of African traditional vegetables for their alpha amylase inhibitory effect. **J Med Plant Res**. 4(14): 1502-1507.
- Park, S. Y., Bok, S. H., Jeon, S. M., Park, Y. B., Lee, S. J., Jeong, T. S., and Choi, M. S. (2002). Effect of rutin and tannic acid supplements on cholesterol metabolism in rats. Nutri Res. 22(3): 283-295.
- Patil, S. L., Somashekarappa, H. M., and Rajashekhar, K. P. (2011). Ameliorative effect of rutin against oxidative stress in mice induced by gamma-irradiation.
  Res J Pharm Biol Chem Sci. 2(4): 694-701.
- Peng, Z. F., Strack, D., Baumert, A., Subramaniam, R., Goh, N. K., Chia, T. F., Tan, S. N., and Chia, L. S. (2003). Antioxidant flavonoids from leaves of *Polygonum hydropiper* L. **Phytochemistry**. 62(2): 219-228.
- Rauter, A. P., Martins, A., Borges, C., Mota-Filipe, H., Pinto, R., Sepodes, B., and Justino, A. (2010). Antihyperglycaemic and protective effects of flavonoids on streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. **Phytother Res**. 24 Suppl 2: 133-138.

- Rodriguez-Hernandez, H., Cervantes-Huerta, M., Rodriguez-Moran, M., and Guerrero-Romero, F. (2011). Decrease of aminotransferase levels in obese women is related to body weight reduction, irrespective of type of diet. **Annals of Hepatol.** 10(4): 486-492.
- Santos, K. F., Oliveira, T. T., Nagem, T. J., Pinto, A. S., and Oliveira, M. G. (1999). Hypolipidaemic effects of naringenin, rutin, nicotinic acid and their associations. **Pharmacol Res**. 40(6): 493-496.
- Shi, Y. F., Pan, C. Y., Hill, J., and Gao, Y. (2005). Orlistat in the treatment of overweight or obese Chinese patients with newly diagnosed Type 2 diabetes.
  Diabet Med. 22(12): 1737-1743.
- Stanley Mainzen Prince, P., and Kamalakkannan, N. (2006). Rutin improves glucose homeostasis in streptozotocin diabetic tissues by altering glycolytic and gluconeogenic enzymes. J Biochem Mol Toxicol. 20(2): 96-102.
- Tucci, S. A., Boyland, E. J., and Halford, J. C. (2010). The role of lipid and carbohydrate digestive enzyme inhibitors in the management of obesity: a review of current and emerging therapeutic agents. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 3: 125-143.
- Tundis, R., Loizzo, M. R., and Menichini, F. (2010). Natural products as alphaamylase and alpha-glucosidase inhibitors and their hypoglycaemic potential in the treatment of diabetes: an update. **Mini Rev Med Chem**. 10(4): 315-331.
- Vozarova, B., Stefan, N., Lindsay, R. S., Saremi, A., Pratley, R. E., Bogardus, C., and Tatarani, P. A. (2002). High alanine aminotransferase is associated with decreased hepatic insulin sensitivity and predicts the development of type 2 diabetes. **Diabetes**. 51(6): 1889-1895.

- Weyer, C., Funahashi, T., Tanaka, S., Hotta, K., Matsuzawa, Y., Pratley, R. E., and Tatarani, P. A. (2001). Hypoadiponectinemia in obesity and type 2 diabetes: close association with insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 86(5): 1930-1935.
- Yang, D. J., Chang, Y. Y., Hsu, C. L., Liu, C. W., Lin, Y. L., Lin, Y. H., Liu, K. C., and Chen, Y. C. (2010). Antiobesity and hypolipidemic effects of polyphenolrich longan (*Dimocarpus longans* Lour.) flower water extract in hypercaloricdietary rats. J Agric Food Chem. 58(3): 2020-2027.
- Zelber-Sagi, S., Kessler, A., Brazowsky, E., Webb, M., Lurie, Y., Santo, M., Leshno, M., Blendis, L., Halpern, Z., and Oren, R. (2006). A double-blind randomized placebo-controlled trial of orlistat for the treatment of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 4(5): 639-644.
- Zhang, L., Li, H. Z., Gong, X., Luo, F.-l., Wang, B., and Hu, N. (2010). Protective effects of asiaticoside on acute liver injury induced by lipopolysaccharide/Dgalactosamine in mice. **Phytomedicine**. 17(10): 811-819.
- Zheng, C. D., Duan, Y. Q., Gao, J. M., and Ruan, Z. G. (2010). Screening for antilipase properties of 37 traditional Chinese medicinal herbs. J Chin Med Assoc. 73(6): 319-324.
- Zheng, C. J., and Qin, L. P. (2007). Chemical components of *Centella asiatica* and their bioactivities. **J Chin Integr Med**. 5(3): 348-351.
- Ziaee, A., Zamansoltani, F., Nassiri-Asl, M., and Abbasi, E. (2009). Effects of rutin on lipid profile in hypercholesterolaemic rats. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 104(3): 253-258.

#### **CHAPTER VI**

# EFFECTS OF THE AQUEOUS ETHANOLIC EXTRACT OF *CENTELLA ASIATICA* ON FOS EXPRESSION IN THE BRAIN AREAS REGULATING HOMEOSTASIS OF ENERGY BALANCE IN MALE WISTAR RATS

#### **6.1 Abstract**

There is no evidence to suggest anti-obesity effects of aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin through central effects, especially for the hypothalamus and brainstem. The hypothalamus and brainstem are major brain regions that play an importance role in regulation of energy balance via autonomic nervous control of intake and energy expenditure. Hence, this study investigated the effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin on Fos expression in the brain areas involving a regulation of energy homeostasis which are the paraventricular nucleus (PVN), ventromedial hypothalamus (VMH), arcuate nucleus (ARC), lateral hypothalamic area (LHA), and perifornical area (PeF) that are neuronal nuclei in the hypothalamus and the nucleus of solitary tract in the brainstem. Forty rats were divided into five groups of eight rats. Rats were fasted overnight and then orally given single dose of the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica (1000 or 2000 mg/ml/kg), rutin (1000 or 1500 mg/ml/kg) or double deionized distilled (DDD) water (1 ml/kg). Two decapitated. hours later. rats were Brains were removed and hypothalamus was assessed for expression of Fos, a marker for neuronal activation, using immunocytochemistry. The present findings demonstrated the first evidence that the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin could induce Fos expression in other studied areas. The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 and 2000 mg/ml/kg) and rutin (1500 mg/ml/kg) significantly increased the number of Fos-positive neurons in the ARC compared to the control group (P<0.05). Fos expression in the ARC was predominantly in the lateralposterior region. In the PVN, the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 mg/ml/kg) significantly increased the number of Fos-positive neurons in the ARC compared to the control group (P<0.05). Neuronal activation in the PVN and ARC of the hypothalamus by *C. asiatica* and rutin suggested that the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin may involve in regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis through neuronal activity in the ARC and PVN of the hypothalamus. Further studies are required to clarify which neuronal types of the PVN are activated by the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica*.

# ວ<sup>ັກຍ</sup>າລັຍເກຄໂนໂລຍ໌ຊີ

#### **6.2 Introduction**

Understanding the neural mechanisms underlying the regulation of appetite and the control of energy expenditure by the central nervous system is becoming important in obesity research because the neuronal system originating from various hypothalamic nuclei regulates feeding behavior and metabolic processes (Wilding, 2002). Many hypothalamic nuclei and brainstem are important in the regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis, including the arcuate nucleus (ARC), paraventricular nucleus (PVN), ventromedial hypothalamus (VMH), lateral

hypothalamic area (LHA), and perifonical area (PeF) of the hypothalamus and the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS) of the brainstem (Lawrence, Turnbull, and Rothwell, 1999; Schwartz et al., 2000; Valassi et al., 2008). The ARC consists of neuropeptide Y (NPY)/agouti-related peptide (AgRP) neurons which increase feeding (orexigenic action) and pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC)/cocaine- and amphetamineregulated transcript (CART) neurons which reduce feeding (anorexigenic action) (Schwartz, 2000; Valassi et al., 2008). These neurons project to the PVN, PeF, and LHA (Simpson, Martin, and Bloom, 2009; Stanley et al., 2005). The PVN consists of parvocellular (thyrotropin releasing hormone (TRH) and corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH)) and magnocellular (oxytocin) neurons that produce anorexigenic peptides (Remmers and Delemarre-van de Waal, 2011). Moreover, the parvocellular neuron contains NPY (orexigenic peptide) (Schwartz, 2000). The LHA and PeF contain neuropeptides (orexin and melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH)) that increase feeding (Harrold et al., 2012; Schwartz et al., 2000; Stanley et al., 2005). Apart from central of food intake, peripheral control can also be achieved by integration between satiety signals and adiposity signals. Satiety signals, including cholecystokinin (CCK), glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and peptide YY (PYY), originate from the gastrointestinal tract during a meal and, through the vagus nerve, reach the NTS in the caudal brainstem (Schwartz et al., 2000; Valassi et al., 2008). When adiposity signals, leptin and insulin, reach the ARC, alpha-melanocytestimulating hormone (a-MSH) are released by anorexigenic neurons (POMC/CART neuron) which activates a catabolic circuit. In contrast, NPY and AgRP are released by orexigenic neurons (anabolic pathway) which occur when adiposity signal concentrations in the brain are low (Baskin et al., 1999; Schwartz et al., 2000).

Long term HFD could decrease the number of neurons carrying  $\alpha$ -MSH and CART peptide in the ARC of the rat hypothalamus (Tian et al., 2004). The effect of dietary fats on c-Fos-like immunoreactivity in mouse hypothalamus was demonstrated. Expression of the immediate early gene *c-fos* and its protein product Fos has been extensively used to map stimulus-evoked functional activity in the brain (Nikolaev et al., 2002). Therefore, Fos has been used as neuronal activation marker that can be identified by immunohistochemistry to be located in the nuclei of neurons (Bullitt, 1990). The c-Fos immunoreactivity neurons were markedly increased in the dorsal lateral hypothalamus area, while in the VMH was decreased by saturated fat feeding for 1 week. The c-Fos immunoreactivity neurons in the PVN were also increased in high saturated fat fed mice at week 7 and week 11 (Wang, Storlien, and Huang, 1999). Some plants extract (such as adlay seed and Korean red ginseng) with anti-obesity activity in periphery could exhibit their actions centrally. The study of Kim et al (2007) demonstrated that NPY expression in the PVN, levels of leptin receptor expression, and levels of TG and TC in HFD-induced obese rats treated with adlay seed extract were lower than in control HFD-induced obese rats. The hypothalamic NPY expression and serum leptin level, and weight of perirenal and peritoneal fat in HFD-induced obese rats treated crude saponin of Korean red ginseng (CS) were lower than in control HFD-induced obese rats (Kim et al., 2005). C. asiatica is a medicinal plant which consists of flavonoids (such as rutin, quercetin, and catechin) which has potential to prevent obesity (Hussin et al., 2009; Zainol et al., 2003). However, there is no evidence about the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin effects on the brain areas which involve energy homeostasis. Therefore, this study was focused on the effect of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin on Fos expression, a marker for neuronal activation, in the PVN, VMH, ARC, PeF, and LHA which are a neuronal nucleus in the hypothalamus, and the nucleus of the solitary tract of the brainstem. These areas involve in a regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis.

#### 6.3 Materials and methods

#### 6.3.1 Plant material

The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* obtained from stock extract in chapter III was used in the experiments conducted in this chapter.

#### 6.3.2 Animals

Male Wistar rats (247.88  $\pm$  2.76 g) were obtained from Institutional Animal Care, Suranaree University of Technology (SUT). They were maintained under standard laboratory conditions (12:12 h dark-light cycle, ambient temperature  $20 \pm 1$  °C) with free access to food and water. This study was conducted under permit of the SUT Animal Care and Use Committee.

#### 6.3.3 Chemicals

#### 0.9% Normal saline solution

0.9% Normal saline solution was prepared by adding 9 g of sodium chloride (NaCl; Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, USA) to 900 ml of deionized distilled (DI) water. This solution was adjusted volume to 1000 ml with DI water in a volumetric flask.

#### Heparinised saline solution

Heparinised saline (5 IU/ml) solution was prepared by adding 1 ml of a 5000 units/ml heparin solution (LEO Phamaceutical product, Ballerup, Denmark) to 999 ml of 0.9% normal saline solution.

#### <u>1 M Phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4)</u>

1 M Phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4) was prepared by adding 106.5 g of di-sodium hydrogen phosphate anhydrous (Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>; BDH Ltd., UK) and 39.68 g of sodium dihydrogen orthophosphate 1-hydrate (NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>.H<sub>2</sub>O; BDH) to 800 ml of double deionized distilled (DDD) water. This solution was stirred on a hot plate magnetic stirrer (VELP Scientifica, Europe) at 50-60 °C for 1 h, left to be cool down to room temperature and then adjusted to pH 7.4 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH. This solution was adjusted volume to 1000 ml with DDD water in a volumetric flask.

### 0.1 M Phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4)

0.1 M Phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4) was prepared by adding 100 ml of 1 M phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4) to 900 ml of DI water. This solution was adjusted to pH 7.4 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH.

#### 5 M Sodium chloride solution

5 M Sodium chloride solution was prepared by adding 292.2 g of sodium chloride (NaCl; Sigma) to 600 ml of DDD water. This solution was then adjusted volume to 1000 ml with DDD water in volumetric flask.

#### 0.1 M Phosphate buffer saline (PBS) solution (pH 7.4)

0.1 M Phosphate buffered saline solution was prepared by adding 30 ml of 5 M sodium chloride to 970 ml of 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4). This solution was then adjusted volume to 1000 ml with DDD water in volumetric flask. This solution was then adjusted to pH 7.4 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH.

#### 4% Paraformaldehyde (PFA) in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4)

4% Paraformaldehyde solution was prepared by adding 40 g of paraformaldehyde (Acros Organics, New Jersey, USA) to 900 ml of 0.1 M phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.4). This solution was stirred on a hot plate magnetic stirrer (VELP Scientifica, Europe) at 150-200 °C for 1-2 h, left to be cool down to room temperature and then adjusted to pH 7.4 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH. This solution was adjusted volume to 1000 ml with DI water in a volumetric flask.

## 30% Sucrose in 4% PFA in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4)

30% Sucrose in 4% PFA in 0.1 M phosphate buffer solution was prepared by adding 30 g of sucrose ( $C_{12}H_{22}O_{11}$ ; Ajax Finechem Pty Ltd., Australia) to 60 ml of 4% PFA in 0.1 M phosphate buffer. This solution was then adjusted volume to 100 ml with 4% PFA in 0.1 M phosphate buffer in volumetric flask (pH 7.4). This solution was adjusted to pH 7.4 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH.

#### 30% Sucrose in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4)

30% Sucrose in 0.1 M phosphate buffer solution was prepared by adding 30 g of sucrose to 60 ml of 0.1 M phosphate buffer. This solution was then adjusted volume to 100 ml with 0.1 M phosphate buffer in volumetric flask (pH 7.4). This solution was adjusted to pH 7.4 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH.

#### Anti-freeze cryoprotectant solution

Anti-freeze cryoprotectant solution was prepared by mixing 30 ml of 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4), 30 g of sucrose, and 30 ml of ethanediol ( $C_2H_6O_2$ ; Ajax Finechem) and then 1 g of polyvinylprrolidone ( $C_6H_9NO$ , PVP-40; Sigma) was added. This solution was adjusted volume to 100 ml with 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) water in volumetric flask. This solution was adjusted to pH 7.4 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH.

#### 0.1 M Washing solution (PBS-T) solution

0.1 M washing solution was prepared by adding 3 ml of 0.3% v/v Triton X-100 (Panreac Analytical Reagent and Fine Chemical, Spain) to 95 ml of 0.1 M phosphate buffer saline (pH 7.4). This solution was adjusted volume to 100 ml with 0.1 M phosphate buffer saline (pH 7.4) water in volumetric flask. This solution was then adjusted to pH 7.4 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH.

#### 3% Hydrogen peroxide solution

3% Hydrogen peroxide solution was prepared by 79 ml of 0.1 M phosphate buffer saline (pH 7.4) adding 1 ml of hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>; Merck Schuchardt OHG., Hohenbrunn, Germany) and 20 ml of methanol (CH<sub>4</sub>O; BDH). This solution was prepared immediately prior to use.

#### Preincubation buffer

Preincubation buffer was a prepared by adding 5 ml of normal goat serum (Millipore Corperation, USA) to 95 ml of washing solution (0.1 M PBS-T).

#### Primary antibody

Rabbit polyclonal anti-Fos (*c-fos* Ab-5, Calbiochem; USA) was diluted 1:5,000 in preincubation buffer.

#### Secondary antibody

Secondary antibody was a washing solution containing 1% v/v biotinylated anti-rabbit immunoglobulin and 3% v/v normal goat serum (Vectastain Elite ABC Kit rabbit IgG's, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, USA).

#### Avidin-biotinylated horseradish peroxidase complex (ABC)

ABC solution was a washing solution containing 2% v/v Avidin and 2% v/v biotinylated horseradish peroxidase (Vectastain Elite ABC Kit rabbit IgG's). This solution was left to incubate for at least 30 minutes prior to use.

#### 0.1 M Acetate buffer (stop solution)

0.1 M Acetate buffer was prepared by adding 0.82 g of sodium acetate (CH<sub>3</sub>COONa; BDH Ltd, UK) to 100 ml of DDD water. This solution was then adjusted to pH 6.0 with acetic acid.

Ni-DAB-H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> solution was prepared by mixing 98 ml of 0.1 M of PBS solution (pH 7.4), 0.05 g of ammonium nickel (II) sulfate (NiN<sub>2</sub>H<sub>8</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>8</sub>.6H<sub>2</sub>O; Sigma), 2 ml of diaminobenzidine (DAB) (3,3'-Diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride hydrate, C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>14</sub>N<sub>4</sub>.4HCl.H<sub>2</sub>O; Sigma), and 50  $\mu$ l of hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>; Merck). This solution was then filtered through No.1 Whatman filter paper (Whatman) prior to use.

#### Chrome alum gelatin

Chrome alum gelatin solution was prepared by adding 1.3 g of gelatine pellets (Ajax, Australia) and 0.1 g of chromium (II) potassium sulfate dodecahydrate (CrKO<sub>8</sub>S<sub>2</sub>.12H<sub>2</sub>O; Fluka) to 1000 ml of DI water.

#### 6.3.4 Methods

Forty rats were selected by stratified randomization and then divided into five groups of eight rats. Rats were fasted overnight and then orally given single dose of aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* dissolved in DDD water (1000 or 2000 mg/ml/kg) or single dose of rutin (1000 or 1500 mg/ml/kg) dissolved in DDD water at a dosing volume of 1 ml/kg, while the control group received DDD water (1 ml/kg). Two hours after each treatment, all rats were anesthetized with pentobarbital sodium (Nembutal, Ceva Sante Amimale, Libourne, France) at a dose of 60 mg/kg (i.p.).

The rats were perfused through the left ventricle of the heart with 200-250 ml of ice-cold heparinized saline at a flow rate of 40 ml/min using peristaltic pump (model SP 311, VELP Scientifica, Europe). Immediately after starting the

pump, the right atrium was cut to allow an escape route for the blood and perfusion fluid. After the atrium effluent was clear, the rats were perfused with 300-350 ml of ice-cold 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) at a flow rate of 40 ml/min to fix the brain. After that, the brain were removed and soaked in 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) overnight at 4 °C. Brains were then transferred into 30% sucrose in 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) overnight or until the brain sank at 4 °C. The brains were then soaked in 30% sucrose in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) at 4 °C for further 24 h. After that, the brains were covered with powdered dry ice until frozen and then stored at -20 °C until sectioned.

The brains regions of the hypothalamus (PVN, LHA, VMH, PeF, and ARC and the nucleus of the solitary tract in the brainstem; Figure 6.1) were identified according to the rat brain stereotaxic atlas of Paxinos and Watson (2009). Frozen brains were coronally sectioned (30  $\mu$ m thickness) through the levels of the PVN (-1.08 to -1.92 mm from bregma), LHA (-2.16 to -3.84 mm from bregma), PeF (-2.64 to -3.60 mm from bregma), ARC (-1.80 to -4.36 mm from bregma), and VMH (-1.72 to -3.36 mm from bregma) using a cryostat (Microm HM 525, Microm International GmbH., Germany). Free floating sections were then stored in an anti-freeze cryoprotectant solution at -20 °C until further use. Frozen brainstem were coronally sectioned (40  $\mu$ m thickness) through the level of the NTS (-11.96 to -15.96 mm from bregma).

**Table 6.1** Abbreviations of the hypothalamic brain regions involving energy balance.

Nomenclature and abbreviations are from stereotaxic atlas of the rat brain

(Paxinos and Watson, 2009).

Abbreviation	Full name
ArcD	Arcuate hypothalamic nucleus, dorsal part
ArcL	Arcuate hypothalamic nucleus, lateral part
ArcLP	Arcuate hypothalamic nucleus, lateroposterior part
ArcM	Arcuate hypothalamic nucleus, medial part
ArcMP	Arcuate hypothalamic nucleus, medialposterior part
F	Fornix
MCLH	Magnocellular nucleus of the lateral hypothalamus
MRe 3V	Mammillary recess of the 3 <sup>rd</sup> ventricle
PaAP	Paraventricular hypothalamic nucleus, anterior parvicellular part
PaDC	Paraventricular hypothalamic nucleus, dorsal cap
PaLM	Paraventricular hypothalamic nucleus, lateral magnocellular part
PaMM	Paraventricular hypothalamic nucleus, medial magnocellular part
PaMP	Paraventricular hypothalamic nucleus, medial parvicellular part
PaV	Paraventricular hypothalamic nucleus, ventral part
PeFLH	Perifornical part of the lateral hypothalamus
PeF	Perifornical nucleus
PLH	Peduncular part of the lateral hypothalamus
TuLH	Tuberal part of the lateral hypothalamus
VMHVL	Ventromedial hypothalamus, ventral part
3V	3 <sup>rd</sup> ventricle



Figure 6.1 Schematic diagrams of coronal sections illustrating the brains regions of the hypothalamus. The PVN (-1.08 to -1.92 mm from bregma) from A1-A8, the ARC (-1.80 to -4.36 mm from bregma) from A7-A24, the LHA (-2.16 to -3.84 mm from bregma) from A9-A20, the PeF (-2.16 to -3.84 mm from bregma) from A9-A20, and the VMH (-1.72 to -3.36 mm from bregma) from A9-A16. Coronal illustrations are redrawn, with the given coordinates, from the stereotaxic atlas of the rat brain (Paxinos and Watson, 2009). For abbreviations, see Table 6.1.



Figure 6.1 Schematic diagrams of coronal sections illustrating the brains regions of the hypothalamus (Continued). The PVN (-1.08 to -1.92 mm from bregma) from A1-A8, the ARC (-1.80 to -4.36 mm from bregma) from A7-A24, the LHA (-2.16 to -3.84 mm from bregma) from A9-A20, the PeF (-2.16 to -3.84 mm from bregma) from A9-A20, and the VMH (-1.72 to -3.36 mm from bregma) from A9-A16. Coronal illustrations are redrawn, with the given coordinates, from the stereotaxic atlas of the rat brain (Paxinos and Watson, 2009). For abbreviations, see Table 6.1.



Figure 6.1 Schematic diagrams of coronal sections illustrating the brains regions of the hypothalamus (Continued). The PVN (-1.08 to -1.92 mm from bregma) from A1-A8, the ARC (-1.80 to -4.36 mm from bregma) from A7-A24, the LHA (-2.16 to -3.84 mm from bregma) from A9-A20, the PeF (-2.16 to -3.84 mm from bregma) from A9-A20, and the VMH (-1.72 to -3.36 mm from bregma) from A9-A16. Coronal illustrations are redrawn, with the given coordinates, from the stereotaxic atlas of the rat brain (Paxinos and Watson, 2009). For abbreviations, see Table 6.1.



Figure 6.1 Schematic diagrams of coronal sections illustrating the brains regions of the hypothalamus (Continued). The PVN (-1.08 to -1.92 mm from bregma) from A1-A8, the ARC (-1.80 to -4.36 mm from bregma) from A7-A24, the LHA (-2.16 to -3.84 mm from bregma) from A9-A20, the PeF (-2.16 to -3.84 mm from bregma) from A9-A20, and the VMH (-1.72 to -3.36 mm from bregma) from A9-A16. Coronal illustrations are redrawn, with the given coordinates, from the stereotaxic atlas of the rat brain (Paxinos and Watson, 2009). For abbreviations, see Table 6.1.

#### 6.3.4.1 Fos immunohistochemistry

Free-floating sections were immunostained for Fos according to the avidin-biotin complex (ABC) methods. Briefly, these sections were washed three times (×10 min) with 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4), fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) for 1 h, washed three times  $(\times 10 \text{ min})$  with 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) and then washed six times ( $\times 15 \text{ min}$ ) with washing solution. Endogenous peroxidase was then deactivated with 3% hydrogen peroxide solution for 15 min, washed three times (×10 min) with washing solution and then blocked background staining with preincubation buffer for 30 min. After that, the sections were incubated with c-Fos Ab-5 primary antibody (1: 5,000 diluted in preincubation buffer) for 48 h in 500 µl labelled plastic bottles (Sterilin<sup>®</sup>, Sterilin Ltd., Aberbargoed, UK) at 4 °C. Sections were then washed eight times (×5 min) with washing solution, incubated in secondary antibody solution for 1 h at room temperature and then washed three times (×10 min) with washing solution. After that, the sections were incubated in ABC complex solution for 1 h at room temperature and then washed two times (×10 min) with washing solution. The sections were rinsed with 0.1 M acetate buffer for 5 min and then incubated with Ni-DAB-H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> solution for approximately 10 min. The reaction was stopped by stop solution for 5 min. The sections were then washed in phosphate buffer saline solution (pH 7.4) for 5 min, rinsed three times (×5 min) with 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) and mounted onto the chrome alum gelatin subbed slides. Slices were then dried at 45 °C on the slide warmer (Medex Nagel GmbH., Germany). After that, the sections were dehydrated with serial dilution alcohol (70%, 90%, 95%, 100%, and 100%, 5 min each) followed by xylene (2×5 min). Slides were finally coverslipped using DPX mountant (BDH).

This method was performed with gentle agitation on an orbital shaker VRN-360 (Gemmy Industrial Corp., Taiwan).

#### 6.3.4.2 Quantitative analysis

Quantitative assessment of Fos-positive neuron was achieved by counting the number of Fos-positive cells in the PVN, LHA, PeF, VMH, ARC, and NTS areas. These areas were counted the number of Fos-positive neurons in 6 sections/rat. Cells with distinct blue-black nuclear Fos staining in the PVN, LHA, PFA, VMH, and ARC areas were manually counted under light microscopy (×10 objective, Nikon ECLIPSE 80i, Nikon Corporation Ltd., Japan) and images were captured and stored by DP72 software (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan). Number of cells for each sampled area was transformed to cells per square millimeter.

#### **6.4 Statistical analysis**

Results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. and analyzed by one-way ANOVA (SigmaStat version 3.5). Differences between groups were analyzed using one way ANOVA following by the Tukey test. *P*-values less than 0.05 (*P*<0.05) were considered statistically significant.

#### 6.5 Results

The present study demonstrated for the first time that the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin could activate neuron in the brain areas regulating food intake. The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin could induce Fos expression in the ARC and PVN of the hypothalamus (Figures 6.2 and 6.4) but no

Fos-positive neurons in the VMH, LHA, and PeF of the hypothalamus and the nucleus of solitary tract in the brainstem. Prominent Fos expression were found in the ARC of the rat treated with the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 and 2000 mg/ml/kg, p.o.) and rutin (1500 mg/ml/kg, p.o.) and in the PVN of the rat treated with the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 mg/ml/kg, p.o.). In comparison to the control (79.31 $\pm$  33.09 neuron/area), aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 mg/ml/kg, p.o.) and 2000 mg/ml/kg) induced significant increases in the number of Fos-positive neurons in the ARC (182.31  $\pm$  38.87 and 225.15  $\pm$  43.25 neurons/area, *P*<0.05) (Figure 6.3).

There was no significant difference in the number of Fos-positive neurons in the ARC of the rats treated with 1000 and 2000 mg/ml/kg of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica*. The number of Fos-positive neurons in the ARC of the rat treated with 1500 mg/ml/kg rutin was significant higher than the control group (195.6  $\pm$  26.85 neurons/area, *P*<0.05, Figure 6.3). Significant difference in the number of Fos-positive neurons in the ARC were found between 1000 mg/ml/kg rutin treated group and 1500 mg/ml/kg rutin treated group (98.31  $\pm$  12.52 and 195.6  $\pm$  26.85 neurons/area, *P*<0.05, Figure 6.3).

In the PVN, the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* at the concentration of 1000 mg/ml/kg induced significantly higher in the number of Fos-positive neurons when compared with the control ( $157.25 \pm 48.42$  and  $16.09 \pm 11.34$  neurons/area, *P*<0.05, Figure 6.5). There was no significant difference in the number of Fos-positive neurons in the PVN of the rats treated with the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (2000 mg/ml/kg) and rutin (1000 and 1500 mg/ml/kg) when compared with the control (Figure 6.5).



**Figure 6.2** Effects of oral administration of aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin on Fos expression in the ARC. Photomicrographs illustrate Fos expression in the ARC after oral administration of either 1 ml/kg of DDD water (A), 1000 mg/ml/kg of aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (B), 2000 mg/ml/kg of aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (C), 1000 mg/ml/kg of rutin (D), and 1500 mg/ml/kg of rutin (E). Prominent Fos expression was observed in the ARC of the rat treated with the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 and 2000 mg/ml/kg) and rutin (1500 mg/ml/kg). The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of 8 rats. Abbreviations: 3V, third ventricle. Arrow indicates Fos-positive neuron. Scale bar = 100 µm.



Figure 6.3 Effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin on the number of Fos-positive neurons per area of the ARC ranging from -1.80 to -4.36 mm from bregma. Values are expressed as mean ± S.E.M. of average number of cells/area in the ARC. a, *P*<0.05 compared to the control group (1 ml/kg DDD water).</p>



Figure 6.4 Effects of oral administration of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C*. *asiatica* and rutin on Fos expression in the PVN. Photomicrographs illustrate Fos expression in the PVN after oral administration of either 1 ml/kg of DDD water (A), 1000 mg/ml/kg of aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (B), 2000 mg/ml/kg of aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (C), 1000 mg/ml/kg of rutin (D), and 1500 mg/ml/kg of rutin (E). Prominent Fos expression was observed in the PVN of the rat treated with the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* (1000 mg/ml/kg). The results were expressed as mean ± S.E.M. of 8 rats. Abbreviations: 3V, third ventricle. Arrow indicates Fos-positive neurons. Scale bar = 100 μm.



Figure 6.5 Effects of aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin on the number of Fos-positive neurons per area of the PVN ranging from -1.08 to -1.92 mm from bregma. Values are expressed as mean ± S.E.M. of average number of cells/area in the PVN. a, *P*<0.05 compared to the control group (1 ml/kg DDD water).</p>

#### 6.6 Discussion and conclusion

Obesity reflects an imbalance between energy uptake and expenditure (Knecht, Ellger, and Levine, 2008). Food intake and energy expenditure is regulated by hypothalamic area (ARC, PVN, LHA, VMH, and PeF) and the NTS in the caudal medulla brainstem (Berthoud, 2002; Harrold et al., 2012; Schwartz et al., 2000). Several studies have demonstrated that medicinal plant extracts have a neuronal activity effects in the hypothalamus that involve the regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis (Kim et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2007; Xiong et al., 2010). Fos expression has been used as an index of neuronal activities in rats (Chen, Dong, and Li, 2003; Kim et al., 2005). The present findings revealed the first evidence of aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica (1000 and 2000 mg/ml/kg; p.o.) and rutin (1500 mg/ml/kg; p.o.) significantly increased Fos-positive neurons in the ARC when compared with the control group. In the PVN, Fos-positive neurons induced by the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica (1000 mg/ml/kg) was significantly higher than the control group, 2000 mg/ml/kg of aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica, and rutin (1000 and 1500 mg/ml/kg) treated groups. The increases in the number of Fos-positive neurons by the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica were not dose dependent.

Two primary neuronal populations within the ARC integrate signals of nutritional status and influence energy homeostasis (Schwartz *et al.*, 2000; Simpson *et al.*, 2009; Woods and Seeley, 2002). A subpopulation of neurons in the medial ARC express the orexigenic neuropeptides (NPY and AgRP) which produce in the NPY and AgRP neuron and the lateral ARC express the anorexigenic neuropeptides ( $\alpha$ -MSH and CART) that produce in the POMC and CART neurons (Morton *et al.*, 2007).

2006; Remmers et al., 2011; Stanley et al., 2005). Surprisingly, the ARC neurons activated by the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin were predominently in lateroposterior parts of the ARC. Hence, aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica may reduce food intake and body weight by activating neurons in the lateroposterior ARC neurons. Fos expression in the ARC may be induced by the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin through median eminence (ME) since the ARC is able to respond to active compound from aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin via the ME, which lack a blood-brain barrier (Norsted, Gömüç, and Meister, 2008). Active of neurons in the PVN by the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin was shown in this study. The aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica may activate anorexigenic neurons (TRH and CRH neurons) in the parvocellular PVN and oxytocin neurons in the magnocellular neurons or orexigenic neurons (NPY neurons in the parvocellular PVN) (Schwartz et al., 2000). The present study demonstrated that the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin did not induce Fos expression in the PeF, VMH, and LHA areas of the hypothalamus. The aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica may inhibit NPY, orexigenic peptide, release or transport in the LHA, PeF, and VMH. The evidence that no Fos expression in the NTS following the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C.asiatica* and rutin treatment suggested that the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C.asiatica* and rutin may possess central, but not peripheral, control of food intake. The results of the present study suggested that the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica may involve in the regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis by activate neurons in the PVN and ARC of the hypothalamus. Rutin may be an active compound responsible for anti-obesity effects of C. asiatica. The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin may exert anti-obesity effect by inhibiting NPY/AGRP neurons in the medial ARC and activate POMC/CART neurons in the lateral ARC, and activating magnocellular (oxytocin) and parvocellular (CRH, TRH or NPY) neurons in the PVN or inhibiting parvocellular neurons (NPY) in the PVN. However, further studies are required to clarify which neuronal types of the PVN and ARC of the hypothalamus that are activated by the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin.

#### **6.7 References**

- Baskin, D. G., Figlewicz-Lattemann, D., Seeley, R. J., Woods, S. C., Porte, D., Jr., and Schwartz, M. W. (1999). Insulin and leptin: dual adiposity signals to the brain for the regulation of food intake and body weight. Brain Res. 848(1-2): 114-123.
- Berthoud, H. R. (2002). Multiple neural systems controlling food intake and body weight. [Review]. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 26(4): 393-428.
- Bullitt, E. (1990). Expression of *c-fos*-like protein as a marker for neuronal activity following noxious stimulation in the rat. **J Comp Neurol**. 296(4): 517-530.
- Chen, T., Dong, Y. X., and Li, Y. Q. (2003). Fos expression in serotonergic neurons in the rat brainstem following noxious stimuli: an immunohistochemical double-labelling study. J Anat. 203(6): 579-588.
- Harrold, J. A., Dovey, T. M., Blundell, J. E., and Halford, J. C. G. (2012). CNS regulation of appetite. **Neuropharmacol**. 63(1): 3-17.
- Hussin, M., Hamid, A. A., Mohamad, S., Saari, N., Bakar, F., and Dek, S. P. (2009).
  Modulation of lipid metabolism by *Centella asiatica* in oxidative stress rats. J
  Food Sci. 74(2): 72-78.

- Kim, J. H., Hahm, D. H., Yang, D. C., Lee, H. J., and Shim, I. (2005). Effect of crude saponin of Korean red ginseng on high fat diet-induced obesity in the rat. J Pharmacol Sci. 97(1): 124-131.
- Kim, S. O., Yun, S. J., and Lee, E. H. (2007). The water extract of adlay seed (*Coix lachrymajobi var. mayuen*) exhibits anti-obesity effects through neuroendocrine modulation. Am J Chin Med. 35(2): 297-308.
- Lawrence, C. B., Turnbull, A. V., and Rothwell, N. J. (1999). Hypothalamic control of feeding. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 9(6): 778-783.
- Morton, G. J., Cummings, D. E., Baskin, D. G., Barsh, G. S., and Schwartz, M. W. (2006). Central nervous system control of food intake and body weight.Nature. 443(7109): 289-295.
- Nikolaev, E., Kaczmarek, L., Zhu, S. W., Winblad, B., and Mohammed, A. H. (2002). Environmental manipulation differentially alters c-Fos expression in amygdaloid nuclei following aversive conditioning. Brain Res. 957(1): 91-98.
- Norsted, E., Gömüç, B., and Meister, B. (2008). Protein components of the bloodbrain barrier (BBB) in the mediobasal hypothalamus. J Chem Neuroanat. 36(2): 107-121.
- Paxinos, G., and Watson, C. (2009). The rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates. California. Elsevier.
- Remmers, F., and Delemarre-van de Waal, H. A. (2011). Developmental programming of energy balance and its hypothalamic regulation. [Review].
  Endocr Rev. 32(2): 272-311.

- Schwartz, M. W., Woods, S. C., Porte, D., Jr., Seeley, R. J., and Baskin, D. G. (2000). Central nervous system control of food intake. [Review]. Nature. 404(6778): 661-671.
- Schwartz, G. J., and Moran, T. H. (2002). Leptin and neuropeptide y have opposing modulatory effects on nucleus of the solitary tract neurophysiological responses to gastric loads: implications for the control of food intake. Endocrinology. 143(10): 3779-3784.
- Simpson, K. A., Martin, N. M., and Bloom, S. R. (2009). Hypothalamic regulation of food intake and clinical therapeutic applications. [Review]. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol. 53(2): 120-128.
- Stanley, S., Wynne, K., McGowan, B., and Bloom, S. (2005). Hormonal regulation of food intake. [Review]. Physiol Rev. 85(4): 1131-1158.
- Tian, D. R., Li, X. D., Shi, Y. S., Wan, Y., Wang, X. M., Chang, J. K., Yang, J., and Han, J. S. (2004). Changes of hypothalamic α-MSH and CART peptide expression in diet-induced obese rats. **Peptides**. 25(12): 2147-2153.
- Valassi, E., Scacchi, M., and Cavagnini, F. (2008). Neuroendocrine control of food intake. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 18(2): 158-168.
- Wang, H., Storlien, L. H., and Huang, X. F. (1999). Influence of dietary fats on c-Foslike immunoreactivity in mouse hypothalamus. Brain Res. 843(1-2): 184-192.
- Wilding, J. P. (2002). Neuropeptides and appetite control. [Review]. **Diabet Med**. 19(8): 619-627.
- Woods, S. C., and Seeley, R. J. (2002). Understanding the physiology of obesity [Review]. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 26 Suppl 4: 8-10.

- Xiong, Y., Shen, L., Liu, K. J., Tso, P., Xiong, Y., Wang, G., Woods, S. C., and Liu,
  M. (2010). Antiobesity and antihyperglycemic effects of ginsenoside Rb1 in rats. Diabetes. 59(10): 2505-2512.
- Zainol, M. K., Abd-Hamid, A., Yusof, S., and Muse, R. (2003). Antioxidative activity and total phenolic compounds of leaf, root and petiole of four accessions of *Centella asiatica* (L.) Urban. Food Chem. 81(4): 575-581.


# CHAPTER VII

## CONCLUSION

C. asiatica is a medicinal plant which is a good source of phenolic compounds including flavonoids which possess potent antioxidant activity and anti-obesity effects. In the present study, the percent yield of 80% ethanolic extract of C. asiatica was 11.81%. Total phenolic content and rutin were  $97.75 \pm 0.01$  mg gallic acid/g dry extract and 1267.69  $\pm$  5.5 mg/kg dry weight, respectively. The present study provided the first evidence of the potent anti-obesity effect of the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin both in vitro and in vivo. The aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin could suppress porcine pancreatic lipase, pancreatic alphaamylase, and alpha-glucosidase enzyme activities in vitro. Inhibition of pancreatic lipase activity by the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin could suppress lipid digestion and absorption, resulting in a reduction of plasma triglyceride and total cholesterol levels in lipid emulsion-induced hyperlipidemic rats. Inhibition of alphaamylase and alpha-glucosidase activities by the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin could suppress carbohydrate digestion and absorption, resulting in a reduction of plasma glucose levels. Inhibition of these digestive enzymes is beneficial for the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin in prevention and treatment of obesity. Both the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. asiatica and rutin did not cause liver damage since the increase levels of aspartate aminotransferase and alanine aminotransferase were not shown. The mechanisms of anti-obesity actions of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin are shown in Figure 7.1.



Figure 7.1 Mechanisms of hypolipidemic and hypoglycemic actions of the aqueous ethanolic extract from *C. asiatica* and rutin *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Additionally, central effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin were demonstrated (Figure 7.2). The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin had a modulatory effect on the expression of a neuronal activation marker Fos in the arcuate nucleus (ARC) and the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* induced Fos expression in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN). The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin did not induce Fos expression in other areas of hypothalamus and the nucleus of the solitary tract. The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin

markedly increased Fos-positive neurons in the lateralposterior region of the ARC which involved the reduction of feeding. The aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin markedly increased Fos-positive neurons in both parvocellular and magnocellular regions of the PVN. Thus, the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin may involve in the regulation of feeding. However, further study is required to clarify which anorexigenic neuropeptides neurons (TRH, CRH, and oxytocin) and orexigenic neuropeptide neurons (NPY) in the PVN are activated by the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin.





Figure 7.2 Central effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica* and rutin in male Wistar rats. ARC: arcuate nucleus; PVN: paraventricular nucleus;
LH: lateral hypothalamic area; PFA: perifornical area; NPY: neuropeptide Y; AGRP: Agouti-related peptide; POMC: pro-opiomelanocortin; CART: cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript); CRH: Corticotropin-releasing hormone; TRH: Thyrotropin-releasing hormone.

In conclusion, this study demonstrated potent anti-obesity of the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. *asiatica* and rutin *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Central effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. *asiatica* and rutin on the arcuate nucleus and the paraventricular nucleus in the hypothalamus suggested the role of the aqueous ethanolic extract of C. *asiatica* and rutin in regulation of body weight. Phenolic

compounds, notably rutin, may be bioactive compounds responsible for the antiobesity activity of the aqueous ethanolic extract from *C. asiatica*. Further studies are needed to clarify the underlying mechanisms involving anti-obesity effects of the aqueous ethanolic extract of *C. asiatica*.



## **CURRICULUM VITAE**

FIRST NAME: NATTAPON

GENDER: Male

DATE OF BIRTH: Dec 2, 1981

LAST NAME: SUPKAMONSENI NATIONALITY: Thai

PLACE OF BIRTH: Nakhon Ratchasima

### **EDUCATION BACKGROUND:**

2007 - present	Ph.D. Candidate	(Environmental	Biology),	Suranaree
	University of Technology, Thailand.			
1999 - 2002	B.Sc. (2 <sup>nd</sup> Class Honors, Animal Production Technology),			
	Suranaree University of Technology, Thailand.			

### WORK EXPERIENCE:

2007 - Present Teaching Assistance in School of Biology, Suranaree University of Technology, Nakhon Ratchasima, Thailand